
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
 
81st Board Meeting  
Wednesday, April 9, 2008 12:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Executive Session for consideration of  
 internal personnel matters. 
 Executive Sessions are not open to the public. 
 
 
12:30 p.m. Call to Order (John Reynolds) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• February 13 meeting minutes   Action 


 


12:40 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
 
12:45 p.m. Audit Committee (Julie Hammond) 2  


• Review results of financial audit  Information 
  (Grant Jones and Travis Irving, Perkins and Co.) 
• Accept audited financial report for period  
   ending 12/31/07 (R469)  Action 


 
1:05 p.m. NW Natural expansion to Vancouver, Clark Co. 3 


• Gregg Kantor, President & COO, NW Natural  Information 
• Authorize contracts with NW Natural to evaluate 
   Energy Trust Management of efficiency programs 
   in Washington (R474)  Action 


 


1:40 p.m. Break  
 
2:00 p.m. Amending 2008 Budget (John Klosterman) 4  


• Amending 2008 budget (R471)  Action 
 
2:40 p.m. President’s Report (John Reynolds) 5 


• Change in Executive Director Compensation (R472)  Action 
 
3:00 p.m. Committee Reports  


 
 ►Board Nominating Committee (Rick Applegate) 6 


• Amending bylaws and appointing  Dan Enloe and  
   Roger Hamilton to the Energy Trust Board (R473)  Action 
• Suggestion to create an advisory committee  Information 


 
  







Agenda  April 9, 2008 


   2


  
 ►Finance Committee (John Klosterman) 7 Information 
 
 ►Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 8 Information 
 
 ►Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 9 Information 


• Amending the policy on balanced competition (R470)  Action 
 
3:45 p.m. NEEA Strategic Plan  10 Information 
 (Susan Hermenet, Acting Executive Director) 
 
4:15 p.m. Staff Report (Margie Harris) 11 Information 


• Highlights 
• Feature presentation: Energy Trust  Better Living Show 


 
5:00 p.m. Adjourn 
 
  


Please note: the next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Wednesday, May 14, 2008, 12:00 noon 


at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor,  
Portland, Oregon 







Agenda  April 9, 2008 


   3


INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             


Tab 1 Call to order 
• Agenda 
• February 13 meeting minutes   


 


Tab 2 Audit Committee 
• Accept audited financial report for period ending 12/31/07 (R469) 
• Audited financial report for period ending 12/31/07 


 


Tab 3 NW Natural expansion to Vancouver, Clark County 
• Authorize contracts with NW Natural to evaluate Energy Trust Management of efficiency 


programs in Washington (R474) 
 


Tab 4 Amending 2008 Budget 
• 2008 Budget revised – in separate binder 
• Amending 2008 budget (R471) 


 


Tab 5 Presidents Report 
• Change in Executive Director Compensation (R472) 
• Letter to Tom Foley from PGE 


 


Tab 6 Board Nominating Committee 
• Amending bylaws and appointing  Dan Enloe and Roger Hamilton to the Energy Trust 


Board (R473)   
 


Tab 7 Finance Committee 
• Notes from March 17 meeting 
• January finance report and monthly financials 
• February finance report and monthly financials 
• Financial glossary  


 


Tab 8  Program Evaluation Committee 
• Notes from February 22 


 


Tab 9 Policy Committee  
• Notes from March 18 meeting 
• Amending the policy on balanced competition (R470) 
 


Tab 10 Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA)   
• Strategic Planning Outreach - overview 


 


Tab 11 Staff report 
• Highlights 
• Letter from Mike Grainey appointing Betty Merrill as ODOE Special Board Advisor 
• Letter from Jeff Cogan regarding solar 


 


Tab 12 Advisory council notes 
• CAC notes February 20 
• CAC notes March 19 
• RAC notes January 23 


 








  
 
 


 
Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 80th Meeting 
February 13, 2008 
 
Board members present: Rick Applegate, Tom Foley, Al Jubitz, Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman, 
Vickie Liskey, Caddy McKeown, Alan Meyer, Preston Michie, John Reynolds and Jason Eisdorfer who 
attended the recognition event prior to the meeting.  
 
Board members absent: Julie Hammond and John Savage 
 
Staff attending:  Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Linda Rudawitz, Debbie 
Goldberg Menashe, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaeffer, Peter West 
 
Others attending:  Jeremy Anderson, WISE; Steve Bicker, NW Natural; Joe Esmonde, IBEW #48; 
Betty Griffiths, Corvallis Sustainability Coalition, Bill Nesmith, Lori Koho, OPUC, Steven Johnson, 
Central Oregon Irrigation District  
 
Prior to calling the meeting to order, the board and staff recognized outgoing board members Tom 
Foley and Bill Nesmith and thanked them for their contributions to Energy Trust’s success. A number of 
energy leaders came for this portion of the meeting and took the opportunity to pay tribute to Tom 
Foley for eight years of service, the past three as president of the board. These included Tom Eckman 
and Charlie Grist, Northwest Power and Conservation Council; Margie Gardner and Angus Duncan, 
Bonneville Environmental Foundation; and Jeff Bissonnette, Fair & Clean Energy Coalition. Margie read 
personal notes from Rachel Shimshak, Renewables Northwest Project and Ralph Cavanaugh, Natural 
Resources Defense Council. A cake honoring Tom was presented and served to those in attendance.  
 
Jason Eisdorfer left before the meeting was called to order. 
 
Business Meeting 
President Tom Foley called the meeting to order at 12:55 pm.  
 
December 12, 2007, meeting minutes. Tom Foley drew attention to an error on page 8. Minutes will 
be changed to state that “both of Oregon’s U. S. senators, as well as Congressmen Blumenauer and 
DeFazio, spoke” [at the Oregon Business Leadership conference].  
 
MOTION: Approve minutes as amended from the December 12, 2007, meeting.  
 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Al Jubitz 


Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 13, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


2 


 
General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  
 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
The consent agenda may be approved by a single motion, second and vote of the board. Any item on the consent 
agenda will be moved to the regular agenda upon the request from any member of the board. 
 
Amending contract execution policy (resolution #465). 


RESOLUTION #465 


APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE ENERGY TRUST 
CONTRACT EXECUTION POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust Board of Directors has delegated to the executive director 
authority to execute all contracts on behalf of the organization consistent with 
the bylaws, PUC grant agreement, governing law and board policy.  


2. The board last amended the contract execution policy in October, 2007. The 
board now wishes to clarify that section 6 of the policy authorizes the executive 
director or her designee to sign staff or in-house contractor employment 
agreements, not agreements for other types of professional services.  


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, 
Inc. amends the Energy Trust contract execution policy as follows:  
 
 
5.05.009-P Contract Execution and Oversight Policy  


 
History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review Date 
Board Decision September 8, 2004  September 2007 
Board Decision February 13, 2008 Amended (R465) February 2011 


 
Purpose:  The Energy Trust Board of Directors has delegated to the Executive Director authority to execute all 
contracts on behalf of the organization consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement and governing law. This 
policy regulates the implementation of this authority. 
 
Policy: 
1. All contracts shall be consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement and governing law. 
 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


3 


2. The Energy Trust legal department shall review as to form all contracts before submitting them 
to the Executive Director. 


 
3. Contracts over the amount of $500,000:   


• No contract will be executed unless the Board of Directors has first reviewed and approved 
its basic terms.  


• When it approves basic contract terms, the Board may instruct the Executive Director to 
bring a final contract back to the Board for review and approval before the contract is 
executed. 


• The Executive Director shall not execute contract amendments that make major changes in 
contract terms (e.g., more than 10% change in funds obligated, more than 20% change in 
energy saved or produced, time by which savings will be achieved) unless the Board of 
Directors has first reviewed and approved the basic terms of the change. 


 
4. Contracts under $500,000:  The Executive Director or, if the Executive Director is 
 unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the Executive 
 Director, is authorized to execute contracts involving less than $500,000 without Board 
 review or approval of basic terms. 


 
5. For programs managed directly by Energy Trust staff, incentive agreements that involve less than 


$500,000, and are processed in accordance with standardized program forms and procedures 
that have been reviewed by the legal department may be approved by the relevant department 
director or management-level staff designated by the department director.  
 


6. Staff and in-house contractor employment agreements:  The Executive Director or, if the 
Executive Director is unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the 
Executive Director, may execute staff and in-house contractor employment agreements without 
Board review or approval of basic terms. 


 
7. Contracts not involving a dollar expenditure may be signed by the relevant director or his/her 


designated manager(s). 
 
8. The Executive Director shall maintain contract records required for an independent audit. 
 
 


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Vickie Liskey  


Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 13, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
President’s Report 
 
Tom Foley said he recently served as a judge for a Legoland contest in which youth presented results of 
commercial building energy efficiency assessments. There were 56 entries; only one mentioned Energy 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


4 


Trust. He suggested Energy Trust become more involved in efforts with youth who go home and talk to 
parents. Al Jubitz agreed, referring to Oregon Trout’s strategy of reaching out to students in schools.  
 
Vickie Liskey said she had a similar experience talking with an architecture student who had not heard of 
Energy Trust. Caddy McKeown said she has had experience on school boards and agrees that there are 
opportunities to collaborate with schools and organizations.  
 
Tom suggested a meeting between Margie and the state organization named BEST to explore ways to 
connect Energy Trust to the public education system. 
 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Board Nominating Committee. Rick Applegate reported John Klosterman, Preston Michie and Al 
Jubitz agreed to be appointed to new three-year board terms. He said the committee is seeking an 
individual to fill Tom’s vacated seat. The proposed slate referenced John Reynolds' willingness to serve 
as board president, Rick Applegate's agreement to serve as vice president, a proposal that Debbie 
Kitchin continue to serve as secretary, and John Klosterman continue as treasurer.  
 
Electing board members to new terms of office (resolution #462). 
 


RESOLUTION #462 
 ELECTING JOHN KLOSTERMAN, PRESTON MICHIE AND AL JUBITZ 
TO NEW TERMS ON THE ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 


 


WHEREAS:  
 


1. The terms of incumbent board members John Klosterman, Preston Michie, Al 
Jubitz and Tom Foley expire in 2008. 


 


2. Tom Foley has announced his intention to retire from the board. The board 
nominating committee has recommended that the other three members’ terms 
be renewed. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors:   
 


1. Elects John Klosterman, Preston Michie and Al Jubitz, incumbent board 
members, to new terms of office that begin in 2008 and end in 2011; 


 


2. Requests the nominating committee to explore candidates to fill the vacancy 
left by Tom Foley, who is retiring. 


 


Moved by: Alan Meyer  Seconded by: John Reynolds 
 


Vote:    In favor: 10   Abstained: 0 
 


  Opposed: 0 
 
Adopted on February 13, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


5 


Electing officers (resolution #463). 
 


RESOLUTION #463 
ELECTING OFFICERS OF  


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
 


WHEREAS: 


1. Officers of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (other than the Executive Director 
and a Chief Financial Officer) are elected by the Board of Directors at the 
board’s annual meeting.  


 


2. The Board of Directors nominating committee has nominated the following 
directors to serve as officers for 2008: 


 
• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 


1. That the Board of Directors hereby elects the following as officers of Energy 
Trust of Oregon, Inc., for 2008: 


 
• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


 
 


Moved by: Caddy McKeown  Seconded by: Preston Michie 
 
Vote:  10 in favor  0 abstained 
 
Opposed: 0 
  


Adopted on February 13, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Margie said she has requested a formal letter of resignation from Bill Nesmith. Mike Grainey will suggest 
Betty Merrill, Bill’s replacement at ODOE, to replace Bill as ODOE board Special Advisor.  
 
Tom turned the meeting over to John Reynolds, newly elected board president.  
 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Audit Committee. Julie Hammond being absent, there was no report from the Audit Committee.  







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


6 


 
Finance Committee. John Klosterman introduced the December financial report. He noted the 
“hockey stick” effect occurred again as expected. He has observed a pattern of variances and remains 
interested in seeing whether activity can be distributed more throughout the year.  
 
Rick Applegate left the meeting at 1:10 pm, during the Finance Committee report. 
 
Program Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin noted her committee often reviews evaluations in 
their draft stage. The ones in the packet are final.  
 
Tom said he had a discussion yesterday with Fred and then with Debbie on the evaluation process. 
Given that some of the reports included in the packet refer to efforts 3-4 years ago, he wondered how 
valuable they are as a feedback tool to program managers. He recognized their value in validating 
savings. Fred said they are working on tightening the process, reducing it to a year.  
 
Phil Degens noted some evaluation activities with shorter timelines, citing the annual trade ally survey. 
Though it does not go deeply into any one program, the survey is generally helpful. He is working with 
the Existing Building program to design a voluntary on-line survey that participants could take upon 
completion of a project. This could provide feedback on satisfaction with Energy Trust and insight into 
the participant’s decisionmaking process. He noted some evaluations start too quickly, before program 
managers have completed participant files. Phil added reference to significant improvements made in 
FastTrack related to data collection necessary for evaluations. 
 
Debbie added that process evaluations go more quickly than impact evaluations. She observed that draft 
evaluations are made available to program staff and provide helpful guidance.  
 
Margie suggested the Evaluation Committee explore ways to make the process as useful as possible to 
managers and report back to the board about these.  
 
Phil said we are starting work on the first annual participant attitude and awareness survey of residential 
customers.  
 
John Reynolds noted the evaluations present widely varying realization rates and asked if any light could 
be shed on this. Debbie noted the packets contain the summaries only. Phil said one source of 
discrepancy in savings realization in the PE program is that baseline assumptions were sometimes more, 
or less, conservative than actual experience demonstrated. He said when there are a small number of 
projects, experience with one or two examples can distort average results significantly. 
 
John asked Alan Meyer if he had any questions on the Production Efficiency program evaluation; Alan 
said he serves on the evaluation committee, had questions and they were answered during that 
committee’s meeting. Alan noted there appears to be a significant time gap between draft and final 
reports for some evaluations. Phil explained various reasons for this. 
 
John noted that 40% of ENERGY STAR new home purchasers were unaware their home had an 
ENERGY STAR rating. Fred Gordon suggested that since over half of our ENERGY STAR homes are 
also Earth Advantage homes, the homeowner may be aware of the more broadly marketed Earth 
Advantage brand. Debbie noted staff has already taken the initiative in educating the public in positioning 
energy efficiency as a solution to global warming. Phil pointed out that, of the 60% of ENERGY STAR 
home buyers who did know their new house had earned this rating, one-third of them purchased the 
home specifically because it met ENERGY STAR standards.  







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


7 


 
Preston Michie asked how realization rates are measured. Phil said we conduct inspections, analyze 
available data and sometimes use meters to calculate actual performance compared to original 
projections. Preston thinks on average we are doing well on realization rates. If we adjusted our 
estimates down, we might have better results. Phil said we intend to work further on how baselines are 
established.  
 
Preston thinks the estimates of economic impacts are low. Tom noted the evaluation contractors 
assume participants would have less to spend, not more, if the public purpose charge did not exist, 
because they would be spending more for energy. Fred noted another factor in the low-seeming 
numbers is the cumulative effect of results from energy saving measures over the years.  
 
Alan Meyer wondered why we do this analysis, if we are not required to. It looks like self promotion. 
Fred said while we are not required to do the work, we believe we can factor it into our calculations of 
societal benefits when doing cost benefit analyses. John Reynolds concurred. Margie said that, while 
OPUC commissioners have differing levels of interest in these numbers, she finds the information useful 
when speaking to different audiences.  
 
Policy Committee. John Reynolds noted Jason had left the meeting and was unable to present the 
Policy Committee report.  
 
One topic in the report concerned the challenges of accounting separately for interest income from 
different utilities. Lori Koho explained OPUC’s interest in distinguishing between interest tied to 
contract spending (gas utilities) versus public purpose fund-related interest (electric utilities). She did not 
propose tracking electric or gas utilities separately. Sue Meyer Sample, commented on accounting issues. 
Margie noted bank fees could increase if separate accounts were to be established. Steve Lacey noted 
the new contractual funds coming forth from Pacific Power and PGE via 838 efficiency funding add 
further complexity to this issue.  
 
Alan Meyer asked why it will take until 2009 to revise the strategic plan. Fred Gordon responded staff 
sees a number of issues, some complex, that need to be resolved before simply increasing goals. Margie 
said we still are uncertain about how much and when PGE 838 funds will begin to flow.  
 
Margie stated NW Natural has approached Energy Trust about serving its 65,000 customers in 
Vancouver and Clark County. Of this number, 60,000 are residential customers and 5,000 are 
commercial customers. She noted this expansion opportunity is very different from the one we 
considered last year regarding Cascade natural gas. NW Natural’s Washington customers are in the 
same Portland metropolitan area market. Washington customers see and hear our messages yet cannot 
participate. OPUC staff also informally understood the differences between this opportunity and the 
previous Cascade opportunity. Margie said she would move forward with a detailed study of serving 
NW Natural Washington customers only after the Washington Utilities and Transportation 
Commission had approved NW Natural’s decoupling request.  
 
John introduced the action item to adopt a 5.2% percent discount rate instead of the present 3%. He 
noted the lower the discount rate, the higher the future value of energy efficiency. Alan observed that if 
staff includes red-lined versions of changed documents in the packet, this helps the reader more quickly 
grasp what has changed. John said the only change was to the number itself. Alan noted language 
remaining in the policy states Energy Trust will “work over the next several months” to develop 
estimates of line losses specific to Oregon. As this is original language from the policy as initially adopted 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


8 


in 2005, Alan wondered if the language should be updated. John declared a 10-minute break for staff to 
work on revisions to this language. New wording was entered into the policy document and redlined. 


RESOLUTION #464 


APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE ENERGY TRUST COST 
EFFECTIVENESS POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust uses a three percent discount rate to evaluate efficiency programs 
for purposes of analyzing new measures and initiatives, developing supply curves 
and reporting on results. Utilities, in contrast, use higher discount rates for 
efficiency and other resource options. 


2. When Energy Trust and utilities use different discount rates, the OPUC has a 
hard time evaluating efficiency costs compared to other resources in integrated 
resource planning. The problem becomes more significant with the passage of 
the Oregon Renewable Energy Act, which authorizes the utilities to seek 
supplemental efficiency funds. The OPUC intends to evaluate those filings using 
IRP data and analysis. 


3. Energy Trust has discussed discount rate with OPUC and utility staffs in the 
context of other factors that affect the avoided cost of resource, factors such as 
avoided fuel and construction costs, savings from avoided transmission and 
distribution construction, avoided power delivery, CO2 benefits, the 10% 
conservation advantage from the regional power act, and hedge value of 
efficiency. 


4. Energy Trust has communicated to the OPUC the importance of increasing the 
levelized cost performance measure that the OPUC uses to evaluate Energy 
Trust program performance. Without such an increase, using a higher discount 
rate could prejudice Energy Trust programs. 


5. Assuming a higher levelized cost performance measure and considering the 
other avoided cost factors mentioned above, increasing the discount rate 
Energy Trust uses to qualify and evaluate measures and programs to 5.2% 
should not have a significant effect on Energy Trust programs. 


 


THEREFORE, the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. board of directors amends the 
Energy Trust cost-effectiveness policy as follows: 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


9 


4.06.000-P Cost-Effectiveness Policy and General 
Methodology for the Energy Trust of Oregon 
 
History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review Date 
Board Decision February 27, 2002 Approved (R83) March 22, 2002 


Board March 22, 2002 Reviewed, Revised April 3, 2002 
Board April 3, 2002 Reviewed, Revised 


(Minutes) 
April 2005 


Board September 7, 2005 Revised (R353) September 2008 
Board February 13, 2008 Revised (R464) February 2011 


 
Introduction 
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon seeks a future that includes sufficient, stable, and affordable power available 
to all customers through sustained investment in energy efficiency and renewable resources that reduce 
the economic and environmental costs of using gas and electricity. To properly evaluate such 
investments, the Energy Trust of Oregon (Trust) evaluates energy saving projects and measures and 
analyzes how to compare their economic cost compares to alternative sources of gas and electric 
energy. In the past the Oregon Public Utility Commission (OPUC), the Northwest Power and 
Conservation Council (NWPPCC) and the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (Alliance) have all used 
similar approaches and assumptions to analyze the cost-effectiveness of energy efficiency investments. 
This policy encompasses three generic perspectives – Consumer, Utility System, and Societal. It 
describes the key variables or economic model inputs that define these perspectives and allow the 
analyst to compare the cost of energy efficiency to conventional sources of gas and electrical energy.  
 
Policy  
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon adopts the Utility and Societal perspectives, as described below, as its 
primary perspectives for evaluating energy efficiency projects. It will also use the utility-system 
perspective as an additional tool to assure that the kWh saved per dollar invested by the Trust is 
reasonable. The Consumer perspective is used to help design projects. 
 
The societal cost definition is in alignment with the OPUC docket no. UM-551’s definition of Total 
Resource Cost (Societal) perspective as including total costs and total benefits in cost effectiveness 
calculations. The following costs will be included in the societal perspective: 


1. Trust incentives paid to the participant  
2. Trust administrative costs  
3. Monitoring, evaluation and non-incentive costs of PMCs and Energy Trust staff  
4. Oregon and local government  administrative costs associated with incentives 
5. The participants remaining out-of-pocket costs for the installed cost of the measures 


 
The cost of tax credits to the State of Oregon will not be included, because they are considered to be a 
transfer, not a net cost to society. However, to the extent that they are significant, the administrative 
costs of those tax credits will be considered. 
 
The Energy Trust will include the following benefits: 


1. the value of the electrical and/or gas energy saved based on (1) the Regional Technical Forum 
long-term forecast of wholesale market prices for electricity and (2) the NW Natural gas price 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


10 


forecast for gas, as long as it is reasonably consistent with the Regional Technical Forum 
forecast of gas prices for power plant fuel.  


2. non-energy benefits as quantified by a reasonable and practical method and described in 
situations where they cannot practically be quantified  


3. for electricity, bulk system transmission capacity benefits (both line loss and avoided 
transmission construction.  


4. for electricity, transmission and distribution benefits, both line losses and avoided Transmission 
and Distribution construction.  


5. natural gas capacity benefits are of a lesser magnitude and difficult to quantify, so the Energy 
Trust will not quantify them. Natural gas delivery loss benefits are also modest in magnitude. 
Local delivery losses will be considered to the extent that they are included in NW Natural 
price forecasts. Gas transmission losses are difficult to quantify and will be described.  


 
In addition, the Energy Trust will apply in its analysis the 10% credit for energy efficiency as required 
under the Northwest Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551. This credit recognizes the benefits of 
conservation in addressing risk and uncertainty. 
 
Both the Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551 also suggest consideration of external costs such as 
environmental costs associated with air pollution. The Trust will initially use a credit of $15.00 per ton 
of carbon dioxide and will update that figure as information improves. 
 
Methodology 
 
The following additional decisions have been made about implementation of this policy: 
• For the near-term, the Pro-cost model, using marginal costs from the Aurora model, will be used to 


analyze the costs and savings of efficiency programs. The selection and specifics of these tools will be 
updated as time, resources, and opportunities permit to maximize transparency, time-dependent 
variations in resource value, and reasonableness. 


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will adopt a 3%5.2% discount rate for comparing the costs and benefits 
of efficiency investments to other investments.  


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will develop refine estimates of line losses specific to Oregon based on 
prior utility filings if this provides an improvement over Regional Technical Forum estimates, and 
then update these with better information when it is available.new information from utilities.  


 
The Energy Trust of Oregon will investigate the use of data from prior PGE and PacifiCorp filings to 
enhance estimates used by the RTF for consider avoided transmission and distribution costs attributable 
to efficiency measures attributable to efficiency measures. The Energy Trust of Oregon will work over 
the next several months with PGE, PacifiCorp, the NWPPC, and others to improve these estimates.as 
appropriate.  
 
The economic comparison will be presented as a benefit-to-cost ratio except for the consumer 
perspective that (for reference) will be presented as a two simple payback, one with non-electric 
benefits and one without non-electric benefits. The final decision on cost effectiveness will be based on 
the benefit-to-cost ratio for the Societal and Utility System perspectives (must pass both if data permits 
use of both) over the appropriate project period along with description and Board consideration of non-
quantified costs and benefits. The Energy Trust will also consider other factors in selecting programs, as 
specified in the various strategic and action planning documents of the Energy Trust. 
 
The cost-effectiveness analysis will include impact on the action of customers who do not directly 
participate and long term market effects (e.g., impact on long-term price, sales, or efficacy of efficient 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


11 


technologies beyond the direct program participants) for projects where such effects are a significant 
and likely result. 
 
In conclusion, an Energy Trust project should be reviewed from both the Utility system and the Societal 
perspectives, and if the Societal benefit-to-cost ratio is greater than 1.0, it should be considered cost 
effective. 
 
Caddy McKeown asked for clarification if Tom was still a voting board member. Tom replied that his 
term on the board ends at the end of this meeting. 
 


Moved by: Al Jubitz Seconded by: Tom Foley 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 13, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Renewable Energy 
 
Juniper Ridge hydropower project (resolution #466). Betsy Kauffman introduced Steven Johnson, of 
the Central Oregon Irrigation District (COID), project developer. She noted the district owns 22 miles 
of canal. Putting in a pipe to conserve water also creates the opportunity to install a hydroelectric 
system that will operate 6.5 months per year irrigation system and generate 13,435 megawatt-hours per 
year. Energy Trust proposes to cover $1 million in above market costs and would claim 75% of the 
green tags. The cost per kWh of this project is lowest among Energy Trust’s four hydro projects. John 
Reynolds asked if this is the all-time low-cost renewable energy project. Peter said big wind farms came 
in at a lower levelized cost.  
 
Alan Meyer noted the resolution states payment of the incentive will be made upon commissioning the 
project or over time. He knows money has value over time and wondered if this had been taken into 
account. He noted the resolution establishes a $1 million payment and not an increased amount if paid 
over time. He asked what happens if power production falls below projections. Peter says we pay in 
proportion to output. Peter stated Energy Trust does account for the time value of money, recognizing 
the resolution was not clear on this point. Peter agreed that to maintain equivalent purchasing power an 
incentive paid in the first year would have to be more cash, if paid over time. Board members expressed 
confusion over the matter. Preston Michie argued it is to Energy Trust’s advantage and the Irrigation 
District’s advantage for Energy Trust to pay up front. Peter said COID has requested an up-front 
payment.  
 
Both Margie and Peter stated that the point of the language in the resolution was simply to provide 
more flexibility and avoid having to come back to the board with changes such as those proposed for 
the Swalley contract. Allen and Tom expressed discomfort with the resolution not specifying the 
amount of cash to be paid, if the listed first year amount was instead paid over time. Steven Johnson 
confirmed his preference for an up-front payment. He explained the payment from Energy Trust would 
be established after the equipment had been installed, started generating power and its output is 
measured. Peter said that if, in the course of operation, generation falls short of targets, Energy Trust 
would be paid back proportionally. Allen objected to not charging interest on funds returned for under 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


12 


production. Peter noted there are no such payback provisions for efficiency projects. He said it would 
be much more complicated and less supportive to negotiate agreements if interest amounts were 
accounted for and included.  
 
Alan said he is willing to vote for this resolution so long as staff comes back at a future meeting with a 
business case for its approach. Caddy McKeown said we are in the incentive, not the banking business, 
and supported maintaining a simple approach. Preston thought Peter’s approach created less "dry hole" 
risk for Energy Trust. Margie thought if we took the approach Alan suggested about charging interest on 
the renewable side, we should consider the impacts on the efficiency side, where we have not charged 
interest and have no payback requirements. John Klosterman thought it was a mistake to refer contract 
review at this detailed level to the board. John Reynolds asked staff to provide a report to the board on 
this issue at the next meeting. Peter agreed to come back at a future meeting with a review of how we 
approach these issues in contracting and project evaluation. 
 
 


RESOLUTION #466 


FUNDING FOR THE JUNIPER RIDGE HYDROPOWER PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. Central Oregon Irrigation District proposes to construct the Juniper Ridge 
Hydroelectric Project. The project is projected to have a nameplate capacity of 
3.27 megawatts, operate during a 6.5 month irrigation season, and generate 
13,435 megawatt-hours (MWh) per year. 


2. The piping will eliminate water loss through the canal and restore over 20 cubic 
feet per second of water to the Deschutes River, which will benefit the river 
habitat, ESA-listed steelhead, and water quality. 


3. At a cost of $653,594 per average megawatt, the project would be the most 
cost-effective hydropower project Energy Trust has funded. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 


The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the Executive 
Director to amend and execute a contract with the Central Oregon Irrigation 
District (COID) to pay up to $1,000,000 of the above-market costs of the electric 
generation aspect of this project, based on whether the project achieves the 
nameplate capacity consistent with the following terms: 


1. Payment of the incentive will be made upon commissioning of the project. 
COID will agree to the standard Energy Trust security arrangements 
appropriate for the final form of the incentive payment.  


2. Energy Trust will take title to the first 75% of the project’s green tags over 20 
years. 


 
 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


13 


 


Moved by: Tom Foley  Seconded by: Preston Michie 


Vote: In favor: 8 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


Al Jubitz was out of the room during the vote. 
 
Adopted on February 13, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
At this point John Reynolds recognized Betty Griffiths of the Corvallis Sustainability Coalition 
and Jan Schaeffer to present information on the Corvallis Energy Challenge.  
 
Jan Schaeffer introduced Betty Griffiths of the Corvallis Sustainability Coalition to describe a multi-
pronged collaborative effort by the Coalition and Energy Trust called the “Corvallis Energy Challenge.” 
Jan described how the Corvallis Energy Challenge is a community energy project that has resulted from 
the efforts of Conservation Services Group Home Energy Solutions program staff connecting with the 
City of Corvallis’s sustainability office. Corvallis mayor, Charlie Tomlinson, has been promoting 
sustainability. He wanted to attend today’s meeting, but a conflict prevented his attendance. 
 
Energy Trust has been trying to find ways to deliver all of its programs in one community and to 
determine whether increased savings justify the additional cost of promoting programs in this way. 
Corvallis offered a willing location for such a trial effort. Betty Griffiths then described the enthusiastic 
response to Energy Trust’s proposal from the Coalition, a grassroots organization with more than 70 
organization members all interested in promoting sustainability efforts throughout the community. The 
Challenge launches March 3 and continues through February 2009.  
 
During the kick off week, the president of Oregon State University and Barbara Ross, former state 
representative, will host Home Energy Reviews for the news media. Seventy Sustainability Coalition 
members also will have Home Energy Reviews completed. The reviews will also incorporate a quick 
assessment of the home’s suitability for solar. Coalition members will be challenged to sign up 1,000 
additional Home Energy Reviews by April 22.  
 
Jan noted Energy Trust will work with the OSU Student Sustainability Center to hire and train students 
to conduct Home Energy Reviews during summer 2008. We will also work with the Corvallis 
Environmental Center to do walkthrough assessments of at least 50 small businesses in downtown 
Corvallis and nearby areas.  
 
Jan noted that, following the reviews and assessments, the focus will shift to challenging homes and 
businesses to implement energy efficiency and renewable measures. We hope to see 500 homes 
implement 2 measures and 40 businesses implement at least one measure. The Production Efficiency 
program will reach out to large industrial customers in Linn and Benton counties. We anticipate seeing 
65 solar systems installed over the year in Corvallis, a 50% increase from 2007. 
 
Board members offered words of encouragement for the Challenge, and supported collaboration with 
the schools as well. John thanked Betty for her time and said he expects the Challenge to be successful.  
 
Swalley Irrigation District hydropower project (resolution #467). Betsy Kauffman introduced the 
resolution. The board approved a resolution specifying incremental payment over 15 years at the August 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


14 


meeting. To facilitate project completion, Swalley has requested that Energy Trust consider providing its 
funding in a lump sum upon commissioning rather than over time. In considering this request, staff noted 
an error in their above-market cost calculations. Staff corrected the cost calculations and recommends 
providing the revised above-market funding upon commissioning.  
 
Alan noted the proposed change actually increased the net present value of the payment. Peter agreed. 
He said we thought we were paying 100% of the above-market costs and subsequently discovered we 
had significantly underestimated those costs in the financial modeling. The value in this resolution 
reflects a correct calculation of above-market costs, which are higher than those first approved.  
 
Alan Meyer asked if Energy Trust initially was getting all the green tags. Peter said Energy Trust will take 
title to 100% of the green tags. 
 
After discussions about revising and clarifying the proposed resolution, the board adopted the following 
resolution.  


RESOLUTION #467 


APPROVING A CHANGE IN THE TIMING OF FUNDING FOR THE SWALLEY 
IRRIGATION DISTRICT HYDROPOWER PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. In August, 2007, the board agreed to provide $916,386 for the Swalley Irrigation 
District project, which would generate electricity from a 750 kW generator at 
the end of the 5.1-mile irrigation pipe. Under the terms the board approved, 
Energy Trust would pay the incentive based on production over a fifteen year 
period based on actual generation. 


2. Swalley has asked if Energy Trust will pay the entire incentive amount at the 
time the project begins commercial operation. 


3. The above-market cost of the project has been corrected and with the change in 
the timing of the cash reflective of correct costs.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 


The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the Executive 
Director to amend and execute a contract with the Swalley Irrigation District to 
pay up to $916,386 of the above-market costs of the electric generation aspect of 
this project, based on whether the project achieves the projected 750 kW 
nameplate capacity, consistent with the terms approved in August 2007, with the 
following change: 


1. Payment of the full incentive may be made upon commissioning of the project;  


2. Swalley Irrigation District must agree to security arrangements to ensure that 
Energy Trust is paid back if the project fails to meet minimum production levels; 
and  


3. Energy Trust will take title to 100% of the project’s green tags over 20 years.  
 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


15 


Moved by: Tom Foley Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 13, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Staff Report 
 
Feature presentation. Presented before the board considered the Swalley Irrigation District resolution to 
accommodate guest from Corvallis. 
 
Highlights of staff report. Margie presented pre-true-up results of 2007 activity. Renewable programs 
added 46.9 aMW in new generation, a record. We expect 33.8 aMW of electricity savings, more than 
the 30 aMW the Northwest Power & Conservation Council expects of us each year and more than our 
best case savings target for the year of 32 aMW. Gas savings of 2.2 million annual therms are well above 
the conservative goal and slightly below the 2.4 million annual therm best case goal. Gas spending was 
under budget by only 3.2%, suggesting gas savings cost slightly more to acquire than anticipated.  
 
She invited Steve Bicker to comment on NW Natural’s invitation for Energy Trust to provide services in 
Washington. Steve said the company would not go forward unless Washington regulators approve 
decoupling. The scope is small, just over the river into Vancouver and Clark County. He said NW 
Natural is thinking about establishing an advisory committee in Washington to oversee this work. Steve 
Lacey described the approach to establishing the cost of the efficiency acquisition to be recovered in 
rates. John Reynolds noted we would need to get approval from the Oregon PUC.  
 
Margie noted staff started the year with a worksession focused on strategic themes. These, included 
how to balance innovation and risk, especially in regard to emerging technologies; support for utility 
integrated resource planning; how we define and measure success; whether to expand or diversify 
services, including the proposal to move into southwest Washington; how to strengthen and expand 
stakeholder relationships and attract new partners to work with us to achieve desired results.  
 
Margie noted she has been working with the California and Washington utility commissions to consider 
whether if working together on a common platform, we might achieve greater results. The most likely 
topics to be explored include appliance efficiency standards and zero net energy commercial buildings.  
 
Margie mentioned the IT team has been reorganized. Several positions have transitioned from 
contractor or intern to Energy Trust staff.  
 
She pointed out several meetings convened by BPA and Puget Sound Energy about exploring how to 
acquire more efficiency at lower cost – should we do more of the same or do different strategies? She 
expected regional collaboration to remain a major theme. .  
 
A total of 25 new ENERGY STAR homebuilders signed up in the last quarter of the year, including four 
who have committed to building 100% ENERGY STAR homes. Margie reviewed the success of the Solar 
4 Schools contest, resulting in sales of nearly 3,000 CFLs.  
 







Discussion Minutes                        February 13, 2008 
 


16 


Q4 was a record-setting quarter for a number of programs. Single family home project volume hit a 
record high of 3,777 projects in December. Margie noted the fifth largest foodservice equipment dealer 
in the country invited Energy Trust to their 2008 national sales rally to train their entire sales force on 
energy efficient commercial foodservice equipment. 
 
The new Oregon residential code, 15% above current code, takes effect in April.  
 
PGE's Biglow utility scale project is on line. Pacific Power's Goodnoe Hills utility scale project is 
expected to be completed by this June. Margie added Caddy and John Reynolds will be attending the 
ribbon cutting for the Rough & Ready biopower project.  
 
She acknowledged the charts for call volume and website visits are hard to read this time. She said the 
downturn in call volume in December is customary and associated with the holiday season. The fall-off 
in website visits was less.  
 
Adam Serchuk has accepted a position with Vestas in their business development area. Debbie Kitchin 
noted discussion at the Puget Sound efficiency meeting she attended about the issue of workforce 
development and of increasing competition for talent. Margie drew attention to the Energy Trust 
positions transitioning from contractor or being recruited per the board's approval of the 2008 budget.  
 
Vickie Liskey said she’s impressed with the level of detail in the staff report and asked how we product 
it for each meeting? Margie answered that this is an established means of reporting involving many staff 
tracking and sharing these results on a regular basis.  
 
Lastly, Margie read from a letter written by a student who attended a recent conference in Florida at 
which Greg Stiles, Senior Business Sector Manager, presented on the topic of energy efficiency 
opportunities in the foodservice industry. In her letter, the student said Greg's enthusiastic and 
impressive presentation helped influence her to select energy efficiency engineering as her future career.  
 
Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 4:10 pm. 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 
Wednesday, April 9, 2008, 12:30 pm at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, 
Portland, Oregon. The meeting is open to the public. 
 








E:\BOARD PACKETS\2008 Files\08 04 09\Final\Acceptance of  Audited Finls_nk_v01_FINAL.doc    


 
 


 


 


 
Board Decision 
Acceptance of Audited Financial Report 
April 9, 2008 
 
 
Purpose 
 


Paragraph 3.a.iii(A) of the grant agreement with the PUC requires that annual financial statements be 
audited by an outside independent certified public accountant.  This resolution accepts the audited 
financial report prepared by Perkins & Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended December 31, 2007, 
as recommended by the audit committee.   
 
Committee Review 
 


Reviewed by the Audit Committee. 
 
 


RESOLUTION #469 
ACCEPTANCE OF AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT 


 
BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board 
of Directors accepts the audited financial statement report, 
including unqualified opinion, prepared and submitted by 
Perkins & Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended 
December 31, 2007. 
 
 
Moved by: _____________ Seconded by: _______________ 


 
Vote: _____ In favor _____ Opposed _____ Abstain 
 
Adopted on (date) _______ by Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors. 


 
   
 








 


 
 
 
 
Board Decision 
Authorizing Contracts to Evaluate Potential Energy 
Trust Management of Efficiency Programs for NW 
Natural in Washington 
April 9, 2008 


Summary 
Authorize staff to negotiate and sign agreements for NW Natural to fund Energy Trust assessments of 
the opportunity to provide energy efficiency services to NW Natural’s residential and commercial 
customers in Washington. 


Background 
• NW Natural is an Oregon-based gas utility. Energy Trust energy efficiency programs currently 


serve NW Natural’s residential and commercial customers in Oregon. 


• Energy Trust’s current services to NW Natural customers are related to a “decoupling” tariff 
that the Oregon Public Utility Commission (OPUC) first approved in 2003. In 2007, the OPUC 
extended the decoupling tariff to 2012. 


• Decoupling is meant to address a utility’s disincentive to encourage customers to reduce fuel 
consumption through energy efficiency. Under traditional tariffs, revenues depend on sales, 
which are reduced by energy conservation, undermining a utility’s ability to recover its fixed 
costs. By “decoupling” revenues from sales, a utility can recover fixed costs even if customers 
reduce energy use.  


• NW Natural intends to file a decoupling tariff for consideration by the Washington Utilities and 
Transportation Commission (WUTC). NW Natural has asked Energy Trust to help assess 
energy efficiency programs in Washington and, if the WUTC approves the decoupling proposal, 
consider providing such services. 


Discussion 
• NW Natural has about 65,000 Washington customers, predominantly in Clark County. Portland 


and Clark County share media markets, and a number of Energy Trust contractors and trade 
allies work on both sides of the Columbia River. Given this, and its productive working 
relationship with Energy Trust in Oregon, NW Natural has asked Energy Trust to explore 
delivery of similar programs to its Washington residential and commercial customers. 


• NW Natural proposes:  


(1) To contract with Energy Trust to prepare a broad Phase One study addressing: energy 
use characteristics of NW Natural’s Washington customer base; Energy Trust programs 
that could be adapted for Washington customers; potential program goals and delivery 
models; tracking, reporting and evaluation processes; tax, regulatory and stakeholder issues; 
and a protocol for allocating costs to Washington programs.  


 


 







Resolution 474                April 9, 2008 


2 


 


 


 


(2) Within 60 days of a WUTC order approving decoupling, NW Natural would form a 
Washington Advisory Group to further help examine NW Natural’s Washington market, 
review and establish potential program targets, and help monitor results on an ongoing 
basis. Energy Trust would be represented on the Advisory Group. 


(3) After the Phase One study, NW Natural and Energy Trust would develop a contract for 
a more in-depth Phase Two study, to be completed within five months of the WUTC order. 
The Phase Two study would develop a full implementation plan for programs in 
Washington. 


(4) After completing the Phase Two study: (a) NW Natural would discuss the study with the 
Advisory Group; (b) NW Natural and the Energy Trust board would determine whether to 
proceed with Energy Trust administration of the programs; and (c) NW Natural would file 
an energy efficiency plan with the WUTC, after which implementation would begin. 


• Previously, Energy Trust determined not to provide services to Washington customers of 
Cascade Natural Gas. Cascade has a large and diverse Washington territory: 251,000 customers 
in 93 cities and towns across the state, many in areas where Energy Trust has no presence. In 
addition, while the proposal was being considered, the Oregon legislature passed the Oregon 
Renewable Energy Act, authorizing expanded efficiency programs and realigning Energy Trust’s 
renewable energy programs. These factors led Energy Trust to conclude that it should not 
deliver programs to Cascade’s Washington customers at that time. 


• The NW Natural proposal involves a relatively small number of potential program participants 
in areas adjacent to Energy Trust’s existing service territory. There still may be issues involved 
in serving NW Natural’s Washington customers at a time when Oregon programs are 
expanding and changing, which will be explored in the proposed studies. 


 


Recommendation 
Approve resolution #474, authorizing staff to negotiate and sign agreements for NW Natural to fund a 
preliminary assessment to provide Energy Trust energy efficiency services to NW Natural’s residential 
and commercial customers in Washington, and if decoupling is approved by the WUTC, to conduct a 
more in-depth review of the opportunity for consideration by NW Natural and the Energy Trust board 
of directors.  


 







Resolution 474                April 9, 2008 


 


 


3 


 


RESOLUTION #474 


AUTHORIZING CONTRACTS TO EVALUATE POTENTIAL 
MANAGEMENT OF EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS FOR NW NATURAL 


IN WASHINGTON  


WHEREAS: 
 
1. NW Natural has asked Energy Trust to evaluate the possibility of 


providing efficiency programs to NW Natural’s residential and 
commercial customers in Washington, if the Washington Utilities and 
Transportation Commission (“WUTC”) approves a decoupling proposal 
for the utility. 


2. NW Natural proposes that Energy Trust study this prospect in two 
phases: Phase One would broadly study energy use characteristics of 
these customers; programs that could be adapted for them; potential 
program goals and delivery models; tracking, reporting and evaluation 
processes; tax, regulatory and stakeholder issues; and a protocol for 
allocating costs to Washington programs. Energy Trust would do a Phase 
Two study only if the WUTC approves the decoupling proposal. The 
Phase Two study would include a full implementation plan. 


3. In contrast to the previous Cascade Natural Gas proposal, which involved 
a large and diverse customer base, mainly in areas where Energy Trust 
has no presence, the NW Natural proposal involves a relatively small 
number of potential participants in areas adjacent to Energy Trust’s 
existing service territory. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. Staff is authorized to negotiate and sign agreements to carry out a two-


phase assessment, as described above, of the opportunity to provide 
energy efficiency services to NW Natural’s residential and commercial 
customers in Washington. 


 
2. Staff shall update the board of directors on the WUTC decoupling ruling 


and study results.  
 
3. The board will determine whether Energy Trust will provide energy 


efficiency services to NW Natural’s residential and commercial 
customers in Washington. 


 
 Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 








Revised 2008-2009 
Action Plan and Budget 


Board of Directors
April 9, 2008







2


Introduction


• Context


– Electric and gas spending patterns by program and sector


• 2008 Proposed Budget Revisions


– Revenue changes


– Projected expenditure and saving changes


– Revised efficiency budget


• 2009 Budget Projection 


– Revenue changes


– Anticipated changes in expenditures and savings


– Projected revised efficiency budget







3


2008 Revised Budget Overview


• Approved 2008 total ETO budget of $93.6 million in 
expenditures


– $62.7 million total for energy efficiency


– Savings of 28.9 aMW and 2.2 million annual therms


• Revised 2008 budget of $103.1 million in expenditures


– Adds total EE supplemental funding of $11.5 million


– Adds $6.5 million in PacifiCorp supplemental funding


– Assumes addition of $5 million PGE supplemental funding


– Adjust savings to 33.2 AMW and 2.3 million annual therms


– $72.2 million budget total for energy efficiency expenditures







4


2008 Revised Budget Summary


Proposed changes between final and revised 2008 budget:
• Total resources increased $14.8 million
• Total expenses increased  $  9.5 million


– Electric efficiency  +$  9.3 million 


– Gas efficiency +$    .3 million


– Renewable programs  -$     .1 million


• Electric savings increase +4.3 aMW (best case)
• Annual therm savings increase 97,000 (best case)
• No change in renewable generation







5


Revised Total ETO 2008 Budget
Changes in Revenue


Revenue sources: Dollar Value


Additional 2007 carryover, above forecast $  3,183,134


SB1149 updated funding forecasts 720,044


Projected PGE supplemental EE funding 5,011,745


PacifiCorp supplemental EE funding 6,449,128


Interest rate income adjustment (    530,682)


Total Resource Change from Approved Budget $14,833,368







6


Supplemental (838) Funding Emphasis 2008-2009


• More savings from existing markets 
• Greater emphasis on existing small businesses 


and new commercial construction
• Pursue zero net energy commercial building 


design
• Secure more savings from small industrial 


customers
• Add near low-income residential and 


introduce new residential technologies
• Explore time of sale upgrades
• Expand refrigerator turn-in and replacement 


pilots
• Expand Corvallis Community Energy 


Challenge activities



http://www.gettyimages.com/Search/Search.aspx?query=z.i.H4sIAAAAAAAEAO29B2AcSZYlJi9tynt_SvVK1-B0oQiAYBMk2JBAEOzBiM3mkuwdaUcjKasqgcplVmVdZhZAzO2dvPfee--999577733ujudTif33_8_XGZkAWz2zkrayZ4hgKrIHz9-fB8_In7dfLn91etf49f4NX6PX_dskV3kvyb9mtD_f8OyuJi36WRdTppf8_-m59fY-Pya5mdSV1X7MquzRWM--7Xw_92dH6Mfv96719fN6Tvzxq-pf6MFHjT5tR_s7Hm_32MI2bm2-DV-Tf0dr_za2fnUduz_8Wvjgx3ud9G6Nxftr6u__xa_BqNkf91zv95zv953v-7zr78O9VFaePYvdPfr0h_1wmIT_vnr46Nd_PXr8ecTC6PzN792HkKxfzKUHQvlvAPF_c2v1SEU-ydD2bNQ6g4U9zcRNLcw8MevrX8wdXfx229o2v7G5nOiSb4yn_6awV-_Vu668n7_tfLG-9j-_ms3K_vmr-n_8WtdTl37y6lB6rfE3zv2t337GyP661S1x3X2L_5qkvtf4S8Dk1nw4c6O9_uu9zuz6a89u1oaUL-m-ePXwf-b9cSNLPjr184zNwb_D_p95X9h__h1mwBa-Oev_e7ZczdR3h-_Lf3_1y-W03I9y7lhVnu4en_86PnR86Pn5-Xz_wDYcYDhAAgAAA..





7


Program Expenditures Over Time


2007 
Actual


2008 
Approved 


Budget


Revised 2008 
Budget


Revised 2009
Projection


Existing Homes $ 11,300,689


9,512,928


1,195,316


5,331,298


4,932,095


1,611,702


11,341,284


924,541


$ 46,149,853


$ 14,168,610 $ 16,905,124 $ 15,711,177


New Homes and 
Products


11,832,526 14,142,089 17,422,157


NEEA Residential 1,114,509 1,029,650 912,857


Existing Buildings 10,245,111 11,880,168 15,861,076


New Buildings 9,016,425 9,673,071 11,678,729


NEEA Commercial 1,713,090 1,582,620 1,393,128


NEEA Industrial
1,046,476 949,483 852,742


Production 
Efficiency


13,544,577 16,087,116 18,240,894


Total $ 62,681,324 $ 72,249,321 $ 82,072,760







8


EE Electric Spending by Sector


 46% 
 26% 


27% 30% 40% 
32% 23% 


6% 13% 
 38% 


 36% 


27% 
28% 


26% 


28% 24% 


6% 
13% 


16% 


 38% 


46% 


42% 
34% 


24% 


21% 4% 


6% 


-


10.0


20.0


30.0


40.0


50.0


60.0


70.0


80.0


2006 Revenue 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Budget 2009 Projection


$M


Residential-1149 Residential-838 Commercial-1149 Commercial-838 Industrial-1149 Industrial-838







9


Best Case Electric Savings by Sector


9.7 11.6 10.0
12.8 13.7 13.5


7.4
8.2


7.0


8.7 10.9


9.8


19.9


9.4


16.3 10.8
12.2


6.1


-


5.0


10.0


15.0


20.0


25.0


30.0


35.0


40.0


45.0


2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Best
Case


2009 Best
Case


aM
W


Residential Commercial Industrial







10


2009 Revised Budget Overview


• Approved 2009 total ETO projected budget of $77 million in 
expenditures
– $60.3 million total for energy efficiency


– Savings of 25.7 aMW and 2.5 million annual therms


• Revised 2009 projected budget of $98.7 million in planned 
expenditures
– Adds total EE supplemental funding of $23.1 million


– Adds $8.1 million in PacifiCorp supplemental funding


– Assumes addition of $15 million PGE supplemental funding


– Adjusts savings to 36.7 AMW and 2.7 million annual therms


– $82.1 million total for energy efficiency







11


2009 Revised Budget Summary


Changes between final and revised 2009 projections:
• Projected resource increase $28.6 million
• Projected expense increase $21.7 million


– Electric efficiency  +$22.2 million 


– Gas efficiency -$    .4 million


– Renewable programs  -$    .1 million


• Electric savings increase +10.9 aMW (best case)
• Annual therm savings increase 201,000
• No change in generation







12


Accounting and Reporting


• SB 1149 (base) and SB 838 (supplemental energy efficiency) 
revenues segregated by source


• Budgets allocated based upon anticipated market 
opportunities and savings potential
– Targets customers based upon size, consistent with legal requirements 


applicable to large customers over 1aMW


– Based upon revenue sources


• Program Management Contractors operate from a total 
budget for electricity and gas efficiency investments


• Electricity savings will continue to be reported in total, with 
attribution by funding source completed at year-end
– Intended to estimate incremental savings derived from new revenues







13


2008 Revised Budget Detail 
Efficiency Expenditure and Savings Changes


Energy Efficiency Approved Change New Approved Change New Approved Change New
Residential


Existing Homes 14.2        2.7          16.9         2.5          0.6          3.1          810,335    137,958       948,293    
New Homes & Products 11.8        2.3          14.1         3.5          1.7          5.2          426,019    (40,854)        385,165    
NEEA Residential 1.1          (0.1)         1.0           5.9          (0.5)         5.5          


Commercial -          
Existing Buildings 10.3        1.6          11.9         4.5          0.8          5.3          570,757    -              570,757    
New Buildings 9.0          0.7          9.7           3.1          -          3.1          369,600    -              369,600    
NEEA Commercial 1.7          (0.1)         1.6           0.3          (0.0)         0.3          


Industrial -          
 Production Efficiency 13.5        2.6          16.1         7.8          1.9          9.7          38,903      -              38,903      


NEEA Industrial 1.0          (0.1)         0.9           1.2          (0.1)         1.1          
Total Energy Efficiency 62.6        9.6          72.2         28.9        4.3          33.2        2,215,614 97,104         2,312,718 


Renewable Energy 35.1        (0.1)         35.0         17.3        -          17.3        
Total 97.7        9.5          107.2        


aMW-Best Case Annual Therms-Best CaseExpenditures2008 Budget







14


2008 Revised Efficiency Budget Detail
(in Millions)
Revenues Approved Revised Change


PGE $ 26.8 $ 32.0 $  5.2


Pacific Power 16.4 23.2 6.8


NW Natural 8.5 8.5 --


Cascade .9 .9 --


Avista -- -- --


Total $ 52.6 $ 64.6 $ 12.0


Expenses Approved Revised Change


PGE $ 34.3 $ 38.4 $  4.1


Pacific Power 16.1 21.3 5.2


NW Natural 11.0 11.3 .3


Cascade 1.2 1.2 --


Avista .1 .1 --


Total $ 62.7 $ 72.3 $  9.6







15


Revised Total ETO 2009 Budget
Changes in Revenue


Revenue sources: Dollar Value


Additional 2008 carryover, above forecast $  5,301,365


Projected SB1149 funding forecast 684,906


Anticipated PGE Supplemental EE Funding 14,999,998


PacifiCorp Supplemental EE Funding 8,070,250


Interest income adjustment (    483,317)


Total Resource Change from Approved Budget $28,573,202







16


2009 Revised Budget Detail 
Efficiency Expenditure and Savings Changes


Energy Efficiency Approved Change New Approved Change New Approved Change New
Residential


Existing Homes 14.1       1.6         15.7         2.6         0.0         2.6         844,942    58,971     903,913    
New Homes & Products 12.2       5.2         17.4         3.1         3.0         6.1         451,721    -          451,721    
NEEA Residential 0.9         -         0.9           4.8         -         4.8         


Commercial -         
Existing Buildings 7.5         8.4         15.9         2.1         4.1         6.3         487,192    262,808   750,000    
New Buildings 9.8         1.9         11.7         3.9         0.6         4.4         415,800    53,307     469,107    
NEEA Commercial 1.4         -         1.4           0.2         -         0.2         


Industrial -         
 Production Efficiency 13.5       4.7         18.2         8.0         3.2         11.2       251,600    (173,794)  77,806      


NEEA Industrial 0.9         -         0.9           1.0         -         1.0         
Total Energy Efficiency 60.3       21.8       82.1         25.7       10.9       36.6       2,451,255 201,292   2,652,547 


Renewable Energy 15.1       (0.1)        15.0         5.6         -         5.6         
Total 75.4       21.7       97.1         


2009 Projection Expenditures aMW-Best Case Annual Therms-Best Case







17


2009 Revised Efficiency Budget Detail 
(in Millions)
Revenues Approved Revised Change


PGE $ 27.6 $ 42.8 $ 15.2


Pacific Power 16.9 25.4 8.5


NW Natural 8.6 8.6 --


Cascade 1.6 1.6 --


Avista .1 -- -.1


Total $ 54.8 $ 78.4 $ 23.6


Expenses Approved Revised Change


PGE $ 30.4 $ 43.8 $ 13.4


Pacific Power 15.9 24.6 8.7


NW Natural 12.3 12.1 -.2


Cascade 1.7 1.5 -.2


Avista .1 .1 --


Total $ 60.4 $ 82.1 $ 21.7







18


Thank you!


1-866-ENTRUST


www.energytrust.org



http://www.gettyimages.com/Search/Search.aspx?query=z.i.H4sIAAAAAAAEAO29B2AcSZYlJi9tynt_SvVK1-B0oQiAYBMk2JBAEOzBiM3mkuwdaUcjKasqgcplVmVdZhZAzO2dvPfee--999577733ujudTif33_8_XGZkAWz2zkrayZ4hgKrIHz9-fB8_In7dfLn91etf49f4NX6PX_dskV3kvyb9mtD_f8OyuJi36WRdTppf8_-m59fY-Pya5mdSV1X7MquzRWM--7Xw_92dH6Mfv96719fN6Tvzxq-pf6MFHjT5tR_s7Hm_32MI2bm2-DV-Tf0dr_za2fnUduz_8Wvjgx3ud9G6Nxftr6u__xa_BqNkf91zv95zv953v-7zr78O9VFaePYvdPfr0h_1wmIT_vnr46Nd_PXr8ecTC6PzN792HkKxfzKUHQvlvAPF_c2v1SEU-ydD2bNQ6g4U9zcRNLcw8MevrX8wdXfx229o2v7G5nOiSb4yn_6awV-_Vu668n7_tfLG-9j-_ms3K_vmr-n_8WtdTl37y6lB6rfE3zv2t337GyP661S1x3X2L_5qkvtf4S8Dk1nw4c6O9_uu9zuz6a89u1oaUL-m-ePXwf-b9cSNLPjr184zNwb_D_p95X9h__h1mwBa-Oev_e7ZczdR3h-_Lf3_1y-W03I9y7lhVnu4en_86PnR86Pn5-Xz_wDYcYDhAAgAAA..





ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $25,123,961 $15,514,799 $9,622,649 $934,266 $160,163 $51,355,838 $7,290,983 $4,681,250 $11,972,233 $63,328,071
Conservation Rate Credit 550,000 550,000 550,000
Revenue from Investments 3,197,780 3,197,780


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 25,673,961 15,514,799 9,622,649 934,266 160,163 51,905,838 7,290,983 4,681,250 11,972,233 3,197,780 67,075,851


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 1,174,114 723,356 625,810 40,494 6,942 2,570,716 442,867 222,241 665,108 3,235,824
  Program Delivery 6,337,715 4,270,740 1,816,282 128,375 24,827 12,577,939 33,028 83,546 116,574 12,694,513
  Incentives 11,005,944 7,374,141 4,653,307 279,543 38,045 23,350,980 7,218,303 987,392 8,205,695 31,556,675
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 670,433 430,080 304,359 15,564 2,079 1,422,516 66,881 35,316 102,197 1,524,713
  Program Marketing/Outreach 980,103 610,592 788,158 49,220 9,082 2,437,155 183,723 39,888 223,611 2,660,766
  Program Legal Services 5,738 3,468 4,814 225 27 14,272 22,417 4,703 27,120 41,392
  Program Quality Assurance 41,264 24,300 32,596 1,964 345 100,469 -                    -                   -                   100,469
  Outsourced  Services 130,945 54,656 63,030 1,162 48 249,841 205,748 89,132 294,880 544,721
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 115,044 64,415 131,400 4,727 317 315,903 15,544 15,282 30,826 346,729
  IT Services 364,102 224,149 200,312 13,797 2,341 804,702 90,547 43,498 134,045 938,747
  Other Program Expenses 110,438 97,903 72,259 17,714 304 298,618 82,811 45,657 128,468 427,086


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 20,935,839 13,877,801 8,692,329 552,784 84,357 44,143,111 8,361,869 1,566,655 9,928,524 54,071,635


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 652,398 432,457 270,868 17,226 2,629 1,375,577 260,571 48,820 309,390 1,684,967
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 312,192 188,658 117,010 11,361 1,948 631,167 88,657 56,923 145,581 776,748


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
  Total Administrative Costs 964,589 621,114 387,878 28,586 4,576 2,006,744 349,228 105,743 454,971 2,461,715


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
  TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXP 21,900,428 14,498,915 9,080,207 581,370 88,933 46,149,855 8,711,097 1,672,398 10,383,495 56,533,350


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 3,773,533 1,015,884 542,442 352,896 71,230 5,755,983 (1,420,114) 3,008,852 1,588,738 3,197,780 10,542,502


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 (Note 5) 11,385,547 (8,445,630) 6,870,551 93,292 117,839 10,021,599 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,735
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 16,899,080 (6,269,746) 7,412,993 446,188 189,069 18,677,582 24,097,512 13,897,854 37,995,366 2,946,288 59,619,237


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program / Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007
Audited







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal 2007
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 3,827,520 1,980,451 5,807,971 5,352,747 139,971 5,492,718 11,300,689 13,757,550              2,456,861                
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 4,745,250 2,961,558 7,706,808 1,393,689 323,498 88,933 1,806,120 9,512,928 10,152,336              639,408                  
Market Transformation (NEEA) 681,699 513,617 1,195,316 -                              1,195,316 1,108,543                (86,773)                   


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------------ ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
  Total Residential 9,254,469                5,455,626                14,710,095                 6,746,436                463,469           88,933             7,298,838                    22,008,933              25,018,429              3,009,496                


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 2,073,742 1,721,794 3,795,536 1,438,059 97,703 1,535,762 5,331,298 7,984,848                2,653,550                
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 2,836,361 1,219,131 4,055,492 856,405 20,198 876,603 4,932,095 5,564,083                631,988                  
Market Transformation (NEEA) 919,168 692,534 1,611,702 -                              1,611,702 1,803,872                192,170                  


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------------ ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
  Total Commercial 5,829,271                3,633,459                9,462,730                  2,294,464                117,901           -                  2,412,365                    11,875,095              15,352,803              3,477,708                


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 6,289,414 5,012,563 11,301,977 39,307 39,307 11,341,284 13,947,751              2,606,467                
Market Transformation (NEEA) 527,274 397,267 924,541 -                              924,541 1,059,668                135,127                  


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------------ ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
  Total Industrial 6,816,688                5,409,830                12,226,518                 39,307                    -                  -                  39,307                         12,265,825              15,007,419              2,741,594                


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------------ ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 21,900,428              14,498,915              36,399,343                 9,080,207                581,370           88,933             9,750,510                    46,149,855              55,378,651              9,228,798                


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------------ ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 429,946 61,788 491,734 -                              491,734 1,530,096                1,038,362                
Open Solicitation 454,123 90,198 544,321 -                              544,321 2,130,696                1,586,375                
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 1,243,874 1,253,129 2,497,003 -                              2,497,003 3,019,111                522,108                  
Utility Scale Projects 6,421,691 13,235 6,434,926 -                              6,434,926 4,542,972                (1,891,954)               
Wind 161,463 254,048 415,511 -                              415,511 1,355,794                940,283                  


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------------ ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
  Total Renewables Costs 8,711,097                1,672,398                10,383,495                 -                         -                  -                  -                              10,383,495              12,578,669              2,195,174                


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------------ ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 30,611,525              16,171,313              46,782,838                 9,080,207                581,370           88,933             9,750,510                    56,533,350              67,957,320              11,423,972              


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007
Audited







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 39,377,824 8,322,269 47,700,093 -                                  47,700,093
Payroll and Related Expenses 934,794 665,108 1,599,902 1,028,865 395,255 1,424,120 3,024,022
Outsourced Services 1,744,708 567,598 2,312,306 238,238 224,199 462,437 2,774,743
Planning and Evaluation 666,563 80,209 746,772 13,829 13,829 760,601
Customer Service Management 315,903 30,826 346,729 -                                  346,729


---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Total Program Expenses 43,039,792 9,666,010 52,705,802 1,280,932 619,454 1,900,386 54,606,188


Program Support Costs


Supplies 5,000 3,935 8,935 5,538 3,124 8,662 17,597
Postage and Shipping Expenses 40,947 1,111 42,058 3,462 1,132 4,594 46,652
Telephone 3,765 2,835 6,600 2,701 701 3,402 10,002
Printing and Publications 64,498 8,846 73,344 4,778 26,825 31,603 104,947
Occupancy Expenses 80,534 58,061 138,595 75,151 35,269 110,420 249,015
Insurance 12,834 9,253 22,087 11,976 5,620 17,596 39,683
Equipment 3,180 6,812 9,992 2,967 1,420 4,387 14,379
Travel 31,968 18,714 50,682 24,683 3,798 28,481 79,163
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 25,620 10,979 36,599 58,533 5,515 64,048 100,647
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 250 250 88 88 338
Depreciation & Amortization 6,212 5,825 12,037 5,797 2,721 8,518 20,555
Dues, Licenses and Fees 22,848 1,608 24,456 5,701 4,077 9,778 34,234
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,211 240 1,451 1,048 251 1,299 2,750
IT Services 804,702 134,045 938,747 201,612 66,841 268,453 1,207,200


---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,103,319 262,514 1,365,833 404,035 157,294 561,329 1,927,162


---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 44,143,111 9,928,524 54,071,635 1,684,967 776,748 2,461,715 56,533,350


================== ================== ================== ================== ================== ===================== ==================


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 6.0%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007
Audited







 







2008 Budget Recap - Revised Budget


Con- 
servative 
(aMW)


Best Case 
(aMW) Utility Societal


Conservativ
e (annual 
therms)


Best Case 
(annual 
therms) Utility Societal


ENERGY EFFICIENCY
Residential
Home Energy Solutions – 
Existing Homes


16.9 2.31 3.08 4.37 - 3.28         0.036  -         0.027        711,220        948,293          9.59  -          7.19          0.65 -          0.48 Q1-2008 (PI) 1/1/2011


Home Energy Solutions   –  
New Homes & Products


14.1 3.86 5.14 3.04 - 2.28         0.049  -         0.037        288,874        385,165          8.43  -          6.32          0.61 -          0.45 
Q1-2009 (PI) homes;  
Q1-2009 (I) homes; 
Q3-2008 (PI) prod


12/31/2008


Mkt Transformation 
(Alliance)


1.0 4.11 5.47 0.25 - 0.19         0.004  -         0.003  NA NA 12/31/2010


Total Residential 32.1 10.3 13.7 2.22 - 1.67        0.025  -        0.019   1,000,094    1,333,458         9.25  -         6.94         0.49 -         0.37 


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions – 
Existing Buildings


11.9 3.96 5.28 2.59 - 1.94         0.032  -         0.024        428,068        570,757          3.84  -          2.88          0.37 -          0.28 
Q1-2008 (PI); Q1-2009


(I)
1/1/2011


Business Energy Solutions  – 
New Buildings


9.7 2.36 3.14 3.52 - 2.64         0.035  -         0.026        277,200        369,600          4.97  -          3.73          0.44 -          0.33 
Q1-2008 (PI); Q1-2009


(I)
12/31/2008


Mkt Transformation 
(Alliance)


1.6 0.19 0.26 8.24 - 6.18         0.092  -         0.069  NA NA 12/31/2010


Total Commercial 23.1 6.5 8.7 3.09 - 2.32        0.030  -        0.022      705,268      940,357         4.29  -         3.22         0.34 -         0.26 


Industrial


Production Efficiency 16.1 7.29 9.72 2.17 - 1.63         0.028  -         0.021          29,177          38,903          9.19  -          6.89          1.05 -          0.79 Q2-2008 (PI) na


Mkt Transformation 
(Alliance)


0.9 0.81 1.07 1.18 - 0.88         0.018  -         0.013  NA NA 12/31/2010


Total Industrial 17.0 8.1 10.8 2.07 - 1.55        0.024  -        0.018        29,177         38,903         9.19  -         6.89         1.05 -         0.79 


Total Energy Efficiency $72.2 24.9 33.2 2.40 - 1.80        0.030  -        0.022   1,734,539    2,312,718         7.23  -         5.42         0.44 -         0.33 


RENEWABLE RESOURCES2
Biopower 10.9 4.00 9.31 2.71 - 1.17 NA NA NA
Open Solicitation 9.0 2.07 3.18 4.34 - 2.82 NA NA NA
Solar Electric 9.1 0.47 0.62 19.40 - 14.55 NA NA NA
Utility-Scale 0.2 0.00 0.00 na - na NA NA NA
Wind Cluster 5.9 2.92 4.17 2.03 - 1.42 NA Q4-2008 (P) NA
Total Renewable 
Resources


$35.0 9.5 17.3 3.71 - 2.03


1 some columns may not add due to rounding


2 Budget amounts for Renewables are activity based and include dedicated funds


PROGRAM
TOTAL 


BUDGET ($M)


ELECTRIC GOALS1 EVAL DATE(S)   
(I=Impact;           


MA=Market 
Assessment;         
P=Process


PMC 
CONTRACT 
EXPIRATION($mils/ aMW) Levelized  ($/kWh) ($/annual therms) Levelized ($/Therm)


B/C RATIO GAS GOALS B/C RATIO







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
By Program / Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Revised Budget 2008-B-03


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL Previous
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs Budget Change Pct change


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $26,964,732 $16,770,574 $8,540,133 $905,757 $53,181,197 $8,132,221 $5,057,792 $13,190,013 $66,371,210 $65,651,166 $720,044 1.10%
Public Purpose Funding-838 5,011,745 6,449,128 11,460,873 11,460,873 11,460,873 100.00%
Revenue from Investments 1,842,528 1,842,528 2,373,210 (530,682) -22.36%


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------------- ------------------- ----------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 31,976,477 23,219,702 8,540,133 905,757 64,642,069 8,132,221 5,057,792 13,190,013 1,842,528 79,674,610 68,024,376 11,650,234 17.13%


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------------- ------------------- ----------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 1,647,052 831,284 730,405 82,652 6,511 3,297,904 631,842 327,180 959,023 4,256,927 4,132,482 124,444 3.01%
  Program Delivery 10,386,582 5,975,604 2,616,343 293,705 23,795 19,296,029 147,970 49,530 197,500 19,493,530 18,111,999 1,381,530 7.63%
  Incentives 19,879,559 11,214,101 5,628,182 557,332 35,794 37,314,968 15,769,655 10,734,313 26,503,968 63,818,937 56,874,055 6,944,882 12.21%
  Program Evaluation and Planning Services 1,482,210 774,463 455,336 51,162 3,297 2,766,469 282,585 132,632 415,218 3,181,687 3,151,265 30,422 0.97%
  Program Marketing/Outreach 2,051,893 949,693 696,452 79,563 6,189 3,783,789 229,301 73,398 302,700 4,086,489 3,441,915 644,574 18.73%
  Program Legal Services 0 0 0 0 0 75,782 25,967 101,750 101,750 101,750 0.00%
  Program Quality Assurance 82,603 40,264 37,744 2,338 52 163,000 19,400 7,200 26,600 189,600 189,600 0.00%
  Outsourced  Services 395,260 206,732 160,043 12,777 220 775,031 624,001 214,799 838,800 1,613,831 1,408,831 205,000 14.55%
  Trade Allies & Customer Service Management 355,545 141,194 246,752 16,146 613 760,249 58,476 23,908 82,384 842,634 835,695 6,938 0.83%
  IT Services 691,885 322,406 285,868 30,269 2,250 1,332,678 146,870 73,138 220,007 1,552,685 1,535,202 17,483 1.14%
  Other Program Expenses 240,556 123,290 74,482 7,166 434 445,929 170,011 74,015 244,026 689,955 628,746 61,208 9.73%


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------------- ------------------- ----------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 37,213,145 20,579,031 10,931,608 1,133,110 79,155 69,936,048 18,155,894 11,736,079 29,891,976 99,828,024 90,411,541 9,416,483 10.42%


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------------- ------------------- ----------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 839,752 464,386 246,683 25,570 1,786 1,578,177 409,706 264,836 674,542 2,252,719 2,225,452 27,267 1.23%
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 391,146 216,305 114,902 11,910 832 735,095 190,836 123,357 314,193 1,049,289 961,038 88,250 9.18%


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------------- ------------------- ----------------
  Total Administrative Costs 1,230,898 680,692 361,584 37,480 2,618 2,313,272 600,542 388,194 988,736 3,302,008 3,186,490 115,517 3.63%


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------------- ------------------- ----------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM & ADMIN EXPENSES 38,444,043 21,259,723 11,293,192 1,170,590 81,773 72,249,320 18,756,436 12,124,273 30,880,712 103,130,031 93,598,031 9,532,000 10.18%


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------------- ------------------- ----------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (6,467,566) 1,959,979 (2,753,059) (264,833) (81,773) (7,607,251) (10,624,215) (7,066,481) (17,690,699) 1,842,528 (23,455,421) (25,573,655) 2,118,234 -8.28%


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========= ========== =========
Net Assets from prior years 15,159,080 (7,429,746) 7,412,993 446,188 189,069 15,777,584 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,238 56,436,104 3,183,134 5.64%
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000) 100.00%


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========= ========== =========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 10,431,514 (4,309,767) 4,659,934 181,355 107,296 11,070,333 13,473,297 6,831,373 20,304,667 4,788,816 36,163,817 30,862,449 5,301,368 17.18%


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses for budget purposes only, otherwsie by Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-08







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Budget Expenses by Service Territory
For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Revised Budget 2008-B-03


Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal 2008 no 838
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Round 2 Change Pct Change


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 7,339,479 2,747,249 10,086,728 6,495,255 321,909 1,232 6,818,396 16,905,124 14,168,610 2,736,514 19.31%
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 7,525,308 4,181,721 11,707,029 1,740,506 614,014 80,540 2,435,060 14,142,089 11,832,525 2,309,564 19.52%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 586,900 442,750 1,029,650 0 1,029,650 1,114,510 (84,860) -7.61%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Residential 15,451,687 7,371,720 22,823,407 8,235,761 935,923 81,772 9,253,456 32,076,863 27,115,645 4,961,218 18.30%


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 7,732,647 2,501,646 10,234,293 1,552,397 93,478 1,645,875 11,880,168 10,245,110 1,635,058 15.96%
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 5,709,612 2,585,398 8,295,010 1,236,870 141,191 1,378,061 9,673,071 9,016,424 656,647 7.28%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 902,093 680,527 1,582,620 0 1,582,620 1,713,090 (130,470) -7.62%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Commercial 14,344,352 5,767,571 20,111,923 2,789,267 234,669 3,023,936 23,135,859 20,974,624 2,161,235 10.30%


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 8,106,795 7,712,156 15,818,951 268,165 268,165 16,087,116 13,544,576 2,542,540 18.77%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 541,205 408,278 949,483 0 949,483 1,046,476 (96,993) -9.27%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Industrial 8,648,000 8,120,434 16,768,434 268,165 268,165 17,036,599 14,591,052 2,445,547 16.76%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 38,444,039 21,259,725 59,703,764 11,293,193 1,170,592 81,772 12,545,557 72,249,321 62,681,321 9,568,000 15.26%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------


Renewables
Biopower 1,094,275 954,717 2,048,992 0 2,048,992 2,046,485 2,507 0.12%
Open Solicitation 7,573,687 1,651,112 9,224,799 0 9,224,799 9,237,621 (12,822) -0.14%
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 6,453,565 2,638,473 9,092,038 0 9,092,038 9,101,940 (9,902) -0.11%
Utility Scale Projects 38,800 4,556,565 4,595,365 0 4,595,365 4,604,878 (9,513) -0.21%
Wind 3,596,110 2,323,408 5,919,518 0 5,919,518 5,925,759 (6,241) -0.11%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Renewables Costs 18,756,437 12,124,275 30,880,712 0 30,880,712 30,916,683 (35,971) -0.12%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------


  Cost Grand Total 57,200,476 33,384,000 90,584,476 11,293,193 1,170,592 81,772 12,545,557 103,130,033 93,598,004 9,532,029 10.18%







Energy Trust of Oregon
Statement of Functional Expense


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Revised Budget 2008-B-03


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


EXPENSES


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 61,143,822 26,701,468 87,845,290 0 87,845,290
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,434,419 959,023 2,393,442 1,262,860 366,263 1,629,123 4,022,565
Outsourced Services 3,613,817 1,423,226 5,037,043 405,003 422,728 827,731 5,864,774
Planning and Evaluation 1,229,469 277,217 1,506,686 19,738 1,821 21,559 1,528,245
Customer Service Management 760,249 82,384 842,633 0 842,633


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 68,181,777 29,443,319 97,625,096 1,687,601 790,812 2,478,413 100,103,509


Program Support Costs


Supplies 8,761 5,535 14,296 12,053 3,435 15,488 29,784
Postage and Shipping Expenses 21,650 7,306 28,956 5,347 21,381 26,728 55,684
Telephone 1,668 6,538 8,206 2,047 298 2,345 10,551
Printing and Publications 108,666 34,540 143,206 4,736 50,740 55,476 198,682
Occupancy Expenses 82,860 52,352 135,212 60,088 21,137 81,225 216,437
Insurance 23,363 14,761 38,124 16,942 5,960 22,902 61,026
Equipment 4,535 2,865 7,400 16,489 2,357 18,846 26,246
Travel 56,888 60,740 117,628 45,935 7,412 53,347 170,975
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 60,600 37,050 97,650 124,750 14,500 139,250 236,900
Depreciation & Amortization 2,069 1,307 3,376 1,500 528 2,028 5,404
Dues, Licenses and Fees 49,926 5,269 55,195 8,414 5,109 13,523 68,718
Miscellaneous Expenses 608 384 992 541 155 696 1,688
IT Services 1,332,678 220,007 1,552,685 266,276 125,464 391,740 1,944,425


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,754,271 448,657 2,202,928 565,118 258,477 823,595 3,026,523


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 69,936,048 29,891,976 99,828,024 2,252,719 1,049,289 3,302,008 103,130,032


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ===============


PUC performance measure 11%
Administrative plus program support costs 7.1%







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Energy Efficiency Electric Spending by Rate Schedule - 1149 vs 838


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Revised Budget 2008-B-03


PGE PacifiCorp


Total 1149 838 Total 1149 838


  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 31,976,477 $26,964,732 5,011,745 23,219,702 16,770,574 6,449,128
------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------------------------------------------------------


EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 1,647,052 1,428,571 218,480 831,284 650,596 180,689
  Program Delivery 10,386,582 9,012,691 1,373,891 5,975,604 4,655,275 1,320,329
  Incentives 19,879,559 17,329,463 2,550,096 11,214,101 8,945,829 2,268,272
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 1,482,210 1,287,703 194,507 774,463 608,819 165,644
  Program Marketing/Outreach 2,051,893 1,774,525 277,368 949,693 728,779 220,914
  Legal Services
  Program Quality Assurance 82,603 71,781 10,821 40,264 31,763 8,501
  Outsourced  Services 395,260 341,881 53,378 206,732 158,691 48,041
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 355,545 307,276 48,268 141,194 107,907 33,287
  IT Services 691,885 599,021 92,864 322,406 249,078 73,329
  Other Program Expenses 240,556 208,952 31,605 123,290 96,880 26,410


------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 37,213,145 32,361,865 4,851,279 20,579,031 16,233,616 4,345,415


------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------------------------------------------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 839,752 730,278 109,474 464,386 366,327 98,059
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 391,146 340,154 50,992 216,305 170,631 45,674


------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  Total Administrative Costs 1,230,898 1,070,432 160,466 680,692 536,958 143,733


------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM & ADMIN EXPENSES 38,444,043 33,432,298 5,011,745 21,259,723 16,770,574 4,489,148


------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (6,467,566) (6,467,566) 0 1,959,979 0 1,959,980


========== ========= ======== ========== =========== ===========
Net Assets Carried Forward From Prior Years 15,159,080 15,159,080 0 (7,429,746) (7,429,746) 0
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,740,000 0 1,160,000 1,160,000 0


========== ========= ======== ========== =========== ===========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 10,431,514 10,431,514 0 (4,309,767) (6,269,746) 1,959,980


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.
Note 6) Efficiency electric funding as allocated between 1149 and 838 proprtionate to revenue, adjusted for large industrial customers and expenditure of pge 1149 carryover







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Energy Efficiency Electric Spending by Program and Rate Schedule - 1149 vs 838
For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Revised Budget 2008-B-03


PGE Pacific Power


Total 1149 838 Total 1149 838


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 7,339,479 6,342,738 996,741 2,747,249 2,098,748 648,501
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 7,525,308 6,503,330 1,021,978 4,181,721 3,194,606 987,115
Market Transformation (NEEA) 586,900 507,196 79,704 442,750 338,237 104,513


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------
  Total Residential 15,451,687 13,353,264 2,098,423 7,371,720 5,631,591 1,740,129


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 7,732,647 6,682,511 1,050,136 2,501,646 1,911,121 590,525
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 5,709,612 4,934,216 775,396 2,585,398 1,975,103 610,295
Market Transformation (NEEA) 902,093 779,584 122,509 680,527 519,885 160,642


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------
  Total Commercial 14,344,352 12,396,311 1,948,041 5,767,571 4,406,109 1,361,462


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 8,106,795 7,215,016 891,779 7,712,156 6,420,972 1,291,184
Market Transformation (NEEA) 541,205 467,706 73,499 408,278 311,902 96,376


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------
  Total Industrial 8,648,000 7,682,723 965,277 8,120,434 6,732,874 1,387,560


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------
  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 38,444,039 33,432,298 5,011,741 21,259,725 16,770,574 4,489,151


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------







The Energy Trust of Oregon
Capital Purchases


2008
budget


Technology Refresh
Server upgrade and replacement 60,000    
Network Switch Replacement 10,000    
Firewall Replacement 10,000    


Accounting Software 200,000  
CRM Software 75,000    
Software enhancements 20,000    


Total capital purchases 375,000  


2009
Projection


-         
2009, nature of projects to be determined in mid 2008 120,000  


all hardware and software is depreciated over 3 years, straight line







 







 
 


Revised 2008-2009 Action Plan 
Updated April 9, 2008 
 
The 2008-2009 Action Plan has been amended primarily to reflect the addition of 
supplemental electric energy efficiency funding authorized by the Renewable Energy Act 
(SB 838).  
 
I.  INTRODUCTION  
 
Palpable shifts are evident in the environment in which Energy Trust operates. The first is 
broader acceptance that climate change is real and that, as a result, carbon regulation is 
expected. Time previously spent debating scientific evidence about climate change is now shifting 
to how to reduce carbon emissions 80% between now and 2050. A second change is the 
exponential growth in capital investment aimed at clean technology development. Related 
venture capital investments have increased 800% in four years time, with solar being a top 
priority category. Third, renewable energy equipment production is dramatically expanding. 
Demand for wind turbines is outstripping supply, and costs have increased 30% - 50%. The top 
five world wind manufacturers, representing 65% of the market, all are working to increase their 
output by 2010. Global supply of solar photovoltaic (PV) panels is expected to increase four-fold 
by 2010. 
 
We appear to have reached the proverbial tipping point at which energy efficiency and 
renewable energy emerge as positive, viable, centerpiece solutions in a world where carbon 
reduction is a driver. Energy efficiency is seen as the first resource choice—the most available, 
affordable and carbon-neutral option. Like Oregon, other states with system benefit charges are 
pursuing more aggressive ways to acquire all the cost effective energy efficiency available as soon 
as possible. In 2007, Oregon became the 24th state with a renewable portfolio standard, and 
utilities are acquiring more renewable energy projects for their portfolios at a faster rate than 
ever before. The work Energy Trust does buys critical time, building a bridge to a bright and 
innovative energy future that is greener, cleaner and more sustainable. 
 
2007 Energy Trust accomplishments move us further in this direction. Electric savings of 35.2 
aMW significantly exceeded the best case goal of 32.8 aMW. Electric efficiency spending came 
within 83% of the total available budget, with the result that more savings were acquired at 
lower cost. Natural gas savings of 2.25 million annual therms exceeded the conservative 1.8 
million annual therm goal while falling short of the best case goal of 2.4 million annual. Year-end 
renewable energy generation totaled 46.9 aMW, short of results forecasted in the adopted 
budget but nevertheless a dramatic increase over prior years. 
 
As we look forward, heightened consumer awareness and marketplace interest translates to 
high growth in volume and demand for Energy Trust programs and services, for both efficiency 
and renewable energy opportunities.  
 
This revised Action Plan and associated budget assume additional revenues and spending derived 
from utility supplemental energy efficiency plans. As of this writing, Oregon Public Utility 
Commission (OPUC) has approved the plan submitted by Pacific Power, with the plan submitted 
by PGE currently under review. Combined, the two plans are expected to add $11.5 million 
more to the Energy Trust electric energy efficiency budget for 2008, and an anticipated total of 
$23.1 million in 2009. As a result, the amended 2008-2009 action plan and 2008 budget 







2008-2009 Revised Action Plan  April 9, 2008


 


 2


anticipate a new savings range of 24.9-33.2 aMW (previously 21.7-28.9 aMW) in electric energy 
savings and between 1.7 and 2.3 million annual therm savings (previously 1.7-2.2), representing 
the conservative to best case scenarios for both fuels.  
 
OPUC minimum performance measures for 2008 remain under development. The current 
electric performance measure requiring average program levelized cost to be 2.0 cents/kWh is 
expected to increase to a higher level, reflecting a desire to acquire more cost effective savings. 
This amended budget contemplates a range of electric levelized costs from $.022 - $.030/kWh 
levelized. Levelized cost per annual therm, currently at 40 cents, is also expected to increase, 
adjusting for an increase in the discount rate from 3% to 5.2%. New renewable energy 
generation commitments in 2008 are expected to range between 9.5 and 17.3 aMW in new 
generation. 
 
The following sections of the 2008-2009 action plan describe our emphases and strategies 
(section II), followed by detailed program/department descriptions and corresponding budgets 
(section III). The draft 2008 budget is consistent with these themes and approaches. Lastly, a 
summary of 2009 actions is included (section IV).  
 
II. 2008-2009 DRAFT ACTION PLAN HIGHLIGHTS  
 
Growth in demand for Energy Trust services and programs challenge us to acquire more savings 
and generation and to deliver greater benefits over time. Building upon existing programs, the 
2008-2009 action plan is characterized by innovation and diversification. The plan expands into 
both current and new markets, adds insights through new market research, pursues different 
technologies, strengthens existing partnerships while seeking collaboration with new partners, 
and defines different Energy Trust roles. These and other new strategies and approaches are 
intended to build capacity and ultimately achieve more results. 
 
The following specific themes spotlight what to expect in the coming two years:  
 


1. Renewable energy program transition - When the Oregon Renewable Energy Act took 
effect in January 2008, Energy Trust transitioned from programs historically emphasizing 
utility scale development to projects of 20 MW or less. Mature, successful and diverse 
renewable energy programs form a solid foundation for this transition while challenging 
the organization to meet growth in volume and demand across all renewable energy 
programs. 2008-2009 emphases include: 


 
• Fulfill 2007 project commitments and continue to provide diverse project 


opportunities across renewable technologies 
• Meet residential and commercial solar electric demand, with a special emphasis 


on large commercial installation opportunities in PGE service territory 
• Pursue several community scale wind projects  
• Focus on biopower/biogas projects for dairies and municipal sewage/water 


treatment facilities  
• Expand the open solicitation program to incorporate small-scale hydro and 


small geothermal projects 
 
In addition, greater emphasis will be placed on non-profit/public sector opportunities 
using the successful third-party investor financing model. To meet changing customer 
expectations, Energy Trust will provide more technical assistance, market validation and 







2008-2009 Revised Action Plan  April 9, 2008


 


 3


neutral reviews of proposed renewable energy projects. Lastly, with an exclusive role to 
develop smaller projects, Energy Trust anticipates longer lead times and more intensive 
work with customers to secure projects and bring them on line. Energy Trust will 
continue to monitor available funds and, should demand exceed resources, staff will 
work with interested parties on project timing. 
 


2. Energy efficiency program emphases - The amended 2008-2009 action plan and budget are 
designed to capture more savings within existing markets and pursue new initiatives to 
reach more challenging and historically underserved, niche markets. Consistent with the 
resource assessment, the commercial sector holds the greatest market potential for 
accelerating savings and is the first tier for program growth. Overall energy efficiency 
strategies designed to first invest base (SB 1149) public purpose funding will: 


 
• Concentrate on sub-markets for both existing and new commercial buildings, 


including food services, lodging, office buildings, healthcare facilities and 
informational technology (IT) server farms  


• Emphasize lost opportunities, including new small to medium commercial 
construction, focused on the design-build market and integrating renewable 
energy 


• Expanded service to industrial customers, with new staff managing the program 
in-house, resulting in more direct Energy Trust/Program Delivery Contractor 
communication and a new focus on small industrial manufacturing customers 
consuming <1aMW/year 


• Go deeper into residential markets, continuing high value heating, ventilating, 
and air conditioning measures, ENERGY STAR® Home Performance, further 
integrating solar usage through home energy reviews and assessments, and 
renewed concentration in the multifamily/rental market 


 
More research is planned to integrate new energy efficient technologies and measures. 
Investments and field testing will be pursued for high efficiency water heaters, advanced 
residential construction techniques and potentially also for select light-emitting diode 
(LED) applications. In addition, joint marketing of both efficiency and renewable energy 
opportunities is viewed as a key element of the overall strategy to successfully enter 
new markets. 


 
3. Utility Collaboration and Other Partnerships - With the Renewable Energy Act in place, 


Energy Trust expects to coordinate even more closely with PGE and Pacific Power on 
their integrated resource plans (IRPs). This will include regularly engaging utility 
representatives in the design and review of updated Energy Trust resource assessments. 
New market opportunities and corresponding measures/technologies will also be 
identified and pursued. Mutual Energy Trust/utility priorities are expected to be 
reflected in utility IRPs, with Energy Trust acquisition targets and results included for 
both efficiency savings and renewable energy generation. In addition, the following 
important areas will be emphasized as Energy Trust further pursues cooperative 
relationships: 


 
• Interconnection - The smooth and successful integration of smaller renewable 


energy projects into the electric utility grid is of special importance as Energy 
Trust continues to acquire smaller-scale, distributed generation 


• New financial options - These include further exploration of utility bill and other 







2008-2009 Revised Action Plan  April 9, 2008


 


 4


financing options and potential purchase and ownership of efficiency and/or 
renewable energy products where this is critical to establishing viable markets 


• Economic development - As interest in sustainable and green development 
continues, Energy Trust will strengthen its connections with utilities, state, 
regional and local economic development organizations, private investors and 
other organizations committed to sustainability 


 
4. Apply a customer-driven marketing strategy - In 2008 Energy Trust is accelerating the 


evolution of its communications and marketing strategy from a generalized market 
approach (e.g. existing commercial buildings) to a customer-centric approach that also 
targets more specific customer groups and vendors (e.g., dry cleaners and nurseries). 
Beyond the promotion of specific individual programs, this approach will provide 
broader and more comprehensive ways for business and residential customers to 
address their energy opportunities. More in-depth market research, targeted outreach, 
website improvements and trade ally support activities are the keystones to this plan. 
Specific changes will: 


 
• Add new research focused on market segmentation, an annual attitude and 


awareness survey and shared market research with utilities and other entities 
• Increase outreach, using more tailored messages for key target groups  
• Promote sector-wide marketing and communications strategies that work 


across both efficiency and renewable programs 
• Upgrade our website, adding more detailed energy information, interactive 


features and possibly videos 
• Progressively automate on-line program forms and put an easier application 


process in place, further simplifying participation 
• Centralize trade ally administration and support, adding capacity for more 


interaction and feedback, trainings, events and recognition 
 
5. Community energy - Energy Trust has selected Corvallis as the community to test 


whether working with local leaders and organizations in a concentrated manner will 
result in more participation and greater savings and generation at lower cost. Corvallis 
presented a best-case opportunity to explore the full gamut of community-based 
strategies. The amended budget provides additional funding to support activities in 
Corvallis for a well-rounded campaign that launched March 1, 2008, and will continue 
through February 2009. The program entails:  


 
• Partnering with the local grassroots Corvallis Sustainability Coalition, comprised 


of and driven by energetic leaders from 85 community organizations  
• Work closely with NW Natural, Pacific Power, Consumers Power, the mayor, 


and city council on planning and delivery 
 


In addition to the Corvallis focus, Energy Trust will work to engage large employers to 
reach out to employees with information about Energy Trust opportunities through: 
 


• Continued work with Nike to communicate Energy Trust Home Energy Savings 
information on its intranet sustainability site and through employee email 
"blasts" 


• Future participation of larger employers to deliver targeted messages for both 
efficiency and renewables 







2008-2009 Revised Action Plan  April 9, 2008


 


 5


 
6. Continue process improvements - In 2008, Energy Trust will act upon findings and 


recommendations from the IT Enterprise Architecture Study. Such actions will lead to a 
new IT strategic plan with elements that: 


 
• Put a new IT staffing plan in place 
• Re-assess contact management system requirements and software 
• Evaluate current versus alternative accounting and finance packages 
• Develop new system implementation plans  


 
These improvements are intended to further focus IT efforts on those system 
improvements that most benefit both internal and external customers and users. 
Additionally these improvements will provide Energy Trust the flexibility to more 
effectively address the complexities the organization encounters. 


 
7. Incremental energy efficiency funding - This revised action plan, revised budget and 


corresponding updated electric energy savings targets assume incremental funding 
authorized by the Renewable Energy Act (SB 838) from Pacific Power and PGE. The 
OPUC has approved Pacific Power’s request to acquire more cost-effective savings with 
funding above the 3% public purpose rate, and these funds began flowing to Energy 
Trust in February, 2008. PGE has filed for OPUC approval of supplemental funding. For 
the purposes of this revised budget, Energy Trust assumes PGE supplemental funds will 
become available starting in August, 2008. Incorporating incremental funds assumes a 
period of ramp-up and diversification, reaching steady state by 2010. In addition to 
gleaning more savings from existing programs and approaches, the following investments 
are planned: 


 
• With the coordinated participation of utility representatives, accelerate efforts 


to target key sub-sectors of the existing commercial buildings market  
• Expand efforts in small to medium new commercial construction 
• Explore opportunities for zero net energy residential and commercial building 


design 
• Expand market penetration to serve more customers across all sectors 
• Add services for near low-income residential customers (60-80% of federal 


median income levels), expanding multifamily lighting emphasis and investigating 
the addition of new high efficiency technologies such as ductless mini-split heat 
pump units for heating  


• Investigate capturing new energy improvement upgrades and financing 
opportunities at the time when existing residential and commercial buildings are 
sold or leased 


• Expand funding and activity for measures such as lighting, compressed air and 
motor upgrades in specific small industrial segments, such as metal fabrication, 
horticulture and nurseries 


• Add new pilots in the residential sector including refrigerator recycling and 
home energy monitors 


 
 
III. 2008-2009 PROGRAM/DEPARTMENT SUMMARIES AND CORRESPONDING 


BUDGET DETAIL 
 







2008-2009 Revised Action Plan  April 9, 2008


 


 6


The following section includes 1-page, 2-sided descriptions for every program and major 
department, including 2008 revised budget details. This information provides a short descriptive 
statement of purpose, a list of top strategies and actions anticipated, the revised 2008 budget, 
and—where applicable—projected savings/generation.  
 
IV. 2009 PROJECTED HIGHLIGHTS 
   
Energy Efficiency  


• Develop new initiatives to fully utilize any additional revenues made available by utilities 
through the Renewable Energy Act  


• Continue concerted natural gas efficiency marketing, investments and savings acquisition 
• Promote viable new residential technologies such as non-condensing gas water heaters 


as equipment becomes available 
• Begin promotion of the most advantageous niche applications of LED lighting and next 


generation compact fluorescent lighting (CFL) technologies, assuming new products are 
tested and proven reliable  


• Continue to develop the capacity of architects, engineers and developers to integrate 
energy efficient practices into new commercial construction 


• In collaboration with the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA), implement a 
new ENERGY STAR home specification that will be 15% above the 2008 Oregon 
residential code 


• Explore strategies to achieve low- to zero net energy homes and green communities 
• Collaborate with Avista to expand Home Performance with ENERGY STAR in southern 


Oregon 
• Continue to seek opportunities with electric utilities to develop transmission and 


distribution deferral projects 
• By supporting NEEA programs, attract more companies to permanently incorporate 


energy management practices and actions  
• Continue to work with the Consortium for Energy Efficiency and manufacturers to 


encourage the development of new gas appliances to fill market gaps (e.g., condensing 
heat for rooftop commercial space conditioning systems) 


• Accelerate efforts to identify and quantify when we are transforming markets and how 
much we are consequently saving 


  
Renewable Energy  


• Accelerate pursuit of projects of 20 MW or less  
• Monitor utility scale project operation and fulfill ongoing reporting responsibilities 
• Expand the opportunities for more community wind developments  
• Grow the small-scale on-site wind generation initiative 
• Continue to support commercial biomass operations at Warm Springs to come on-line 


in 2009 
• Focus on dairy, wood and innovative waste management biomass projects 
• Support wave power projects if research and development efforts prove out 
• Support more hydro electric developments and expand to small-scale geothermal 
• Examine whether to create a separate hydropower program offering 
• Adjust solar incentives and activities to respond to changes in federal tax credits after 


12/31/08 
• Quantify and demonstrate the value solar energy systems add to Oregon homes 


 







2008-2009 Revised Action Plan  April 9, 2008


 


 7


Other  
• Continue evolving effective communications and marketing strategies that are customer 


centric and go beyond promotion of individual programs 
• Monitor results of the Corvallis community energy pilot and, if successful, replicate the  


approach in one or more other Oregon communities1 
• Focus research and planning on market acceleration and more hard-to-reach markets 
• Begin implementation of financial and contact management systems changes selected in 


2008 
• Begin full implementation of the remainder of the IT strategic plan 
• Update the five-year strategic plan 
• Complete the five-year management audit   


                                                 
1 The Corvallis pilot will continue into 2009 and final evaluation will not be possible until then. 







2008-2009 Revised Action Plan  April 9, 2008


 


 8


                                                


Appendix 1 


Energy Trust of Oregon  
Mission Statement and Strategic Plan Goals  


 


Mission statement: 


 To change how Oregonians produce and use energy by investing in efficient 
technologies and renewable resources that save dollars and protect the environment. 


 


Strategic Plan Goals:  
 


Goal 1: By 2012, deliver programs to help consumers save 300 average 
megawatts (2.6 million annual megawatt hours) of electricity and 21 
million annual therms of natural gas from long-lasting energy efficiency 
measures. Targets are for a weighted average measure life of 14 years 
for electric savings and 20 years for gas savings. 


Goal 2:  Provide 10% of Oregon’s electric energy from renewable resources by 2012, 
(approximately 450 average megawatts for Pacific Power and PGE if Energy 
Trust programs are complemented by state, federal and other policies and 
programs, or 150 average megawatts by Energy Trust effort alone.) 2


Goal 3: Extend energy efficiency and on-site renewable energy programs and benefits to 
underserved consumers.  


Goal 4:  Contribute to the creation of a stable environment in which businesses that  
  promote energy efficiency and renewable energy have the opportunity to  
  succeed and thrive. 


Goal 5:      Encourage and support Oregonians to integrate energy efficiency and renewable 
resources into their daily lives. 


 


 


 
2 Goal 2 was adopted before passage of the Oregon Renewable Energy Act, which takes effect in January 2008. In the 
course of updating the strategic plan during this same year, Energy Trust will revise this goal to reflect our new and 
exclusive focus on renewable energy projects of 20MW or less. 







2008-2009 Revised Action Plan  April 9, 2008


 


 9


Appendix 2  


2008 Anticipated OPUC Energy Trust of Oregon Performance Measures* 
 
 


Category Measures
 


2008 Revised 
Budget 


 


Energy Efficiency 
 


Obtain at least 20 aMW 
computed on three year 
rolling average 
 
Levelized cost not to 
exceed $0.02/KWh 
 


24.9- 33.2 aMW 
 
 
$0.022 - $.030/kwh 
 


Natural Gas 
 


Obtain at least 700,000 
annual therms 
 
Levelized cost not to 
exceed $0.40/therm  
 


1.7-2.3 million annual 
therms 
 
$0.33 - $0.44/therm 
 


Renewable Resource 
Generation 
 


Secure at least 3 aMW 
computed on a three year 
rolling average from small 
scale projects 
 


9.5 – 17.3 aMW 
 
 
 


Financial Integrity 
 


Receive an unqualified 
financial opinion from 
independent auditor on 
annual financial statements
 


Accounting conforms 
with Generally 
Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) 


Administrative and 
Program Support 
Costs 
 


Keep below 11% of annual 
revenue 
 


7.1% 
 


Customer Satisfaction 
 


Achieve reasonable rates 
 


Includes customer 
satisfaction research 
  


Benefit/Cost Ratios 
 


Report both utility system 
and societal perspective 
on an annual basis and 
report significant changes, 
if any, on quarterly 
statements 


 


 
*In light of increased Renewable Energy Act (SB 838) electric efficiency revenues, 
discussions are in progress with OPUC staff regarding increases in electric and gas levelized 
cost performance measures.    







 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: BUSINESS ENERGY SOLUTIONS- PRODUCTION EFFICIENCY SECTOR: INDUSTRIAL 
 


PURPOSE:  Acquire cost-effective electric savings through technical assistance and financial incentives for high-efficiency design and 
equipment in existing and new industrial processes and facilities. Although mostly funded through electric public purpose funding, small 
industrial gas customers on specific tariffs are eligible for gas program services and incentives. Contributes to Strategic Plan goals 1, 3, 4, 5. 


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2008 and 2009. 
Base: 


1. Strengthen direct communications with Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs) and service to program participants through in-
house staffing of the Production Efficiency program. 


2. Deliver program to owners, plant engineers and design process engineers through Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs) assigned 
to key sectors and geographic territories. 


3. Promote program participation through developing a broad offering of services that include detailed technical analysis studies, 
project management assistance, prescriptive premium lighting and high efficiency motor incentives, and custom project incentives. 


4. Develop with board approval, large-scale projects those being mega-projects, that exceed program incentive caps, or combined 
heat and power projects (CHP) to achieve program value through large-scale savings. 


5. Target key decision makers of existing industrial process projects, including owners and Chief Financial Officers 
6. Promote regional collaboration by working with neighboring utilities and complementary organizations to leverage our collective 


resources for energy efficiency in industry 
7. Leverage Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance industrial sector activities to develop projects in targeted industries. 


Incremental: 
8. Target measure offerings to small/medium industrial market through use of trade ally network and semi-prescriptive technology 


specific, incentive calculation tools. 
 


2008 ACTIONS:  
Base: 


1. Promote service delivery and market penetration for small to medium sized industrial customers, focusing on irrigation, dairy, 
nursery, and manufacturing markets. 


2. Expand project commitment pipeline through concentrated PDC outreach efforts 
3. Explore new strategies targeting O&M opportunities, specifically in compressed air and refrigeration systems. 
4. Develop strategies to integrate continuous energy improvement into program offerings 
5. Monitor project commitment level expenditures relative to utility funding territory and adjust PDC marketing to balance revenue 


project funding.  
6. Influence growth in technical analysis skills by expanding the ATAC pool of engineering consultants adept at energy savings analysis 


calculations in the production environment.  
7. Work with NEEA industrial staff to provide a coordinated marketing approach to food processors and pulp and paper companies. 


Incremental 
8. Expand marketing and trade ally support for small to medium sized industrial initiative. 
9. Expand training opportunities for participants through collaboration with regional organizations 
10. Develop additional semi-prescriptive incentive calculation tools for compressed air, boilers, refrigeration, and hydraulic systems to 


support the small industrial initiative. 
 


 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Expand services that will be coordinating efforts with the potential Community Energy and T&D deferral projects. 
2. Focus on delivering lower cost savings opportunities to achieve program delivery goals. 
3. Implement strategies to reduce program management and delivery costs by optimizing PDC deployment. 


 
 
 
 
 
TARGETS:   


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast 11.3$            
2008 Proposed Budget 16.1$            7.29          - 9.72 63,880   - 85,174   2.17$      - 1.63$    0.028$    - 0.021$   
2009 Projection 18.2$            8.44          - 11.26 73,977   - 98,636   2.11$      - 1.59$    0.028$    - 0.021$   


2007 Full-Year Forecast
2008 Proposed Budget 29,177   - 38,903   9.19$      - 6.89$    1.05$     - 0.79$     
2009 Projection 58,354   - 77,806   6.72$      - 5.04$    0.77$     - 0.57$     


3,102                           - - 
Therms $/Therm


Levelized Cost 
($/therm)


Levelized Cost 
($/kWh)


Electric


14.97                                             131,178 $0.75 $0.011 


Gas


Annual 
Electric & 


Gas Expense 
$M aMW MWh $M/aMW


 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


PMC Costs
Program Management $59,499
Delivery 2,524,341 2,885,811 3,084,244
Performance Comp 132,615 58,570 68,567
Incentives 7,351,440 11,420,536 13,309,851


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total PMC Costs 10,067,895 14,364,917 16,462,662


Staffing 221,556 373,543 395,955


Marketing 31,768 95,600 67,568


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 369,765 517,028 469,224
QA-Subcontracted 6,031 30,000 30,900
Customer Service & Trade Ally Support 739 1,285 1,045
Legal Services 1,440
Other Professional Services 325 24,692 25,433


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Other Services 378,299 573,004 526,603


General
General Program Support Costs 22,927 42,240 43,507
Shared 24,172 38,249 30,222
IT Services 101,240 84,487 82,784


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 148,338 164,976 156,513


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 10,847,857 15,572,040 17,609,301


================= ================= =================
Allocated mgmt & general marketing 493,427 515,076 631,593


================= ================= =================
TOTAL EXPENSE, FULLY ALLOCATED 11,341,284 16,087,116 18,240,894


================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Production Efficiency


 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


 
PROGRAM: 


MARKET TRANSFORMATION NORTHWEST ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY ALLIANCE (NEEA) SECTOR: COMMERCIAL


PURPOSE: NEEA funds regional market transformation initiatives in the Northwest region across commercial, industrial and 
residential sectors working in coordination with Energy Trust programs. This budget contemplates leveraging NEEA regional 
market transformation initiatives in the commercial market sector to acquire cost-effective savings while creating sustainable 
and efficient purchasing patterns among commercial consumers.  Contributes to Strategic Plan goals 1, 4, 5 


 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Create and refine business cases for investment in energy efficiency as a profit center for vertically integrated real 


estate firms, hospitals, and grocery chains.  Market to executive management through peer consultants. 
2. Support with technical initiatives to enhance new building construction and operations and maintenance services. 
3. Train vendors to provide efficient services and equipment, focusing on the targeted markets described above. 
4. Support code enhancements based on these successes. 
5. Coordinate marketing efforts with NEEA for energy efficiency opportunities that are currently a focus of Energy Trust 


programs (e.g. high efficiency computer power supplies). 
6. Establish the viability of high efficiency building design, operations and maintenance services, and sales of efficient 


equipment as profitable businesses for vendors through intensive “firm focused” technical support. 


 
2008 ACTIONS:  


1. Continue progress in changing energy related business practices in large hospitals systems and community based 
hospitals by assisting with strategic energy management planning, providing education and training and technical 
assistance. 


2. Follow through with regional grocery store chains on energy management action plans, expand to other regional 
grocers and initiate activities with national grocers when productive. 


3. Initiate energy related business practice change within office real estate by building a strong relationship with the 
Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA), providing education and training, and assisting select firms with 
energy management planning activities. 


4. Advance integrated energy design practices with architects and design engineering firms through three or more firm 
focus relationships, technical assistance on 10 or more projects, and broad based education and training. 


5. Promote better building operating performance with building operators and building service providers through three 
or more firm focus relationships, technical assistance on 10 or more projects, and education and training activities. 


6. Continue to promote high efficiency computer power supplies and , consider other opportunities to improve plug 
load efficiencies and data centers. 


 
 


2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• The NEEA commercial initiative is a multiyear venture.  Over time we can expect more firms to participate and the 


participants to evolve from study, to test cases, to incorporating new practices and actions into their organizational 
structure and directives. 


TARGETS:   


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast 1.6$             
2008 Proposed Budget 1.6$             0.19          - 0.26 1,682    - 2,242     8.24$      - 6.18$    0.092$    - 0.069$   
2009 Projection 1.4$             0.17          - 0.22 1,473    - 1,964     8.28$      - 6.21$    0.092$    - 0.069$   


0.30                                                   2,643 $5.34 $0.060 


Annual 
Electric 


Expense $M


Electric


aMW MWh $M/aMW
Levelized Cost 


($/kWh)


 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


PMC Costs
Delivery $1,519,264 $1,505,797 $1,318,863


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total PMC Costs 1,519,264 1,505,797 1,318,863


Staffing 14,007 4,409 4,673


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 6,915 19,814 19,506


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Other Services 6,915 19,814 19,506


General
General Program Support Costs 933 933
Shared 1,366 311 246
IT Services 684 670


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 1,366 1,928 1,849


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 1,541,551 1,531,948 1,344,891


================= ================= =================


Allocated mgmt & general marketing 70,151 50,672 48,237
================= ================= =================


TOTAL EXPENSE, FULLY ALLOCATED 1,611,702 1,582,620 1,393,128
================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Market Transformation (NEEA) - Commercial


 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: BUSINESS ENERGY SOLUTIONS- NEW BUILDINGS  SECTOR: COMMERCIAL 
 


PURPOSE:  Acquire cost-effective electric and natural gas savings by providing technical assistance and financial incentives for high-
efficiency design and equipment in commercial and industrial new construction and major renovation projects. Contributes to Strategic Plan 
Goals 1, 3, 4, 5 


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2008 and 2009. 
Base: 


1. Bolster pipeline for projects to be completed in 2009 and 2010. 
2. Target decision makers in commercial and industrial new construction projects and major renovations of existing buildings. 
3. Ensure program captures the majority of large projects. 
4. Target architects and engineers by providing tools and resources to assist them in selling their clients on high efficiency design and 


equipment. 
5. Enroll more projects that follow a “design-build” model. 
6. Deliver program directly to owners and developers by utilizing Program Management Contractor (PMC) and a statewide 


comprehensive network of trade allies, leveraging existing market relationships and professional service channels. 
7. Incorporate solar water heating and photovoltaic measures leveraging outreach and management resources. Rely on delivery 


support from Energy Trust solar program staff. 
8. Coordinate with ODOE to package program offerings with Business Energy Tax Credits (BETC). 
9. Leverage Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance commercial sector activities to develop projects in targeted markets. 
10. Encourage projects that will enroll in program to install more efficiency measures. 


Incremental: 
11. Achieve deeper penetration in the market for small and medium-sized construction and major renovation projects. 
12. Create enhanced outreach program utilizing direct calls and emails, referrals, mass emails, cold calls, news releases, direct mailings, 


case studies, advertisements in trade publications, program seminars, sponsorships of events and organizations, web site, articles, 
bill inserts and partnerships with related organizations. 


 
2008 ACTIONS:  
Base: 


1. Release a targeted small and medium sized project development initiative with focused marketing approach. 
2. Work with design community to showcase/incorporate better analytical tools for building design (e.g. continue to host energy 


modeling meetings, update energy modeling tools with Oregon energy code data, develop and incorporate analytical lighting tools 
for new building design). 


3. Continue to develop materials for architects and engineers to promote the program to their clients. 
4. Continue to align with ODOE programs to minimize differences in program requirements (e.g. BETC, SEED, High-Performance 


Schools). 
5. Provide outreach to encourage contractors that use a design-build approach to leverage program opportunities. 
6. Continue to integrate Green Investment Fund projects with program activities. 
7. Unspent incentive dollars budgeted for 2007 are moved into 2008 in anticipation of the program expanding into markets for small 


and medium sized new construction projects and starting to close more of these projects in 2008 
8. Leverage NEEA Better Bricks program for program training and market actor education. 
9. Increase PMC staff for marketing, outreach and technical support. 
10. Offer tiered incentives for custom track and consider methods to encourage cooperation between lighting and mechanical 


contractors. 
Incremental: 


11. Further increase PMC staff for marketing, outreach and technical support. 
12. Add more equipment to the Standard Track incentive list as new measures become available. 
13. Expand ENERGY STAR® program track. 


 
 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Continue to be aggressive at recruiting small and medium size projects. 
2. Continue to successfully recruit large projects into the program. 
3. Educate and enable service providers to deliver energy efficient practices in commercial new construction market. 


 
 


 
TARGETS:   


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast 4.9$             
2008 Proposed Budget 9.7$             2.36          - 3.14 20,641   - 27,521   3.52$      - 2.64$    0.035$    - 0.026$   
2009 Projection 11.7$            3.32          - 4.43 29,102   - 38,803   3.08$      - 2.31$    0.031$    - 0.023$   


2007 Full-Year Forecast
2008 Proposed Budget 277,200 - 369,600 4.97$      - 3.73$    0.44$     - 0.33$     
2009 Projection 351,830 - 469,107 4.16$      - 3.12$    0.37$     - 0.28$     


538,120                       $1.63 $0.14 
Therms $/Therm


Levelized Cost 
($/therm)


Gas


2.59                                                 22,656 $1.57 $0.015 


Annual 
Electric & 


Gas Expense 
$M aMW MWh $M/aMW


Levelized Cost 
($/kWh)


Electric


 
 


 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


PMC Costs
Program Management $32,963 $73,365 $77,033
Delivery 933,134 2,953,135 3,095,589
Marketing-PMC 66,828 89,140
Performance Comp 109,140 100,000 100,000
Incentives 2,707,226 4,563,750 6,462,552


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total PMC Costs 3,849,291 7,779,390 9,735,175


Staffing 132,570 208,284 220,781


Marketing 80,246 237,870 246,264


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 293,705 518,533 479,810
QA-Subcontracted 15,000 15,750
Customer Service & Trade Ally Support 5,366 9,957 9,409
Legal Services 320
Other Professional Services 221,560 352,588 331,217


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Other Services 520,951 896,078 836,186


General
General Program Support Costs 13,013 51,100 53,655
Shared 16,764 23,738 18,756
IT Services 104,529 166,898 163,534


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 134,307 241,736 235,945


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 4,717,365 9,363,359 11,274,351


================= ================= =================
Allocated mgmt & general marketing 214,730 309,712 404,378


================= ================= =================
TOTAL EXPENSE, FULLY ALLOCATED 4,932,095 9,673,071 11,678,729


================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
New Buildings


 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: BUSINESS ENERGY SOLUTIONS- EXISTING BUILDINGS SECTOR: COMMERCIAL 
 


PURPOSE:  Acquire cost-effective electric and natural gas savings by providing technical assistance and financial incentives for high-
efficiency equipment and energy efficient operating practices in existing commercial facilities. Contributes to Strategic Plan goals 1, 3, 4, 5. 


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2008 and 2009. 
Base: 


1. Target decision makers of existing commercial renovation projects including owners and installation contractors. 
2. Deliver program to commercial entities by utilizing Program Management Contractor (PMC) and a statewide comprehensive 


network of trade allies, leveraging existing market relationships and professional service channels. 
3. Maintain and expand successful state-wide Trade Ally Network of installation and technical assistance contractors to further 


deliver program services to the public. 
4. Maintain focus on current target markets- foodservice, lodging, office, healthcare and natural gas equipment. 
5. Incorporate operation and maintenance services and incentives formerly offered by Building Tune-Up and Operations pilot 


program. 
6. Coordinate with ODOE and renewable energy programs to package program offerings. 
7. Leverage Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance commercial sector activities. 
8. PMC will add marketing and technical resources to increase program participation and project throughput.  
9. Expand program offerings geographically by engaging subcontractors in central and southern Oregon. 


 
Incremental: 


10. Expand target markets and target technologies.  
11. Create enhanced outreach and educational program utilizing direct calls and emails, referrals, mass emails, cold calls, news releases, 


direct mailings, case studies, advertisements in trade publications, program seminars, sponsorships of events and organizations, web 
site, articles, bill inserts and partnerships with related organizations. 


 
 


2008 ACTIONS:  
Base: 


1. Add new equipment incentives and develop new outreach strategies for current target markets- foodservice, lodging, office, 
healthcare and natural gas equipment. 


2. Smoothly transition trade ally and allied technical analysis contractors to a more direct relationship with Energy Trust. 
3. Continue to align with ODOE programs to minimize differences in program requirements (e.g. BETC, SEED, High-Performance 


Schools). 
4. Integrate ODOE Business Energy Tax Credits (BETC) forms in incentive offerings to facilitate and streamline application process. 
5. Continue to improve and streamline program rules, forms and participation steps for Trade Allies and participants. 
6. Develop targeted incentives and marketing materials for new markets like commercial laundries, groceries and convenience stores, 


data centers and services and retro-commissioning. 
7. Hire PMC marketing manager to coordinate all marketing and outreach activities. 


 
Incremental: 


1. Pilot tablet-PCs for low-level energy audits 
2. Hire additional PMC technical resources to facilitate and review projects to optimize throughput. 
3. Offer expanded technical and educational resources to trade allies and participants. 


 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Lower acquisition cost of energy savings by streamlining program operations. 
2. Expand into new target markets and target technologies. 


 
TARGETS:   


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast 5.3$             
2008 Proposed Budget 11.9$            3.96          - 5.28 34,670   - 46,226   2.59$      - 1.94$    0.032$    - 0.024$   
2009 Projection 15.9$            4.71          - 6.28 41,250   - 55,000   2.88$      - 2.16$    0.035$    - 0.026$   


2007 Full-Year Forecast
2008 Proposed Budget 428,068 - 570,757 3.84$      - 2.88$    0.37$     - 0.28$     
2009 Projection 562,500 - 750,000 4.06$      - 3.04$    0.39$     - 0.30$     


598,831                       $2.56 $0.28 
Therms $/Therm


Levelized Cost 
($/therm)


Levelized Cost 
($/kWh)


Electric


3.26                                                 28,530 $1.16 $0.017 


Gas


Annual 
Electric & 


Gas Expense 
$M aMW MWh $M/aMW


 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


PMC Costs
Program Management $111,106 $235,316 $383,837
Delivery 742,580 1,696,001 2,428,956
Marketing-PMC 446,492 859,063 1,039,407
Performance Comp (14,098) 100,000 100,000
Incentives 3,202,498 7,016,280 9,949,599


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total PMC Costs 4,488,578 9,906,660 13,901,799


Staffing 175,993 273,391 289,795


Marketing 61,362 199,120 110,750


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 206,270 533,904 500,097
QA-Subcontracted 30,000 30,000
Customer Service & Trade Ally Support 25,884 69,698 64,818
Legal Services 1,088
Other Professional Services 187,588 130,693


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Other Services 233,242 821,189 725,608


General
General Program Support Costs 24,484 64,600 59,600
Shared 20,862 30,373 23,998
IT Services 95,448 204,456 200,335


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 140,794 299,428 283,933


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 5,099,969 11,499,789 15,311,885


================= ================= =================
Allocated mgmt & general marketing 231,329 380,379 549,191


================= ================= =================
TOTAL EXPENSE, FULLY ALLOCATED 5,331,298 11,880,168 15,861,076


================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Existing Buildings


 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: 
MARKET TRANSFORMATION NORTHWEST ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY ALLIANCE (NEEA) SECTOR: RESIDENTIAL


PURPOSE: NEEA funds regional market transformation initiatives in the Northwest region across commercial, industrial and 
residential sectors working in coordination with Energy Trust programs. This budget contemplates leveraging NEEA regional 
market transformation initiatives in the residential market sector to acquire cost-effective savings while creating sustainable 
and efficient purchasing patterns among consumers. Contribute to Strategic Plan goals 1, 4, 5. 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Leverage Energy Trust and NEEA programs to increase delivery support and program incentive offerings. 
2. Coordinate marketing efforts in areas where there are complimentary NEEA and Energy Trust initiatives, in 


particular, ENERGY STAR New Homes. 
3. Work with residential program staff to develop new residential initiatives that provide cost effective market 


transformation results. 
4. Continue the expansion of the market share of ENERGY STAR Northwest Homes, while exploring possibilities for 


more advanced efficient homes. 


 
2008 ACTIONS:  


1. Run regional promotions of ENERGY STAR New Homes in coordination with utility and public purpose provider 
(including Energy Trust) rebates. 


2. Complete demonstrations for advanced technologies in new homes and expand the number of high performance 
homes being built in Oregon in conjunction with Oregon Department of Energy (ODOE), Portland Office of 
Sustainability (OSD) and U.S. Department of Energy (DOE). 


3. Initiate an impact evaluation that will provide an analysis of actual realized savings per ENERGY STAR new home, 
based on homes constructed in 2006-2007. It is assumed that residential new construction building characteristics 
study will serve as a baseline for this impact evaluation. (Energy Trust will leverage their evaluation on this effort.) 


4. Work with residential program staff to identify new opportunities in residential market transformation efforts. 
5. Coordinate Energy Trust program operations with NEEA regional initiatives to maximize overall program 


effectiveness. 


 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• Continue efforts to drive regional progress toward adoption of homes certified to the Northwest ENERGY STAR 


standards.  2009 activities will likely involve raising the Energy Star spec to 15% above the proposed 2008 Oregon code 
and continuing high performance homes efforts. 


• Continued invest in the new residential market transformation opportunities identified in late 2007/early 2008. 


TARGETS:   


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast 1.2$             
2008 Proposed Budget 1.0$             4.11          - 5.47 35,965   - 47,953   0.25$      - 0.19$    0.004$    - 0.003$   
2009 Projection 0.9$             3.61          - 4.81 31,590   - 42,120   0.25$      - 0.19$    0.005$    - 0.003$   


$0.004 


Annual 
Electric 


Expense $M


Electric


aMW MWh $M/aMW
Levelized Cost 


($/kWh)
6.03                                                 52,785 $0.20 


 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


PMC Costs
Delivery $1,130,030 $948,711 $833,320


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total PMC Costs 1,130,030 948,711 833,320


Staffing 3,278 11,677 12,378


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 9,680 32,376 31,872


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Other Services 9,680 32,376 31,872


General
General Program Support Costs 933 933
Shared 300 933 737
IT Services 2,052 2,011


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 300 3,918 3,681


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 1,143,287 996,683 881,251


================= ================= =================
Allocated mgmt & general marketing 52,029 32,967 31,606


================= ================= =================
TOTAL EXPENSE, FULLY ALLOCATED 1,195,316 1,029,650 912,857


================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Market Transformation (NEEA) - Residential


 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: HOME ENERGY SOLUTIONS- NEW HOMES/PRODUCTS SECTOR: RESIDENTIAL 


 
PURPOSE:  Program targets lost energy efficiency opportunities in the residential sector. Provide the residential new home market with 
services and incentives with focus on EPA ENERGY STAR® regional specifications, reaching home buyers, builders, multifamily developers, 
and manufacturers of pre-fabricated homes. Overcome market barriers to the purchase of energy efficient products through product 
incentives, consumer awareness and education, focusing on ENERGY STAR label and corresponding benefits of products and services that 
display it. Contributes to Strategic Plan goals 1, 3, 4, 5. 


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2008 and 2009. 
Base: 


1. Deliver program to customers and builders by utilizing Program Management Contractor (PMC) and a statewide comprehensive 
network of trade allies, leveraging existing market relationships and professional service channels. 


2. Provide market support (e.g., building diagnostics and equipment installation support, market-based verifier oversight, training, co-
op marketing funds, retailer training, lighting support, and outreach to industry organizations). 


3. Develop and implement elements to overcome barriers (e.g., education, lighting, HVAC, solar). 
4. Provide incentives (e.g., homes, stand-alone measures, clothes washers, light bulbs, duct sealing, commissioning (Cx)). 
5. Conduct marketing to create consumer demand (e.g., ads, website, education, trade shows, and school outreach). 
6. Move the market preparedness for the next generation of high performance homes.  
7. Leverage Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) residential sector activities.  
8. Leverage other related programs and organizations (e.g., Earth Advantage, NEEM, home builder associations). 


Incremental: 
9. Provide incentives to further promote energy efficient lighting. 
10. Collaborate with regional and national market actors to introduce and incent new energy efficient products.  
 


 
2008 ACTIONS:  
Base: 


1. Increase market share and long-term viability of ENERGY STAR homes in the new construction market place, ENERGY STAR 
refrigerators and 2.0 MEF clothes washers in the appliance marketplace, and energy efficient lighting (specialty CFLs, LED can lights, 
and appropriate application of CFLs in new construction lighting packages). 


2. Provide incentives for ENERGY STAR single and multi-family homes, gas furnaces, zonal electric homes, heat pumps, 
commissioning and/or duct sealing for heat pumps, manufactured homes, tankless hot water heaters, refrigerators, and clothes 
washer incentives on ultra-high efficiency models (2.0+ MEF). 


3. Recruit new builders and help them prepare for the code change to take place in 2008. 
4. Provide technical guidance, training, incentives, and promotions to support high performance homes (e.g., HPH “challenge”, design 


training and assistance, solar integration, community specs). 
5. Provide performance testing and duct sealing training to HVAC installers. 
6. Promote energy efficient lighting through the spring and fall BPA specialty bulb buy down, the school fundraiser, and the on-line 


home energy analyzer. 
7. Continue technical school outreach initiative. 
8. Provide training to PV and solar water system installers through a partnership with Solar Oregon and OSEIA. 


Incremental: 
9. Implement specialty CFL buy downs, LED can lights for kitchens with dimmers, and fixture and CFL packages for new homes. 


 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Maintain new home market transformation efforts while increasing focus on alternative strategies toward achieving 
low-energy homes and green communities. 


2. Increase installations of solar thermal systems and provide support for direct application renewable strategies.  
3. Begin promoting LED lighting options and next generation CFL technologies. 
4. Promote new viable technologies (e.g., heat pump water heaters, non-condensing gas water heaters). 


TARGETS:   


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast 9.5$             
2008 Proposed Budget 14.1$            3.86          - 5.14 33,772   - 45,030   3.04$      - 2.28$    0.049$    - 0.037$   
2009 Projection 17.4$            4.55          - 6.06 39,830   - 53,107   3.30$      - 2.48$    0.053$    - 0.040$   


2007 Full-Year Forecast
2008 Proposed Budget 288,874 - 385,165 8.43$      - 6.32$    0.61$     - 0.45$     
2009 Projection 338,791 - 451,721 7.11$      - 5.33$    0.51$     - 0.38$     


336,588                       $5.37 $0.40 
Therms $/Therm


Levelized Cost 
($/therm)


Gas


4.59                                                 40,171 $1.68 $0.028 


Annual 
Electric & 


Gas Expense 
$M aMW MWh $M/aMW


Levelized Cost 
($/kWh)


Electric


 


 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


PMC Costs
Program Management $400,316 $562,630 $583,530
Delivery 2,657,480 4,633,291 6,134,174
Marketing-PMC 908,608 865,167 949,254
Performance Comp 214,609 100,000 75,000
Incentives 4,105,888 6,006,763 7,555,409


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total PMC Costs 8,286,900 12,167,851 15,297,368


Staffing 145,480 259,770 275,357


Marketing 63,962 151,620 155,308


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 227,454 460,588 473,188
QA-Subcontracted 37,230 8,000 20,000
Customer Service & Trade Ally Support 34,176 99,407 146,364
Legal Services 2,912
Other Professional Services 16,222 76,995 15,495


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Other Services 317,993 644,991 655,046


General
General Program Support Costs 9,954 49,750 34,500
Shared 20,371 29,542 23,342
IT Services 252,378 385,766 377,991


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 282,704 465,058 435,833


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 9,097,040 13,689,289 16,818,911


================= ================= =================
Allocated mgmt & general marketing 415,888 452,800 603,246


================= ================= =================
TOTAL EXPENSE, FULLY ALLOCATED 9,512,928 14,142,089 17,422,157


================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
New Homes & Products


 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 
080310   


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: HOME ENERGY SOLUTIONS- EXISTING HOMES  SECTOR: RESIDENTIAL 


 
PURPOSE:  Acquire cost-effective electric and gas savings by providing energy efficiency services and incentives for existing single-family, 
multifamily and manufactured homes. Contributes to Strategic Plan goals 1, 3, 4, 5. 


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2008 and 2009. 
Base: 


1. Offer incentives for a wide variety of efficiency measures for single-family, multifamily, and manufactured homes. 
2. Offer an online home energy analyzer to Energy Trust public purpose funding contributors. 
3. Provide home energy reviews to customers in areas served by the Energy Trust of Oregon. 
4. Work with utility funders to create promotions targeted to their customers. 
5. Leverage manufacturer and community based partnerships in delivering energy efficiency. 
6. Fully integrate the assessment and processing of Solar Hot Water applications. 
7. Coordinate with ODOE to reward participants in the State Home Weatherization Program (SHOW) from Energy Trust service 


territories with compact fluorescent light bulbs.  
8. Establish realtors as a new trade ally for the program. 
9. Continue growth of Home Performance with ENERGY STAR®, a comprehensive, whole-house approach to single family residential 


energy efficiency that utilizes diagnostic equipment and generates a home analysis assessment.  
Incremental: 


10. Offer lower interest financing/increased incentive structure as an option for median income customers thru Assisted Home 
Performance program. 


11. Add more services and/or device installations to home energy reviews with goal to move customers to measure installation, 
resulting in greater savings. 


 
2008 ACTIONS:  
Base: 


1. Expand the number of trade allies participating in the Home Performance program in southern and eastern Oregon. 
2. Effectively leverage utility and manufacturer promotional activities.  
3. Engage in promotional activities with gas utilities to promote efficient gas furnaces and other efficient gas applications. 
4. Conduct solar potential studies on residential homes and process solar hot water applications, with a goal to increase the number 


of solar thermal installations.  
5. Sponsor events with Oregon Remodeling Association, Affordable Comfort, Building Performance Institute, the Remodelers 


Council and other organizations that support activities of trade allies. 
6. Provide full program services to Cascade service territory including Home Performance with ENERGY STAR.  
7. Provide approximately 12,000 CFLs to State Home Oil Weatherization (SHOW) customers. 
8. Pursue more opportunities for gas efficiency measures. 
9. Conduct a Blue Line behavioral monitor pilot. 
10. Evolve multifamily program services to focus on high value measures such as common area lighting, appliances and HVAC. 
11. Develop and conduct a pilot with the City of Portland that focuses on messaging energy efficiency and greenhouse gas mitigation 


through EPC and carbon labels that communicate how a homeowner can improve energy efficiency and reduce the home’s carbon 
foot print. 


12. Work with OR Housing & Community Services to pilot solar hot water systems installations to low income homes  
13. Develop near-low income (60-80% median) outreach strategy and implement in last quarter of 2008. 


Incremental: 
14. Expand refrigerator replacement pilot efforts to other areas with incremental funds including Roseburg and Corvallis.  
15. Assess effectiveness of heat pump commissioning for a programmatic offering.  
16. Investigate large scale early refrigerator retirement effort for entire region not limited by income. 
17. Fund educational “living wise” materials for student initiated residential direct installs in elementary / Jr. High curricula.  


2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
1. Continued focus on multifamily lighting and appliances related projects. 
2. Continue delivery activities commensurate with incremental funding levels employing flexible initiatives established to spend funding 


as needed. 
3. Continue collaboration efforts with Avista to expand Home Performance with ENERGY STAR in southern Oregon.  


 
 
 
 
 
 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


TARGETS:   


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast 11.3$            
2008 Proposed Budget 16.9$            2.31          - 3.08 20,227   - 26,970   4.37$      - 3.28$    0.036$   - 0.027$   
2009 Projection 15.7$            1.97          - 2.63 17,249   - 22,998   4.38$      - 3.28$    0.035$   - 0.026$   


2007 Full-Year Forecast
2008 Proposed Budget 711,220 - 948,293 9.59$      - 7.19$    0.65$     - 0.48$     
2009 Projection 677,934 - 903,913 10.47$    - 7.85$    0.69$     - 0.52$     


771,587                       $7.12 $0.48 
Therms $/Therm


Levelized Cost 
($/therm)


Levelized Cost 
($/kWh)


Electric


2.20                         19,246 $2.64 $0.023 


Gas


Annual 
Electric & 


Gas Expense 
$M aMW MWh $M/aMW


  


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


PMC Costs
Program Management $417,530 $533,603 $574,267
Delivery 2,199,633 3,778,547 3,637,557
Marketing-PMC 391,055 855,969 964,955
Performance Comp 172,246 100,000 75,000
Incentives 5,983,927 8,307,639 7,425,576


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total PMC Costs 9,164,390 13,575,759 12,677,356


Staffing 239,012 298,935 316,871


Marketing 386,510 303,240 257,615


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 299,047 666,217 603,901
QA-Subcontracted 57,208 80,000 85,000
Customer Service & Trade Ally Support 249,738 579,903 567,682
Legal Services 8,512
Other Professional Services 12,059 260,168 76,575


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Other Services 626,564 1,586,288 1,333,158


General
General Program Support Costs 111,895 77,775 77,325
Shared 32,267 34,208 27,028
IT Services 251,107 487,651 477,823


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 395,268 599,634 582,176


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 10,811,744 16,363,857 15,167,176


================= ================= =================
Allocated mgmt & general marketing 488,945 541,267 544,001


================= ================= =================
TOTAL EXPENSE, FULLY ALLOCATED 11,300,689 16,905,124 15,711,177


================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Existing Homes


 


080310   







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: 
MARKET TRANSFORMATION NORTHWEST ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY ALLIANCE (NEEA) SECTOR: INDUSTRIAL


PURPOSE: NEEA funds regional market transformation initiatives in the Northwest region across commercial, industrial and 
residential sectors working in coordination with Energy Trust programs. This budget contemplates leveraging the NEEA 
regional market transformation initiatives in the industrial market sector through the Industrial Efficiency Alliance program 
(IEA) to acquire cost-effective savings while creating sustainable and efficient purchasing patterns among industrial consumers. 
Contribute to Strategic Plan goals 1, 4, 5 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Focus efforts in the pulp and paper and food processing “vertical” markets. 
2. Offer Continuous Energy Improvement (CEI) as the business practice change initiative that leads to energy efficient 


actions. 
3. Facilitate the companies engaged in the CEI process through support in energy related organizational structure 


development, technical support, employee development and energy indicators. 
4. Market program efforts through peer organizations and their readily available publications, trade shows, executive-


level meetings and committees. 
5. Leverage Energy Trust and utility resources to increase delivery outreach, support and program incentive offerings. 
 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Capitalize on NEEA’s partnership with the Northwest Food Processors Association to gain access to targeted, 


strategic food processing firms and to provide executive level support for setting an industry-wide energy efficiency 
goal. 


2. Move companies engaged with the Industrial Efficiency Alliance through the CEI process in a manner that allows them 
to reach their energy efficiency goals. 


3. Enhance the process for facility level measurement and reporting of energy key performance indicators (KPI’s). 
4. Coordinate NEEA’s offerings and staff with Energy Trust outreach, technical studies and incentives, to help tie sound 


energy management to resource acquisition. 


 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• The NEEA industrial initiative is a multi-year venture.  Over time we can expect more firms to participate and the 


participants to permanently incorporate energy management practices and actions into their organizational structure and 
directives. 


TARGETS:   


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast 0.9$             
2008 Proposed Budget 0.9$             0.81          - 1.07 7,054    - 9,405     1.18$      - 0.88$    0.018$    - 0.013$   
2009 Projection 0.9$             0.72          - 0.96 6,299    - 8,399     1.19$      - 0.89$    0.018$    - 0.013$   


Annual 
Electric 


Expense $M


Electric


aMW MWh $M/aMW
Levelized Cost 


($/kWh)
1.30                                                 11,432 $0.71 $0.011 


 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


PMC Costs
Delivery $871,477 $894,737 $798,965


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total PMC Costs 871,477 894,737 798,965


Staffing 2,898 4,409 4,673


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 9,680 18,009 17,728


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Other Services 9,680 18,009 17,728


General
General Program Support Costs 933 933
Shared 243 311 246
IT Services 684 670


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 243 1,928 1,849


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 884,299 919,083 823,216


================= ================= =================
Allocated mgmt & general marketing 40,242 30,400 29,526


================= ================= =================
TOTAL EXPENSE, FULLY ALLOCATED 924,541 949,483 852,742


================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Market Transformation (NEEA) - Industrial


 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: BIOPOWER     


PURPOSE:  Acquisition of significant amounts of renewable energy from wood-fired and other biomass 
generation; and development of markets for less mature energy resources such as dairy manure and forest 
biomass.   


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Perform targeted market analyses where necessary to fill in knowledge gaps. 
2. Focus on sawmills and facilities using other sources of wood waste to acquire significant quantities of renewable 


energy. 
3. Target upgrades at existing wastewater treatment plants to build capacity in PGE territory, and explore opportunities 


at such facilities in Pacific Power territory.  Work with Energy Trust’s energy efficiency programs and create strategic 
partnerships with local and regional trade associations.  


4. In partnership with Oregon Dairy Farmers Association and OSU Dairy Extension Office, assist dairy community in 
exploring project opportunities and initiating project development.  Coordinate offerings with Energy Trust efficiency 
programs. 


5. Seek opportunities to position biogas projects as innovative waste management solutions receiving mixed waste 
streams including food processing waste, animal byproducts, human wastewater, manure and other organic material. 


6. Offer cost-shared support for feasibility analyses to help potential applicants identify opportunities, where possible by 
leveraging other sources of funding (e.g., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Western Governors’ Association and the 
Oregon Economic and Community Development Department). 


7. Where appropriate, provide facilities that lack technical resources with assistance in applying for Energy Trust or 
other funding. 


8. Remain engaged in forest biomass, participating in state initiatives while continuing to engage the Lake County 
Initiative and Warm Springs Biomass efforts. 


 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Begin commercial operation at Rough & Ready and Columbia Blvd. projects. 
2. Roll out Dairy Initiative, including standard financial incentive offer. 
3. Develop strategic partnership with wastewater sector, and explore potential for an “Energy Independence” campaign 


for wastewater treatment plants based on best efficiency practices and onsite generation. 
4. Commit funding for 8 projects, totaling 4.00 – 9.31 aMW, and 12 feasibility studies. 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Begin commercial operation at Warm Springs Biomass. 
2. Scale down standard WWTP.  Focus on dairy, wood and innovative waste management projects (which could include 


WWTPs). 
 


TARGETS:  


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast $0.5
2008 Proposed Budget $10.9 4.00 - 9.31 35,068   - 81,553      2.71$        - 1.17$    
2009 Projection $3.3 0.55 - 1.62 4,817     - 14,186      5.96$        - 2.02$    


-                                                       -  


Energy Generation
Annual Electric 


Activity $M
aMW MWh $M/aMW


 


(see budget details on reverse) 
Note: Budget figures include dedicated funds 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Program Management Costs
Incentives $177,996 $1,132,815 $3,687,500


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Management Costs 177,996 1,132,815 3,687,500


Staffing 146,069 263,174 278,964


Marketing 24,114 34,650 29,150


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 19,730 116,005 100,884
QA-Subcontracted 6,600 19,500
Legal Services 11,278 26,250 17,500
Other Professional Services 38,058 299,400 208,100


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Other Services 69,066 448,255 345,984


General
General Program Support Costs 8,671 28,000 13,750
Shared 15,793 23,841 18,837
IT Services 28,880 52,653 51,592


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total General 53,344 104,494 84,179


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 470,589 1,983,388 4,425,777


================= ================= =================


Allocated mgmt & general marketing 21,145 65,604 158,739
================ ================ ================


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 491,734 2,048,992 4,584,516
================ ================ ================


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future years -                            8,802,185 (1,307,500)


================ ================ ================
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 491,734 10,851,177 3,277,016


================ ================ ================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Biopower


 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: OPEN SOLICITATION 


PURPOSE: Develop a portfolio of market-defining installations, each element of which demonstrates a new application, 
technology or business model not otherwise covered by Energy Trust programs, provides insight on whether and how to 
launch new, technology-specific Energy Trust programs, and/or secures a low-cost renewable energy resource. Contributes to 
Energy Trust strategic goals 2, 3 and 5. 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Offer a program to help ensure that eligible good ideas do not “fall through the cracks.” 
2. Focus on outreach and lead generation, particularly for hydro and geothermal projects. 
3. Make funds available for feasibility studies.  When possible, work in concert with the Oregon Economic and 


Community Development Department’s Renewable Energy Feasibility Fund (REFF). 
4. Conduct specific outreach to municipalities in the PGE service territory to develop municipal hydro projects. 
5. Assist selected applicants in further developing proposals. 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Complete approved projects. 
2. Complete evaluations of existing applications for a geothermal project, hydro project, and other applications that 


arrive late in 2007. 
3. Conduct an RFP for feasibility studies for municipal hydro projects. 
4. Provide assistance to enable more municipalities in the PGE service territory to apply for funding from REFF and to 


help municipalities in PAC territory file more successful applications. 
5. Continue outreach and communication work to municipalities to build the pipeline and to make sure we are aware of 


projects that may be coming in.   
6. Determine what role, if any, Energy Trust will play in development of wave power projects. 


 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Fund projects that result from feasibility studies conducted in 2007 and 2008. 
2. Support wave power project(s) based on information gathered in 2008. 
3. Examine possibilities for “spinning off” hydropower into its own program. 


TARGETS:   
Annual Electric 


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast $0.5
2008 Proposed Budget $9.0 2.07 - 3.18 18,097      - 27,842        4.34$        - 2.82$     
2009 Projection $2.8 0.57 - 0.88 5,012     - 7,711        4.91$        - 3.19$    


0.01                                     50 54.43
aMW MWh $M/aMW


Energy Generation


 


(see budget details on reverse) 
Note: Budget figures include dedicated funds 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Program Management Costs
Delivery $60,000
Incentives 238,590 8,188,635 2,338,627


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Management Costs 238,590 8,248,635 2,338,627


Staffing 110,245 220,603 233,839


Marketing 4,596 22,500 48,300


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 10,320 80,829 93,819
QA-Subcontracted 20,000 20,000
Legal Services 2,912 30,000
Other Professional Services 114,652 203,500 200,150


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Other Services 127,884 334,329 313,969


General
General Program Support Costs 2,516 29,200 33,600
Shared 13,695 23,116 18,265
IT Services 22,886 51,057 50,028


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total General 39,097 103,373 101,893


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 520,412 8,929,440 3,036,628


================= ================= =================


Allocated mgmt & general marketing 23,909 295,359 108,915
================ ================ ================


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 544,321 9,224,799 3,145,543
================ ================ ================


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future years -                              (264,500) (338,626)


================ ================ ================
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 544,321 8,960,299 2,806,917


================ ================ ================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Open Solicitation


 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: SOLAR ELECTRIC (PHOTOVOLTAIC) 


PURPOSE:  Transform the solar electric market for all sectors in Oregon by expanding participation, providing quality 
standards and ensuring there is a strong qualified installer base for consumers. Contributes to Energy Trust goals 2, 3 and 5. 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Leverage increased state and strong federal tax benefits for businesses to expand the commercial sector. 
2. Support 3rd party ownership model to expand into high visibility nonprofit/government sector. 
3. Provide quality standards for consumers to rely on. 
4. Foster growth in the installer base to maintain balance between local supply and demand. 
5. Expand market opportunities to include homebuilders and commercial architects/engineers. 
6. Leverage City of Portland Solar Now! campaign to increase participation in PGE territory. 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Expand market opportunities: 


a) Offer project support for governments and nonprofits seeking 3rd party investors. 
b) Establish guidelines for Energy Trust participation in large (1-2+ MW) solar projects. 
c) Offer intensive support for selected home builders.  Promote successful solar home developments.   
d) Cross promote solar with all energy efficiency programs, coordinate targeted customer sector outreach. 


2. Maintain high level of publicity for solar.  Continue targeted outreach to PGE customers: 
a) Continue effective solar workshops (outsourced to Solar Oregon), primarily in PGE territory. 
b) Develop new messages based on 2007 focus group results. 
c) Work with Solar Now! to promote commercial solar through established business groups/networks. 
d) Continue support for solar home tours, Green + Solar magazine and NW Solar Expo. 
e) Continue coop ad incentives for trade allies. 


3. Expand the installer base: 
a) Increase installer training available locally (outsourced to OSEIA); continue to promote best installation practices. 
b) Build relationships with large national integrators, including 3rd party owners, moving into Oregon. 
c) Encourage growth in residential installer base by sponsoring expansion of LRT apprenticeship program. 
 


 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Adjust incentives and activities to respond to changes in federal tax credits after 12/31/08. 
2. Manage incentive levels to provide predictable and stable market with equity between sectors. 
3. Strive to quantify and demonstrate the value that solar energy systems add to a home in Oregon’s market. 


TARGETS:   
Annual Electric 


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast $2.5
2008 Proposed Budget $9.1 0.47 - 0.62 4,106       - 5,475          19.40$      - 14.55$   
2009 Projection $5.5 0.35 - 0.47 3,090     - 4,120        15.47$      - 11.60$  


0.15                                                 1,289  16.65 
aMW MWh $M/aMW


Energy Generation


 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Program Management Costs
Delivery $63,309 $39,500 $40,685
Incentives 1,749,537 7,782,118 4,257,500


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Management Costs 1,812,846 7,821,618 4,298,185


Staffing 169,574 251,442 266,529


Marketing 191,694 209,600 192,157


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 16,343 109,375 106,171
Customer Service & Trade Ally Support 30,826 82,384 72,136
Legal Services 1,760
Other Professional Services 59,823 173,300 182,104


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Other Services 108,752 365,059 360,411


General
General Program Support Costs 18,543 55,750 60,641
Shared 26,534 30,373 23,998
IT Services 39,959 67,088 65,736


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total General 85,036 153,211 150,375


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 2,367,902 8,800,930 5,267,657


================= ================= =================


Allocated mgmt & general marketing 129,101 291,108 188,934
================ ================ ================


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 2,497,003 9,092,038 5,456,591
================ ================ ================


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future years -                              -                              -                              


================ ================ ================
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 2,497,003 9,092,038 5,456,591


================ ================ ================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Solar Electric (Photovaltaic)


 
 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: UTILITY-SCALE PROJECTS 


PURPOSE:    Large-scale acquisition 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:  
  


1. Phase out the program per SB 838 and focus on projects of 20 MW and less. 


2008 ACTIONS:  
 


1. Finish out current funding contracts for Biglow Canyon and GoodNoe Hills wind projects including reporting, 
review and inspection obligations. 


2. Monitor projects over time. 
3. Fulfill ongoing reporting responsibilities.   


2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
 


1. Monitor projects over time. 
2. Fulfill ongoing reporting responsibilities. 


TARGETS:   
Annual Electric 


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast $6.4
2008 Proposed Budget $0.2 0.00 - 0.00 - - - - - -
2009 Projection $0.0 0.00 - 0.00 - - - - - -


46.77                             409,742 0.14
aMW MWh $M/aMW


Energy Generation


(see budget details on reverse) 
Note: Budget figures include dedicated funds


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Program Management Costs
Incentives $6,000,000 $4,373,000


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Management Costs 6,000,000 4,373,000 0


Staffing 70,516 7,112 7,539


Marketing 6,400


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 15,212
Legal Services 9,879
Other Professional Services 54,714 50,500 27,200


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Other Services 79,805 50,500 27,200


General
General Program Support Costs 4,242 9,560 5,600
Shared 6,823 518 410
IT Services 15,257 1,140 1,117


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total General 26,322 11,218 7,127


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 6,176,643 4,448,230 41,866


================= ================= =================


Allocated mgmt & general marketing 258,283 147,135 1,502
================ ================ ================


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 6,434,926 4,595,365 43,368
================ ================ ================


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future years -                              (4,373,000) -                              


================ ================ ================
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 6,434,926 222,365 43,368


================ ================ ================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Utility Scale


 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


PROGRAM: WIND 


PURPOSE:  Expansion of the opportunities for wind from the current market models, transforming markets to bring 
development and construction of distributed generation and projects of varying, smaller sizes and alternative ownership 
models. Contributes to Strategic Plan goals 3, 4, 5 & 6. 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Confirm sufficient wind resources through anemometer loans and support for Oregon State University’s wind 


monitoring lab. 
2. Provide simplified wind resource tool for small wind. 
3. Develop financial and business models to help rural Oregon communities and landowners become project sponsors. 
4. Define a standard incentive offer or open solicitation to seed market development. 
5. Build the pipeline of future projects, partnering with USDA on feasibility grants and analyses. 
6. Break down knowledge barriers by providing consolidated, Oregon-specific information for project sponsors. 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Bring to fruition 1-2 community wind projects. 
2. Identify 2-3 PGE 10 MW projects for 2009. 
3. Continue the expanded anemometer loan program to support community wind with data analysis and taller 


anemometers for the tier-two projects from the 2006 RFP. 
4. Provide support for additional feasibility studies to continue building the pipeline of potential Community Wind 


projects. 
5. Distribute the second edition of the Community Wind Guidebook. 
6. Continue to partner with ODOE to gain federal co-funding of projects and studies. 
7. Partner with Oregon farm groups and state agencies to co-promote the program. 
8. Conduct one in-depth case study with financial fact sheet. 
9. Address transmission and distribution barriers to bring BPA and Co-op wind resources to PGE. 
10. Continue providing the industry with support to address interconnection issues. 
11. Provide incentives for 7-10 small wind projects. 
12. Evaluate the effectiveness of using wind map data for evaluating wind resources for small wind. 
13. Expand the number of small wind contractors participating in the Small Wind Trade Ally network. 
14. Hold 2-3 Small Wind Trade Ally training sessions. 
15. Hold 2-3 Small Wind Workshops to give information for interested participants. 


 
2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Have a fully operational program for community wind development with standard incentive or open solicitation. 
2. Implement program revisions based on 2007/2008 experience. 
3. Bring projects to fruition that were proposals in 2006 and 2007. 
4. Grow the small-scale on-site generation program. 


TARGETS:   
Annual Electric 


Year
2007 Full-Year Forecast $0.4
2008 Proposed Budget $5.9 2.92 - 4.17 25,558      - 36,512        2.03$        - 1.42$     
2009 Projection $3.4 1.87 - 2.67 16,349    - 23,356      1.81$        - 1.26$    


aMW MWh $M/aMW
0.00                                     -  


Energy Generation


 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


 
 
 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Program Management Costs
Delivery $53,265 $98,000 $95,000
Incentives 39,571 5,027,400 2,553,000


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Management Costs 92,836 5,125,400 2,648,000


Staffing 168,704 216,691 229,693


Marketing 3,207 18,550 54,150


Other Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 40,591 109,008 92,027
Legal Services 1,291 45,500
Other Professional Services 27,633 123,100 131,500


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Other Services 69,515 277,608 223,527


General
General Program Support Costs 10,617 21,900 33,950
Shared 21,033 21,768 17,199
IT Services 27,063 48,070 47,101


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total General 58,713 91,738 98,250


================= ================= =================
PROGRAM DIRECT COSTS 392,975 5,729,987 3,253,620


================= ================= =================


Allocated mgmt & general marketing 22,536 189,531 116,698
================ ================ ================


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 415,511 5,919,518 3,370,318
================ ================ ================


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future years -                              -                              -                              


================ ================ ================
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 415,511 5,919,518 3,370,318


================ ================ ================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expense


2008 Budget
Wind


 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


DEPARTMENT: PLANNING AND EVALUATION ALL PROGRAMS 


PURPOSE:  To provide strategic and quantitative planning, reporting, and evaluation for Energy Efficiency and Renewable 
Resources. Contributes to all Energy Trust Strategy goals. 


STRATEGY:   
1. Assess and prioritize new ideas and directions for meeting the evolving efficiency and renewable energy missions. 
2. Increase program success by developing and coordinating enhanced market research capabilities. 
3. Provide program design staff with expert feedback to enhance programs from evaluations and market studies. 
4. Expand the list of qualifying prescriptive measures, including an increasing number of technology field tests. 
5. Work with utilities to plan for additional efficiency funding and coordinate renewable energy activities through the 


integrated resource planning processes. 
6. With utilities, explore and coordinate community-based efficiency opportunities and EE/RE options to defer transmission 


and distribution investments. 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Work with utilities to streamline access to customer information. 
2. Develop market intelligence data set 
3. Develop demographic data sets for market research focused on customer targeting. 
4. Support and coordinate program-initiated market research focused on refining customer offerings and messaging. 
5. Continue to use evaluations as pivotal market intelligence assets and to report accomplishments and refine programs. 
6. Work regionally and nationally to harmonize approaches to markets and bring important new technologies forward. 
7. Work with NW Natural to assess the hedge value of gas efficiency against volatility and high prices. 
8. Complete market transformation analyses for additional markets to assess the relationship between Energy Trust goals 


and market transformation.  
 


2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• Focus on market acceleration and more hard-to-reach markets. 


TARGETS:  
Annual Expense


$M
2007 Full-Year Forecast 1.5$                                                  
2008 Proposed Budget 3.2$                                                  
2009 Projection 3.0$                                                  


Year


 
 


(see budget on reverse side of page) 
 


 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Department P&E
Evaluation Services 652,412 1,425,000 1,170,000
Planning Services 125,529 250,000 335,000


----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -----------------------------------
Total P&E Department, non-general (no 777,941 1,675,000 1,505,000


General P&E
Evaluation Services 48,284 231,000 172,000
Planning Services 14,102 133,000 142,000
Staffing 512,369 844,723 895,406
Other Services 5,096
General 19,283 34,000 32,000
Allocations 161,468 287,343 264,836


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General Planning & Eval Services 760,602 1,530,066 1,506,242


================= ================= =================
GRAND TOTAL 1,538,542 3,205,066 3,011,242


================= ================= =================


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Planning & Evaluation


2008 Budget


 
 
 
 
  


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


DEPARTMENT:   INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY   ALL PROGRAMS 


PURPOSE:  To provide reliable and efficient technical infrastructure in support of Energy Efficiency, Renewable Resources, 
and Energy Trust management, helping strengthen program management through effective project, budget, data collection and 
reporting tools. Contributes to all strategic goals. 


STRATEGY:   
1. Strengthen the IT governance processes and align IT with ETO strategies, goals and objectives. 
2. Partner with management, staff and PMCs to continually evolve systems to meet changing business requirements. 
3. Establish and maintain highly flexible systems in support of distributed program delivery, performance analysis and 


stakeholder reporting. 
4. Apply appropriate technology to streamline data intake processes, simplify participation and maximize data quality and 


consistency. 
5. Improve customer service. 
6. Maintain secure systems to protect confidential information.  
7. Provide reliable communication systems and IT infrastructure. 
8. Maintain technology refresh cycles to assure efficient and reliable operation of equipment and software. 
9. Establish reasonable benchmarks for IT disaster recovery. 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Develop an IT strategic plan for long-term information systems enhancement. 
2. Collaborate with Finance to investigate alternatives to the current financial, budgeting and contract management 


systems and to select and begin implementation of software enhancements or replacement applications. 
3. Investigate alternatives to the Goldmine contact management system to provide a more integrated and efficient means 


of tracking participant contact information. 
4. Establish an IT Governance Committee and process to assist in aligning IT resources with business strategies and 


objectives. 
5. Facilitate IT Advisory Committee meetings as a user forum to foster innovative ideas and strategic direction. 
6. Strengthen the IT organizational structure through re-alignment of positions, conversion of temporary and contract 


positions to staff positions and by investing in existing staff leadership, training and technical skills. 
7. Simplify ETO participant forms and to extent possible, integrate with ODOE and federal tax credit participant 


application forms.  
8. Develop capability to accept incentive applications via Web interface and leverage that technology to simplify the 


application process for ETO, ODOE, and federal incentives and tax credits. 
9. Continue FastTrack enhancements to improve efficiency, automate data capture and evolve platforms. 
10. Strengthen administration tools to improve customer service, support audit requirements, and enhance efficiency. 
11. Implement a new Helpdesk tracking system and assure prompt and appropriate response to user assistance needs. 
12. Evaluate a web based front end to FastTrack. 
13. Develop an IT disaster recovery plan. 
14. Develop IT operational and performance metrics. 
15. Implement a customer survey process to measure satisfaction with current IT systems and processes. 


2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
1. Complete implementation of financial and contact management systems changes selected in 2008 
2. Evaluate conversion of FastTrack code base from Delphi to newer software technology and begin conversion process.  


TARGETS:   
Annual Expense


$M
2007 Full-Year Forecast 1.3$                                                  
2008 Proposed Budget 2.3$                                                  
2009 Projection 2.2$                                                  


Year


 
(see budget on reverse side of page) 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Staffing $569,919 $1,041,329 $1,103,809


Services
Other Professional Services 406,629 715,800 594,300


----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -----------------------------------
Total Services 406,629 715,800 594,300


General
General Program Support Costs 267,238 400,896 439,628
Shared 83,290 122,317 96,646


----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -----------------------------------
Total General 350,528 523,213 536,274


=================== =================== ===================
TOTAL EXPENSE (Note 1) 1,327,076 2,280,342 2,234,383


=================== =================== ===================


Note 1 - 100% of these costs are allocated to programs and other support functions.


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
2008 Budget


Information Technology


 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


DEPARTMENT: COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH   


PURPOSE:  Outreach and communications activities support all programs and general Energy Trust visibility needs. The 2008 
budget provides for staff, services and materials necessary to achieve this purpose. Contributes to all strategic goals. 


STRATEGY:   
1. Expand utility collaboration to reach their customers with Energy Trust program messages. 
2. Leverage resources and impacts by sponsoring outreach events in cooperation with peer and stakeholder organizations. 
3. Position Energy Trust as an energy resource through story placements and limited advertising in Oregon media outlets. 
4. Leverage relationships with associations representing niche market groups to reach prospective customers. 
5. Accelerate communication support to meet growing demands with new contractors. 
6. Improve website design, content and usability to serve a growing audience of participants, potential participants, trade 


allies and stakeholders. 
7. Control website and publication costs by supplementing staff resources with free-lance contractors. 
8. Facilitate development of comprehensive program communication plans to ensure integrated outreach. 
9. Offer excellent customer service through call centers and email. 
10. Develop Energy Trust trade ally network and improve both efficiency and service. 
11. Build community relationships by developing community energy project(s) with utilities, cities and other stakeholders. 
12. Use market research tools to refine strategies for program outreach to prospective participants. 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Design, review, approve and track Energy Trust communication and marketing activities across all programs. 
2. Manage Energy Trust media relations on behalf of all programs; produce or support media events. 
3. Develop limited general advertising, general information and educational pieces. 
4. Provide non-PMC programs (renewables and production efficiency) with all marketing and communication services. 
5. Manage content and look, and ensure accuracy and improve usability of, www.energytrust.org. 
6. Build and maintain image library of representative Energy Trust projects. 
7. Produce and disseminate public annual report; help prepare quarterly reports and other special reports. 
8. Produce participant mailings and acknowledgements. 
9. Publish monthly e-newsletter SYNERGY (general audience) and bimonthly INSIDER (trade allies). 
10. Support annual publications Green + Solar Building Oregon and Green Living. 
11. Develop and maintain cooperative relationships with utilities, Oregon Department of Energy and other stakeholder and 


peer groups, coordinating development of co-branded materials and joint outreach/communications initiatives. 
12. Participate in community activities and organizations. 
13. Manage Energy Trust participation in the Corvallis community energy pilot. 
14. Coordinate stakeholder and special group outreach by all programs and PMCs.  
15. Manage services provided by contracted creative and public relations professionals to programs. 
16. Update marketing and communications guidelines to ensure consistent look and feel in all Energy Trust material. 
17. Support trade allies through training and coordination with PMC trade ally managers; conduct annual trade ally survey. 
18. Provide customer support through oversight of call center operations; work with utilities on service enhancements. 
19. Team with evaluation group to conduct market research and focus groups to refine market segmentation and messaging 


for solar, residential efficiency and commercial efficiency programs. 
 


2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
  
• No major changes planned for 2009  


080310  



http://www.energytrust.org/





    


Budget Template Form 


2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


 
TARGETS:  


Annual Expense
$M


2007 Full-Year Forecast 0.8$                                                  
2008 Proposed Budget 1.0$                                                  
2009 Projection 1.1$                                                  


Year


 


 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Staffing $395,253 $366,263 $388,239


Marketing
Public Rel/Creative 22,546 31,350 34,485
Creative Services 18,050 43,000 38,500
Media Advertising 25,845 79,500 84,700
Events Co-Sponsor 23,880 30,000 27,500
Mktg Dev/Research 950


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total Marketing 91,271 183,850 185,185


Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 1,821 1,792
Legal Services 7,500
Website Design & Maintenance 108,149 161,920 200,000
Other Professional Services 24,780 63,250 40,700


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total Other Services 132,929 234,491 242,492


General
General Program Support Costs 39,503 99,000 99,330
Shared 50,952 40,220 31,779
IT Services 66,841 125,464 122,936


------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------
Total General 157,296 264,684 254,045


================ ================ ================
TOTAL EXPENSE (Note 1) 776,749 1,049,288 1,069,961


================ ================ ================


Note 1 - 100% of these expenses are allocated to programs, located at the bottom of each report on the line "Allocated mgmt & general marketing."


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
Communications & Outreach


Budget 2008


 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


DEPARTMENT:   MANAGEMENT AND GENERAL   ALL PROGRAMS 


PURPOSE:  To provide overall management, direction and resources in support of ETO strategies and 
operations. Contributes to all strategic goals. 


STRATEGY:   
1. Create and maintain a highly efficient internal organization that provides excellent guidance, resources and operational 


processes for the Energy Trust board, staff and stakeholders. 
2. Enhance internal and external reporting processes to provide all stakeholders with timely and transparent information 


relating to Energy Trust activities. 
3. Ensure that all financial data and operational systems are operating effectively and securely and are producing highly 


reliable and timely information. 
4. Ensure that all contracts, employee relations and general operations are conducted in compliance with all applicable 


laws and regulations. 
5. Ensure Energy Trust staff receives training and resources to foster continued maximum performance and career 


development goals. 
6. Provide infrastructure to allow for adaptive management at all levels. 


2008 ACTIONS:  
1. Achieve unqualified audit opinion for 2007 from independent CPA firm 
2. Continue to enhance systems via process improvements, designed with flexibility and transparency in mind 


o Re-evaluate potential “fixes” for Great Plains accounting software 
o Evaluate alternative accounting packages, if needed 
o Evaluate alternative budgeting/forecasting tools 
o Evaluate alternative contract management systems 
o Develop and initiate implementation plans for changes to systems 


3. Improve internal financial systems by investing in software development to improve reporting and monitoring 
capabilities, especially for external financial reporting and internal contract tracking. 


4. Implement new staffing plan and incorporate corresponding regulation changes 
5. Assess and analyze all the internal control processes of the Energy Trust and its data integration points with 


contractors.  
6. Invest in employee leadership and management training, reinforcing behaviors consistent with ETO values, improving 


communication and maintaining desirable culture and positive morale. 
7. Enhance the performance review and work plan process for 2007 to reward individual performance and encourage 


teamwork.   
8. Develop training plan based on needs and career goals identified during performance review process. 
9. Achieve both PUC and JLAC/PUC performance measures for Administrative plus Program Support Costs. 


 


2009 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• Manage growth in demand with leveling of resources 
• Facilitate completion of the five-year Management Audit 


TARGETS:   
Annual Expense


$M
2007 Full-Year Forecast 1.7$                                                  
2008 Proposed Budget 2.3$                                                  
2009 Projection 2.3$                                                  


Year


 


(see budget on reverse side of page) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


2008 REVISED ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


April 2008 


2007 2008 2009
Actual Budget Projection


Staffing $1,028,866 $1,262,860 $1,340,780


Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 13,829 19,738 19,431
Legal Services 29,734 40,500 40,500
Accounting Services 109,220 111,000 122,500
Other Professional Services 99,284 235,855 265,969


----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -----------------------------------
Total Services 252,067 407,093 448,400


General
General Program Support Costs 93,854 202,155 206,171
Shared 108,568 114,335 90,339
IT Services 201,612 266,276 260,909


----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -----------------------------------
Total General 404,034 582,766 557,419


=================== =================== ===================
TOTAL EXPENSE (Note 1) 1,684,967 2,252,719 2,346,599


=================== =================== ===================


Note 1 - 100% of these expenses are allocated to programs, located at the bottom of each report on the line "Allocated mgmt & general marketing."


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
2008 Budget


Management and General


 
 


080310 







2009 Budget Recap - Revised Budget


Con- 
servative 
(aMW)


Best Case 
(aMW) Utility Societal


Conservativ
e (annual 
therms)


Best Case 
(annual 
therms) Utility Societal


ENERGY EFFICIENCY
Residential


Home Energy Solutions – 
Existing Homes


15.7 1.97 2.63 4.38 - 3.28         0.035  -         0.026        677,934        903,913        10.47  -          7.85          0.69 -          0.52 Q1-2008 (PI) 1/1/2011


Home Energy Solutions   –  
New Homes & Products


17.4 4.55 6.06 3.30 - 2.48         0.053  -         0.040        338,791        451,721          7.11  -          5.33          0.51 -          0.38 
Q1-2009 (PI) homes;  
Q1-2009 (I) homes; 
Q3-2008 (PI) prod


12/31/2008


Mkt Transformation 
(Alliance)


0.9 3.61 4.81 0.25 - 0.19         0.005  -         0.003  NA NA 12/31/2010


Total Residential 34.0 10.1 13.5 2.42 - 1.82        0.028  -        0.021   1,016,725    1,355,634         9.35  -         7.01         0.49 -         0.37 


Commercial


Business Energy Solutions – 
Existing Buildings


15.9 4.71 6.28 2.88 - 2.16         0.035  -         0.026        562,500        750,000          4.06  -          3.04          0.39 -          0.30 
Q1-2008 (PI); Q1-2009


(I)
1/1/2011


Business Energy Solutions  – 
New Buildings


11.7 3.32 4.43 3.08 - 2.31         0.031  -         0.023        351,830        469,107          4.16  -          3.12          0.37 -          0.28 
Q1-2008 (PI); Q1-2009


(I)
12/31/2008


Mkt Transformation 
(Alliance)


1.4 0.17 0.22 8.28 - 6.21         0.092  -         0.069  NA NA 12/31/2010


Total Commercial 28.9 8.2 10.9 3.07 - 2.30        0.029  -        0.022      914,330    1,219,107         4.10  -         3.07         0.33 -         0.24 


Industrial


Production Efficiency 18.2 8.44 11.26 2.11 - 1.59         0.028  -         0.021          58,354          77,806          6.72  -          5.04          0.77 -          0.57 Q2-2008 (PI) na


Mkt Transformation 
(Alliance)


0.9 0.72 0.96 1.19 - 0.89         0.018  -         0.013  NA NA 12/31/2010


Total Industrial 19.1 9.2 12.2 2.04 - 1.53        0.024  -        0.018        58,354         77,806         6.72  -         5.04         0.77 -         0.57 


Total Energy Efficiency $82.1 27.5 36.6 2.49 - 1.87        0.030  -        0.022   1,989,410    2,652,546         6.86  -         5.14         0.42 -         0.32 


RENEWABLE RESOURCES2


Biopower 3.3 0.55 1.62 5.96 - 2.02 NA NA NA


Open Solicitation 2.8 0.57 0.88 4.91 - 3.19 NA NA NA


Solar Electric 5.5 0.35 0.47 15.47 - 11.60 NA NA NA


Utility-Scale 0.0 0.00 0.00 na - na NA NA NA


Wind Cluster 3.4 1.87 2.67 1.81 - 1.26 NA Q4-2008 (P) NA


Total Renewable 
Resources


$15.0 3.3 5.6 4.48 - 2.65


1 some columns may not add due to rounding


2 Budget amounts for Renewables are activity based and include dedicated funds


PROGRAM
TOTAL 


BUDGET ($M)


ELECTRIC GOALS1 ELECTRIC COST


EVAL DATE(S)   
(I=Impact;           


MA=Market 
Assessment;         
P=Process


PMC 
CONTRACT 
EXPIRATION($mils/ aMW) Levelized  ($/kWh) ($/annual therms) Levelized ($/Therm)


B/C RATIO GAS GOALS GAS COST B/C RATIO







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
By Program / Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2009
Revised Projection 2009-P-03


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL 2009
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs previous version Change Pct Chg


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $27,773,674 $17,273,692 $8,625,534 $1,638,985 $55,311,885 $8,376,187 $5,209,526 $13,585,713 $68,897,599 $68,212,693 $684,906 1.00%
Public Purpose Funding-838 14,999,998 8,070,250 23,070,248 23,070,248 23,070,248 100.00%
Revenue from Investments 1,681,189 1,681,189 2,164,506 (483,317) -22.33%


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -----------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 42,773,672 25,343,942 8,625,534 1,638,985 78,382,133 8,376,187 5,209,526 13,585,713 1,681,189 93,649,036 70,377,199 23,271,837 33.07%


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -----------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 1,831,594 958,539 681,427 84,131 2,029 3,557,718 503,704 512,860 1,016,564 4,574,282 4,313,820 260,462 6.04%
  Program Delivery 11,404,187 6,792,133 2,743,418 380,366 11,563 21,331,668 86,570 49,115 135,685 21,467,353 17,827,429 3,639,924 20.42%
  Incentives 24,121,098 13,462,153 6,324,365 779,329 16,040 44,702,988 6,566,270 6,270,357 12,836,627 57,539,615 40,657,944 16,881,671 41.52%
  Program Evaluation and Planning Services 1,375,709 750,791 418,648 49,242 936 2,595,326 196,121 196,780 392,901 2,988,227 2,988,227 0.00%
  Program Marketing/Outreach 2,029,018 979,847 769,820 95,701 2,348 3,876,731 173,494 160,578 334,072 4,210,803 3,341,253 869,550 26.02%
  Program Legal Services 0 0 0 0 0 8,750 8,750 17,500 17,500 17,500 0.00%
  Program Quality Assurance 88,271 44,976 44,242 4,120 41 181,650 16,700 22,800 39,500 221,150 221,150 0.00%
  Outsourced  Services 276,310 143,865 66,239 7,360 29 493,803 383,730 355,009 738,739 1,232,542 1,232,542 0.00%
  Trade Allies & Customer Service Management 339,756 160,524 263,555 25,185 298 789,318 41,248 30,888 72,136 861,454 861,454 0.00%
  IT Services 645,602 339,407 285,263 34,777 769 1,305,818 106,450 109,124 215,573 1,521,391 1,521,391 0.00%
  Other Program Expenses 207,803 111,280 69,237 7,523 118 395,961 114,919 111,332 226,250 622,211 622,211 0.00%


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -----------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 42,319,349 23,743,515 11,666,215 1,467,735 34,169 79,230,982 8,197,955 7,827,594 16,025,548 95,256,530 73,604,922 21,651,608 29.42%


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -----------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 1,042,517 584,910 287,392 36,157 842 1,951,817 201,953 192,829 394,782 2,346,599 2,346,599 0.00%
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 475,349 266,697 131,040 16,486 384 889,956 92,083 87,923 180,006 1,069,961 1,069,961 0.00%


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -----------------
  Total Administrative Costs 1,517,866 851,607 418,431 52,643 1,226 2,841,773 294,036 280,752 574,787 3,416,560 3,416,560 0.00%


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -----------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM & ADMIN EXPENSES 43,837,215 24,595,122 12,084,646 1,520,378 35,395 82,072,755 8,491,991 8,108,346 16,600,336 98,673,090 77,021,482 21,651,608 28.11%


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -----------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (1,063,543) 748,820 (3,459,112) 118,607 (35,395) (3,690,621) (115,804) (2,898,820) (3,014,622) 1,681,189 (5,024,054) (6,644,284) 1,620,230 -24.39%


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== =========
Net Assets from prior years 8,691,518 (5,469,769) 4,659,933 181,354 107,296 8,170,332 13,473,296 5,131,371 18,604,667 9,388,816 36,163,815 30,862,450 5,301,365 17.18%
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000) 0.00%


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== =========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 9,367,975 (3,560,949) 1,200,821 299,961 71,901 7,379,711 13,357,492 3,932,551 17,290,045 6,470,005 31,139,761 24,218,167 6,921,594 28.58%


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses for budget purposes only, otherwsie by Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-09







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Budget Expenses by Service Territory
For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2009
Revised Projection 2009-P-03


Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal Previous
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Change Pct Change


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 6,037,032 2,577,852 8,614,884 6,581,553 514,740 7,096,293 15,711,177 14,125,894 1,585,283 11.22%
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 9,027,773 5,986,569 15,014,342 1,703,637 668,782 35,396 2,407,815 17,422,157 12,163,471 5,258,686 43.23%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 520,329 392,528 912,857 0 912,857 922,157 (9,300) -1.01%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Residential 15,585,134 8,956,949 24,542,083 8,285,190 1,183,522 35,396 9,504,108 34,046,191 27,211,522 6,834,669 25.12%


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 10,103,668 3,475,719 13,579,387 2,111,837 169,852 2,281,689 15,861,076 7,524,715 8,336,361 110.79%
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 6,467,937 3,748,126 10,216,063 1,295,660 167,006 1,462,666 11,678,729 9,790,916 1,887,813 19.28%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 794,083 599,045 1,393,128 0 1,393,128 1,407,318 (14,190) -1.01%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Commercial 17,365,688 7,822,890 25,188,578 3,407,497 336,858 3,744,355 28,932,933 18,722,949 10,209,984 54.53%


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 10,400,330 7,448,605 17,848,935 391,959 391,959 18,240,894 13,456,195 4,784,699 35.56%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 486,063 366,679 852,742 0 852,742 861,428 (8,686) -1.01%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Industrial 10,886,393 7,815,284 18,701,677 391,959 391,959 19,093,636 14,317,623 4,776,013 33.36%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 43,837,215 24,595,123 68,432,338 12,084,646 1,520,380 35,396 13,640,422 82,072,760 60,252,094 21,820,666 36.22%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------


Renewables
Biopower 2,762,184 1,822,332 4,584,516 0 4,584,516 4,631,213 (46,697) -1.01%
Open Solicitation 570,825 2,574,718 3,145,543 0 3,145,543 3,177,582 (32,039) -1.01%
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 3,120,099 2,336,492 5,456,591 0 5,456,591 5,512,171 (55,580) -1.01%
Utility Scale Projects 17,382 25,986 43,368 0 43,368 43,809 (441) -1.01%
Wind 2,021,502 1,348,816 3,370,318 0 3,370,318 3,404,647 (34,329) -1.01%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Renewables Costs 8,491,992 8,108,344 16,600,336 0 16,600,336 16,769,422 (169,086) -1.01%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------


  Cost Grand Total 52,329,207 32,703,467 85,032,674 12,084,646 1,520,380 35,396 13,640,422 98,673,096 77,021,516 21,651,580 28.11%







Energy Trust of Oregon
Statement of Functional Expense


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2009
Revised Projection 2009-P-03


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


EXPENSES


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 71,025,507 12,972,312 83,997,819 0 83,997,819
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,520,484 1,016,564 2,537,048 1,340,780 388,239 1,729,019 4,266,067
Outsourced Services 2,983,568 1,249,811 4,233,379 428,969 425,885 854,854 5,088,233
Planning and Evaluation 1,210,326 272,901 1,483,227 19,431 1,792 21,223 1,504,450
Customer Service Management 789,318 72,136 861,454 0 861,454


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 77,529,203 15,583,724 93,112,927 1,789,180 815,917 2,605,097 95,718,024


Program Support Costs


Supplies 9,248 5,843 15,091 12,436 3,679 16,115 31,206
Postage and Shipping Expenses 21,520 8,433 29,953 5,958 22,292 28,250 58,203
Telephone 506 5,978 6,484 1,240 1 1,241 7,725
Printing and Publications 95,702 42,432 138,134 4,751 50,165 54,916 193,050
Occupancy Expenses 82,508 52,130 134,638 59,833 21,048 80,881 215,519
Insurance 15,818 9,994 25,812 11,471 4,035 15,506 41,318
Equipment 3,683 2,327 6,010 15,871 2,260 18,131 24,141
Travel 55,796 61,980 117,776 46,835 7,602 54,437 172,213
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 61,088 33,262 94,350 127,635 13,750 141,385 235,735
Depreciation & Amortization 2,069 1,307 3,376 1,500 528 2,028 5,404
Dues, Licenses and Fees 47,415 2,181 49,596 8,436 5,593 14,029 63,625
Miscellaneous Expenses 608 384 992 544 155 699 1,691
IT Services 1,305,818 215,573 1,521,391 260,909 122,936 383,845 1,905,236


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,701,779 441,824 2,143,603 557,419 254,044 811,463 2,955,066


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 79,230,982 16,025,548 95,256,530 2,346,599 1,069,961 3,416,560 98,673,090


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ===============


PUC performance measure 11%
Administrative plus program support costs 6.0%







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Energy Efficiency Electric Spending by Rate Schedule - 1149 vs 838


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2009
Revised Projection 2009-P-03


PGE PacifiCorp


Total 1149 838 Total 1149 838


  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 42,773,672 $27,773,674 14,999,998 25,343,942 17,273,692 8,070,250
------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------------------------------------------------


EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 1,831,594 1,179,251 652,343 958,539 659,609 298,931
  Program Delivery 11,404,187 7,358,185 4,046,002 6,792,133 4,653,983 2,138,150
  Incentives 24,121,098 16,148,258 7,972,839 13,462,153 9,645,831 3,816,322
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 1,375,709 896,595 479,114 750,791 522,774 228,017
  Program Marketing/Outreach 2,029,018 1,268,803 760,215 979,847 652,295 327,552
 Program Legal 0 0
  Program Quality Assurance 88,271 57,570 30,701 44,976 31,453 13,523
  Outsourced  Services 276,310 173,966 102,344 143,865 96,490 47,375
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 339,756 211,556 128,200 160,524 106,297 54,227
  IT Services 645,602 408,872 236,730 339,407 229,148 110,258
  Other Program Expenses 207,803 135,669 72,134 111,280 77,710 33,571


------------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 42,319,349 27,838,726 14,480,622 23,743,515 16,675,590 7,067,925


------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------------------------------------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 1,042,517 685,794 356,723 584,910 410,795 174,115
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 475,349 312,696 162,653 266,697 187,307 79,390


------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  Total Administrative Costs 1,517,866 998,490 519,376 851,607 598,102 253,505


------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM & ADMIN EXPENSES 43,837,215 28,837,217 14,999,998 24,595,122 17,273,692 7,321,430


------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (1,063,543) (1,063,543) 0 748,820 0 748,820


========== ========= ========= ========== =========== ===========
Net Assets Carried Forward From Prior Years 8,691,518 8,691,518 0 (5,469,769) (7,429,749) 1,959,980
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,740,000 0 1,160,000 1,160,000 0


========== ========= ========= ========== =========== ===========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 9,367,975 9,367,975 0 (3,560,949) (6,269,749) 2,708,800


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.
Note 6) Efficiency electric funding as allocated between 1149 and 838 proprtionate to revenue, adjusted for large industrial customers and expenditure of pge 1149 carryover







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Energy Efficiency Electric Spending by Program and Rate Schedule - 1149 vs 838
For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2009
Revised Projection 2009-P-03


PGE Pacific Power


Total 1149 838 Total 1149 838


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 6,037,032 3,757,500 2,279,532 2,577,852 1,706,107 871,745
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 9,027,773 5,618,963 3,408,810 5,986,569 3,962,108 2,024,461
Market Transformation (NEEA) 520,329 323,857 196,472 392,528 259,788 132,740


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------
  Total Residential 15,585,134 9,700,320 5,884,814 8,956,949 5,928,004 3,028,945


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 10,103,668 6,288,609 3,815,059 3,475,719 2,300,345 1,175,374
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 6,467,937 4,025,699 2,442,238 3,748,126 2,480,633 1,267,493
Market Transformation (NEEA) 794,083 494,244 299,839 599,045 396,468 202,577


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------
  Total Commercial 17,365,688 10,808,552 6,557,136 7,822,890 5,177,446 2,645,444


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 10,400,330 8,025,814 2,374,516 7,448,605 5,925,562 1,523,043
Market Transformation (NEEA) 486,063 302,530 183,533 366,679 242,680 123,999


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------
  Total Industrial 10,886,393 8,328,344 2,558,049 7,815,284 6,168,242 1,647,042


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------
  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 43,837,215 28,837,217 14,999,998 24,595,123 17,273,692 7,321,431


------------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------------





		2008-2009 Proposed Amended budget OPUC and Board_FINAL.ppt

		Revised 2008-2009 �Action Plan and Budget ��Board of Directors�April 9, 2008

		Introduction

		2008 Revised Budget Overview

		2008 Revised Budget Summary

		Revised Total ETO 2008 Budget�Changes in Revenue

		Supplemental (838) Funding Emphasis 2008-2009

		Program Expenditures Over Time

		EE Electric Spending by Sector

		Best Case Electric Savings by Sector

		2009 Revised Budget Overview

		2009 Revised Budget Summary

		 Accounting and Reporting

		2008 Revised Budget Detail �Efficiency Expenditure and Savings Changes

		2008 Revised Efficiency Budget Detail�(in Millions)

		Revised Total ETO 2009 Budget�Changes in Revenue

		2009 Revised Budget Detail �Efficiency Expenditure and Savings Changes

		2009 Revised Efficiency Budget Detail �(in Millions)

		Thank you!

		Backup Formats

		2008 EE Revised Savings-aMW

		2008 EE Revised Savings-Annual Therms

		Changes in Expenses and Savings-Revised 2008 Budget

		Changes in Expenses and Savings-Revised 2009 Projection

		EE Gas Spending by Sector

		Best Case Gas Savings by Sector



		2007 IS-ST.xls

		2007 puc style.xls

		2007 statement of functional expenses.xls

		2008 recap.xls

		2008 IS-ST-YTD-001 2008-B-03 W838 3-21-08.pdf

		2008 PUC STYLE 2008-B-03 W838 3-21-08.pdf

		2008 STMNT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE 2008-B-03 WITH 838 3-21.pdf

		2008 electric 1149 vs 838 2008-B-03 3-21-08.pdf

		2008 electric 1149 vs 838 by program 2008-B-03 3-21-08.pdf

		08 09 revised AP FINAL 080409 msh_sms_nk.doc

		2009 recap.xls

		2009 IS-ST-YTD-001 2009-P-03 WITH 838 3-21-08.pdf

		2009 PUC STYLE 2009-P-03 WITH 838 3-21-08.pdf

		2009 STMNT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE 2009-P-03 W838 3-21-08.pdf

		2009 electric 1149 vs 838 2009-P-03 3-21-08.pdf










  


 
 
 
Board Decision 
Amending 2008 Budget and Action Plan 
April 9, 2008 


Summary 
To amend the Energy Trust budget for 2008. 


 


Background 
• A proposed final budget for 2008 and projections for 2009 were adopted by the board at its 


December, 2007 meeting. 


• Staff has completed review of end-of-year financial information (especially carry-over funds), and 
has completed negotiations with PacifiCorp to obtain supplemental funding authorized by SB 
838.  PGE's supplemental efficiency rate filing is still in the OPUC process, and staff and PGE are 
negotiating a supplemental funding agreement on a parallel track.   


• Greater than expected carry-over will increase 2008 funds by $3.2 million available, primarily 
due to delays in completing 2007 projects.  


• Approximately $14.8 million is available for reallocation. Supplemental funding is projected to 
total $11.5 million in 2008 for electric energy efficiency projects; and increases in utility 
forecasts are offset by an expected reduction in interest earnings net to an increase of 
approximately $200K. 


• Staff has proposed budget adjustments to allocate some of these funds. Attachment A is a 
summary of the proposed adjustments. 


• These recommendations were reviewed by the board Finance and Policy Committees and the 
Conservation and Renewable Energy advisory councils. 


 


Recommendation 
Staff recommends amendment of the 2008 Energy Trust budget and Action Plan with changes noted in the 
resolution below [if any] by adopting resolution #471. 


 
 







Amendment of 2008 Budget April 9, 2008 


 


2 


RESOLUTION #471 
AMENDING 2008 BUDGET 


BE IT RESOLVED: That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors approves the changes to the 2008 budget as presented in the 
board budget packet and summarized in Attachment A to this resolution, 
with the following changes [if any]: 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 







Attachment A 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Budget Expenses by Service Territory
For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Round 3, April rebudget


Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal 2008 no 838
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Round 2 Change Pct Change


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 7,339,479 2,747,249 10,086,728 6,495,255 321,909 1,232 6,818,396 16,905,124 14,168,610 2,736,514 19.31%
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 7,525,308 4,181,721 11,707,029 1,740,506 614,014 80,540 2,435,060 14,142,089 11,832,525 2,309,564 19.52%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 586,900 442,750 1,029,650 0 1,029,650 1,114,510 (84,860) -7.61%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Residential 15,451,687 7,371,720 22,823,407 8,235,761 935,923 81,772 9,253,456 32,076,863 27,115,645 4,961,218 18.30%


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 7,732,647 2,501,646 10,234,293 1,552,397 93,478 1,645,875 11,880,168 10,245,110 1,635,058 15.96%
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 5,709,612 2,585,398 8,295,010 1,236,870 141,191 1,378,061 9,673,071 9,016,424 656,647 7.28%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 902,093 680,527 1,582,620 0 1,582,620 1,713,090 (130,470) -7.62%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Commercial 14,344,352 5,767,571 20,111,923 2,789,267 234,669 3,023,936 23,135,859 20,974,624 2,161,235 10.30%


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 8,106,795 7,712,156 15,818,951 268,165 268,165 16,087,116 13,544,576 2,542,540 18.77%
Market Transformation (NEEA) 541,205 408,278 949,483 0 949,483 1,046,476 (96,993) -9.27%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Industrial 8,648,000 8,120,434 16,768,434 268,165 268,165 17,036,599 14,591,052 2,445,547 16.76%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 38,444,039 21,259,725 59,703,764 11,293,193 1,170,592 81,772 12,545,557 72,249,321 62,681,321 9,568,000 15.26%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------


Renewables
Biopower 1,094,275 954,717 2,048,992 0 2,048,992 2,046,485 2,507 0.12%
Open Solicitation 7,573,687 1,651,112 9,224,799 0 9,224,799 9,237,621 (12,822) -0.14%
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 6,453,565 2,638,473 9,092,038 0 9,092,038 9,101,940 (9,902) -0.11%
Utility Scale Projects 38,800 4,556,565 4,595,365 0 4,595,365 4,604,878 (9,513) -0.21%
Wind 3,596,110 2,323,408 5,919,518 0 5,919,518 5,925,759 (6,241) -0.11%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Renewables Costs 18,756,437 12,124,275 30,880,712 0 30,880,712 30,916,683 (35,971) -0.12%


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------


  Cost Grand Total 57,200,476 33,384,000 90,584,476 11,293,193 1,170,592 81,772 12,545,557 103,130,033 93,598,004 9,532,029 10.18%  
 








 


 
 
 
Board Decision 
Change in Executive Director Compensation 
April 9, 2008 


Summary 
This action would approve an increase in the Energy Trust executive director's salary and 
approve a Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan ("SERP") contribution for the benefit of the 
Energy Trust executive director.  


Background 


• The Executive Director Review Committee (John Reynolds, chair; Julie Hammond and 
Caddy McKeown) has completed the executive director’s 2007 performance review. 


• The Executive Director Review Committee reviewed an independent compensation 
review which indicates that the Executive Director’s current salary is well below 
salary levels for comparable positions. 


• To allow board discussion and also protect the executive director’s privacy, the Chair 
scheduled discussion of this matter for executive session, followed by a public meeting 
vote. 


• The Committee recommends that the board approve a salary increase and a 
contribution to the SERP for the executive director’s benefit, and that the board 
consider this matter on the consent agenda at this meeting. 


 


Recommendation 


The Executive Director Review Committee  recommends that the board approve the following 
resolution: 


   


 







Resolution #472  April 9, 2008 


 


 


RESOLUTION # 472 


 
AUTHORIZING A SALARY INCREASE AND CONTRIBUTION TO THE 


ENERGY TRUST SUPPLEMENTAL EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN FOR 
THE BENEFIT OF MARGIE HARRIS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 


  
WHEREAS:  


The Energy Trust's Executive Director Review Committee has 
completed its review of an independent salary survey indicating that the 
executive director's current salary is well below salary for comparable 
positions. The committee recommends that the board approve a $7,000 
increase in the executive director's 2008 salary and a $7,000 contribution 
to the Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan for the executive 
director's benefit. 


 
It is RESOLVED: 
      That the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes a 


$____ increase in the executive director’s 2008 salary, and a $____ 
contribution to the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Supplemental 
Employee Retirement Plan, for the benefit of Margie Harris, executive 
director. 


 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 













 
 
Board Decision  
Amending Bylaws and Appointing Dan Enloe and 
Roger Hamilton to the Board for Three-Year 
Terms of Office 
April 9, 2008 
 
Purpose 
 


The purpose of this resolution is to appoint two new members to the Energy Trust board of 
directors, one to replace Tom Foley, who has retired, and one to fill a new board position.  
 
Background 
 


Tom Foley has left the board. The board nominating committee has recruited two new 
members, one to take Tom’s position and one to expand the board to a total of 13 voting 
members (excluding ex officio members). Section 3.2 of the bylaws specifies that the board shall 
have a minimum of five voting members and a maximum of 12 voting members. 
 
The nominating committee has interviewed several excellent candidates and recommends the 
appointment of Dan Enloe and Roger Hamilton to the board. Both strongly support the Energy 
Trust mission. In addition: 
 
Mr. Enloe is an executive at Intel Corporation, where he has worked in various capacities since 
1984. Before 1984, he was on active duty in the U. S. Navy. He is a Captain in the Naval Reserve 
and is a qualified Submarine Nuclear Engineer Officer.  
 
Mr. Hamilton is the Manager of the Local Government and Communities Program for the 
Climate Leadership Initiative at the Institute for Sustainable Environment at the University of 
Oregon. He also consults with the Western Grid Group, a transmission advocate for renewable 
energy interests. He was an Oregon Public Utility Commissioner from 1992 to 2001. 
 
Recommendation 
 


The nominating committee recommends appointing Dan Enloe and Roger Hamilton to serve on 
the board of directors for three-year terms expiring in 2011.  







Resolution 473  April 9, 2008 


 
 


RESOLUTION #473 
 


AMENDING BYLAWS AND 
APPOINTING DAN ENLOE AND ROGER HAMILTON  


TO ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 


WHEREAS:  
 


1. At present the Energy Trust board has 12 voting members. 
2. Tom Foley has completed his term on the board and a replacement is 


required. 
3. The board nominating committee has interviewed several excellent 


candidates and determined that Dan Enloe and Roger Hamilton meet 
key criteria for service in this board position, including strong support 
for the Energy Trust mission and extensive experience in business and 
government activities that will add valuable dimensions to the board. 
 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
Board of Directors:  
 


1. Amends the first sentence of section 3.2 of the Energy Trust 
bylaws to read: “The number of voting directors may vary 
between a minimum of five (5) and a maximum of thirteen (13), 
the exact number to be fixed from time to time by resolution of 
the board of directors.” 


 
2. Appoints Dan Enloe and Roger Hamilton to the Energy Trust 


board of directors for three-year terms of service expiring in 
2011. 


 
 
 
 
Moved by: _____________ Seconded by: _______________ 


 
Vote: _____ In favor _____ Opposed _____ Abstain 
 
Adopted on (date) _______ by Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
Board of Directors. 


 








 
 
Finance Committee Notes 
March 17, 2008 
 
The finance committee met at 3:30 pm on March 17th, with John Klosterman, treasurer; Debbie Kitchin, 
secretary; Margie Harris, executive director, Sue Sample, chief financial officer, and Pati Presnail, 
controller, in attendance. Alan Meyer and John Reynolds were not able to attend. 
 
Revised 2008-2009 Budget and Projection 
 


Sue presented excerpts from the budget revisions for the 2008 budget. The budget was revised 
primarily to reflect increased activity made possible through the supplemental funding provided via SB 
838 from the two electric utilities. The 2008 budget reflects partial years for both PacifiCorp and 
assumptions for anticipated funding from PGE. The funding agreement for PacifiCorp has been 
completed and funding began in February. The tariff rate filing agreement for PGE is pending before the 
OPUC and hence, the funding agreement is not yet completed. For purposes of the revised 2008 
budget, staff estimated PGE funding to begin in August 2008. 
 


Resources available were adjusted based upon other items including additional 2007 carryover beyond 
initial projections, revised electric utility forecasts and adjustments made to interest income to reflect 
the decline in interest rates available for investments. In total, resources increased by $13.4 million 
when compared with the approved 2008 budget.  
 


Planned expenditures in the revised 2008 budget increased by $11.3 million with the bulk of the increase 
in electric efficiency utility programs. There were some modest interactive effects in NW Natural and 
some allocation changes in renewable energy programs causing minimal changes in those areas. 
 


The net savings increase amounted to 7.9 aMW for best case and annual therms increased by about 
97,000 best case in 2008. 
 


For 2009, resources increased by $27 million reflecting a full year of supplemental funding from both 
electric utilities and expenses increased by almost $23 million as compared with the approved 2009 
projection. Total budgeted revenue will be over $90 million in 2009. Electric savings increased by 13.6 
aMW for best case and annual therms increased by about 375,000. 
 


There were no anticipated changes in renewable energy generation for either year. 
 


Draft 2007 Audited Financial Statements 
 


The committee had previously been sent the draft audited financial statements for 2007. It appears 
Energy Trust will receive an unqualified audit opinion again this year, consistent with one of our OPUC 
minimum performance measure requirements. Work is still being completed on some of the audit 
procedures and the final report will not be available until that is complete. 
 


Year to Year Pattern of Variances 
 


Pati presented an analysis she and Amanda prepared outlining year to year variances in financial line 
items. This was in response to a question raised by John K. regarding continuing variances in certain line 
items which often occur each year. Revenues are consistently over budget and expenditures consistently 
under. John thought this might cause concern about the credibility of our budgeting process.  
 


The analysis showed general improvement in the variance amounts over the past three years in most 
categories, with renewable energy incentives having the most variability. It frequently seems that there 
are variances in professional services as well. Sue commented that having revenue variances in excess of 
budget is desirable on a small scale, for it allows for gradual program adjustments vs. major fluctuations 







Finance Committee Notes  March 17, 2008 


 2


due to revenue shortfalls. Most major expense categories reflect an estimate of the timing of payments. 
Some of the less critical categories may be evenly distributed over the course of a year, as estimating 
the timing is futile.  
 


John believed it was important for us to all understand and explain causes of variances and to use that 
information for subsequent budget improvements, as appropriate. The forecasting process and reports 
provide better and more current information and are not used to report variances as they are not 
officially approved by the Board. 
 


Possible Requirement to Track Interest Income 
 


John requested an update on this potential requirement originally discussed at the previous board 
meeting. Sue responded that we have not yet been asked by the OPUC to implement this change. Both 
Sue and Margie would like to maintain Energy Trust's flexibility in managing its interest income and 
reserve requirements without the additional complexity of managing multiple pools of funds and 
reserves. 
 


Plan for Board Training on Net Present Value (NPV) 
 


This topic arose at the last Board meeting during discussion of calculations for a renewable energy 
project. Because there was some confusion about what the Board may want on this topic, John will 
confirm the request at the next Board meeting. 
 


The methodology used for above market cost calculations provides for net present value computations 
when determining the internal rate of return and above market cost. The model used is both intricate 
and complex. Peter has offered to provide a training session on it if that is what the Board would like. In 
the meantime, Peter is planning on presenting a matrix of factors and risks considered in assessing 
potential renewable energy projects at a future Board meeting. This is intended to help address Alan 
Meyer’s questions regarding fiscal role on these projects.  
 


If John determines that some members of the Board would simply like a training session on net present 
value in general, Sue will schedule a time for any interested group to participate. 
 


January 31, 2008 Financial Statements 
 


Sue presented the January financial report, using a new format to portray variances from budget. She 
asked for feedback from the committee as to the helpfulness of the new format in understanding the 
variances. Feedback was positive. For January, overall revenue was very close to budget. However, 
expenses were 47% below budget. Over 80% of the expense variance in January was in incentive 
payments with the bulk of that in the renewable energy program. A number of factors restricted 
incentives, including ramped up selling activities, project delays and project drop offs. 
 


Administrative plus program support costs came in at 5%. 
 


Line of Credit Renewal  
 


Sue reported that Bank of the Cascades has approved the renewal of the $4 million unsecured line of 
credit for another year; the interest rate is prime minus .50%. The final documents will be brought to 
the Committee for their review at the next meeting. 
 


Next Meeting 
 


The next Finance Committee meeting is scheduled for April 21, 2008 at 3:30 pm. The meeting 
adjourned at 4:30 pm 








 
 
 
 


Resolution 464 
Approving Changes to the Energy Trust Cost-
Effectiveness Policy 
Category: Policy 
Adopted: February 13, 2008  
 


APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE ENERGY TRUST COST 
EFFECTIVENESS POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust uses a three percent discount rate to evaluate efficiency programs 
for purposes of analyzing new measures and initiatives, developing supply curves 
and reporting on results. Utilities, in contrast, use higher discount rates for 
efficiency and other resource options. 


2. When Energy Trust and utilities use different discount rates, the OPUC has a 
hard time evaluating efficiency costs compared to other resources in integrated 
resource planning. The problem becomes more significant with the passage of 
the Oregon Renewable Energy Act, which authorizes the utilities to seek 
supplemental efficiency funds. The OPUC intends to evaluate those filings using 
IRP data and analysis. 


3. Energy Trust has discussed discount rate with OPUC and utility staffs in the 
context of other factors that affect the avoided cost of resource, factors such as 
avoided fuel and construction costs, savings from avoided transmission and 
distribution construction, avoided power delivery, CO2 benefits, the 10% 
conservation advantage from the regional power act, and hedge value of 
efficiency. 


4. Energy Trust has communicated to the OPUC the importance of increasing the 
levelized cost performance measure that the OPUC uses to evaluate Energy 
Trust program performance. Without such an increase, using a higher discount 
rate could prejudice Energy Trust programs. 


5. Assuming a higher levelized cost performance measure and considering the 
other avoided cost factors mentioned above, increasing the discount rate 
Energy Trust uses to qualify and evaluate measures and programs to 5.2% 
should not have a significant effect on Energy Trust programs. 


 


THEREFORE, the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. board of directors amends the 
Energy Trust cost-effectiveness policy as follows: 







Resolution 464 
Approving Changes to the Energy Trust Cost-Effectiveness Policy February 13, 2008 


 2


4.06.000-P Cost-Effectiveness Policy and General Methodology for the Energy Trust of Oregon 
 
History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review Date 
Board Decision February 27, 2002 Approved (R83) March 22, 2002 


Board March 22, 2002 Reviewed, 
Revised  


April 3, 2002 


Board April 3, 2002 Reviewed, 
Revised 


(Minutes) 


April 2005 


Board September 7, 2005 Revised (R353) September 2008 
Board February 13, 2008 Revised (R464) February 2011 


 
Introduction 
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon seeks a future that includes sufficient, stable, and affordable power available 
to all customers through sustained investment in energy efficiency and renewable resources that reduce 
the economic and environmental costs of using gas and electricity. To properly evaluate such 
investments, the Energy Trust of Oregon (Trust) evaluates energy saving projects and measures and 
analyzes how to compare their economic cost compares to alternative sources of gas and electric 
energy. In the past the Oregon Public Utility Commission (OPUC), the Northwest Power and 
Conservation Council (NWPPCC) and the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (Alliance) have all used 
similar approaches and assumptions to analyze the cost-effectiveness of energy efficiency investments. 
This policy encompasses three generic perspectives – Consumer, Utility System, and Societal. It 
describes the key variables or economic model inputs that define these perspectives and allow the 
analyst to compare the cost of energy efficiency to conventional sources of gas and electrical energy.  
 
Policy  
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon adopts the Utility and Societal perspectives, as described below, as its 
primary perspectives for evaluating energy efficiency projects. It will also use the utility-system 
perspective as an additional tool to assure that the kWh saved per dollar invested by the Trust is 
reasonable. The Consumer perspective is used to help design projects. 
 
The societal cost definition is in alignment with the OPUC docket no. UM-551’s definition of Total 
Resource Cost (Societal) perspective as including total costs and total benefits in cost effectiveness 
calculations. The following costs will be included in the societal perspective: 


1. Trust incentives paid to the participant  
2. Trust administrative costs  
3. Monitoring, evaluation and non-incentive costs of PMCs and Energy Trust staff  
4. Oregon and local government  administrative costs associated with incentives 
5. The participants remaining out-of-pocket costs for the installed cost of the measures 


 
The cost of tax credits to the State of Oregon will not be included, because they are considered to be a 
transfer, not a net cost to society. However, to the extent that they are significant, the administrative 
costs of those tax credits will be considered. 
 
The Energy Trust will include the following benefits: 


1. the value of the electrical and/or gas energy saved based on (1) the Regional Technical Forum 
long-term forecast of wholesale market prices for electricity and (2) the NW Natural gas price 







Resolution 464 
Approving Changes to the Energy Trust Cost-Effectiveness Policy February 13, 2008 


 3


forecast for gas, as long as it is reasonably consistent with the Regional Technical Forum 
forecast of gas prices for power plant fuel.  


2. non-energy benefits as quantified by a reasonable and practical method and described in 
situations where they cannot practically be quantified  


3. for electricity, bulk system transmission capacity benefits (both line loss and avoided 
transmission construction.  


4. for electricity, transmission and distribution benefits, both line losses and avoided Transmission 
and Distribution construction.  


5. natural gas capacity benefits are of a lesser magnitude and difficult to quantify, so the Energy 
Trust will not quantify them. Natural gas delivery loss benefits are also modest in magnitude. 
Local delivery losses will be considered to the extent that they are included in NW Natural 
price forecasts. Gas transmission losses are difficult to quantify and will be described.  


 
In addition, the Energy Trust will apply in its analysis the 10% credit for energy efficiency as required 
under the Northwest Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551. This credit recognizes the benefits of 
conservation in addressing risk and uncertainty. 
 
Both the Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551 also suggest consideration of external costs such as 
environmental costs associated with air pollution. The Trust will initially use a credit of $15.00 per ton 
of carbon dioxide and will update that figure as information improves. 
 
Methodology 
 
The following additional decisions have been made about implementation of this policy: 
• For the near-term, the Pro-cost model, using marginal costs from the Aurora model, will be used to 


analyze the costs and savings of efficiency programs. The selection and specifics of these tools will be 
updated as time, resources, and opportunities permit to maximize transparency, time-dependent 
variations in resource value, and reasonableness. 


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will adopt a 5.2% discount rate for comparing the costs and benefits of 
efficiency investments to other investments.  


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will refine estimates of line losses specific to Oregon based on new 
information from utilities.  


 
The Energy Trust of Oregon will consider avoided transmission and distribution costs attributable to 
efficiency measures as appropriate.  
 
The economic comparison will be presented as a benefit-to-cost ratio except for the consumer 
perspective that (for reference) will be presented as two simple paybacks, one with non-electric benefits 
and one without non-electric benefits. The final decision on cost effectiveness will be based on the 
benefit-to-cost ratio for the Societal and Utility System perspectives (must pass both if data permits use 
of both) over the appropriate project period along with description and Board consideration of non-
quantified costs and benefits. The Energy Trust will also consider other factors in selecting programs, as 
specified in the various strategic and action planning documents of the Energy Trust. 
 
The cost-effectiveness analysis will include impact on the action of customers who do not directly 
participate and long term market effects (e.g., impact on long-term price, sales, or efficacy of efficient 
technologies beyond the direct program participants) for projects where such effects are a significant 
and likely result. 
 







Resolution 464 
Approving Changes to the Energy Trust Cost-Effectiveness Policy February 13, 2008 


 4


In conclusion, an Energy Trust project should be reviewed from both the Utility system and the Societal 
perspectives, and if the Societal benefit-to-cost ratio is greater than 1.0, it should be considered cost 
effective. 
 
Caddy McKeown asked for clarification if Tom was still a voting board member. Tom replied that his 
term on the board ends at the end of this meeting. 
 


Moved by: Al Jubitz Seconded by: Tom Foley 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 13, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 


 








 
 
Finance Report 
January 31, 2008 
 
Review January 2008 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 


January’s balance sheet reflected an increase in activity for the month. The most significant change is 
evident in the change in the accounts payable balance reflecting the payment of incentives for a large 
volume of projects completed in December 2007. Those incentives were reported as December 
expenses but were actually paid in January. The balance sheet also shows $40k cash received for the 
Cascade WA study, a full month’s NEEA expense of $208k, and some fixed asset purchases of 
computers.  


 
Income Statements 


• Public purpose revenues for the month tracked closely with budget this month.  
• Expenses in January were approximately 53% of budget.  The major variances are described 


below. 
  
 Revenue 


Public Purpose Revenue 


Public Purpose Revenue Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
PGE


Energy Efficiency 1,741                        1,741$                             0%
Renewable Energy (19,195)                    (19,195)                           (2%)


PacifiCorp
Energy Efficiency (16,856)                    (16,856)                           (1%)
Renewable Energy (5,077)                     (5,077)                             (1%)


NW Natural 31,035                      31,035                             2%
Cascade 5,717                        5,717                              4%
Total 38,493$                    (41,128)$                   (2,635)$                           0%  


 
Interest income tracked closely to budget (less than 1% different). 


   
Expenses 


Overall Expenses: below budget by $2.8 million (47% under budget) 
 


Program Management, Delivery & Marketing (4% of expense variance)                


Prog Mgmt, Deliv & Mktng Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
Energy Efficiency


Residential (69,396)                    (69,396)$                          8%
Commercial (24,872)                    (24,872)                           5%
Industrial (5,325)                     (5,325)                             2%


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                          -                                  0%
Solar (3,292)                     (3,292)                             100%
Open Solicitation (5,000)                     (5,000)                             100%
Utility Scale -                          -                                  0%
Wind (61)                          (61)                                  4%


Total -$                         (107,946)$                 (107,946)$                       6%  
 
 
 







Finance Report  January 31, 2008 


 2


Incentives (81% of expense variance) 


Incentives Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
Energy Efficiency


Residential 179,610                    179,610$                          108%
Commercial 62,446                      62,446                             55%
Industrial 24,456                      24,456                             18%


Renewable Energy
Biopower (56,993)                    (56,993)                           (77%)
Solar (568,146)                  (568,146)                          (88%)
Open Solicitation 518                          518                                 0%
Utility Scale (364,417)                  (364,417)                          (100%)
Wind (1,528,049)               (1,528,049)                       (100%)


Total 267,030$                  (2,517,605)$              (2,250,575)$                    (74%)  
• Solar – Delays in incentives are being experienced due to contractors spending time “selling” rather than installing. 


The selling will continue to be ramped up through mid-year due to the upcoming expiration of the 30% federal tax 
credit.  The program is still forecasted to spend its full incentive budget by year end, but the expenses will be very 
heavily weighted toward the end of the year. 


• Utility Scale – Pacific Power’s GoodNoe Hills wind project has run into delays. As such, incentives will not begin 
until mid-year, with variances increasing between now and June. Payments are expected to be completed by year end. 


• Wind – For community wind, an indefinite delay has occurred on a project for which major payments were 
anticipated in all 3 months of Q1 2008. And two projects have decided not to go forward after all. Small wind 
projects are coming in, but just slower than anticipated. 


 
Professional Services (11% of expense variance) 
Professional Services Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under) % of total
Evaluation & Planning (152,137)                  (152,137)$                         51%
Renewables (35,495)                    (35,495)                           12%
Marketing (36,696)                    (36,696)                           12%
Commercial Sector (27,474)                    (27,474)                           9%
Administration (23,580)                    (23,580)                           8%
Website (11,388)                    (11,388)                           4%
Residential (9,356)                     (9,356)                             3%
Other (2,448)                     (2,448)                             1%
Total -$                         (298,574)$                 (298,574)$                       100%  
• Evaluation & Planning – Due to the nature of evaluation and planning activities, it is most meaningful to evaluate 


the budget variances on a cumulative basis after several months.  Some projects are accelerating later than expected 
and others are still being considered or refined as circumstances change and needs become more clearly defined. 


• Renewables – The delays in project activity has decreased the current need for some anticipated professional 
services. The precise timing of the individual payments is very difficult to predict, but the work will still be completed. 


• Marketing – The largest variance is related to Media Ads for which the timing cannot be accurately predicted at the 
point the budget is created. Budgeted amounts for the year as a whole are still expected to be on target.  


 
By Division-Total Expenses 
By Division Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under) % of total
Energy Efficiency


Electric (263,355)                  (263,355)$                         9%
Gas 137,325                    137,325                           (5%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower (84,524)                    (84,524)                           3%
Solar (16,493)                    (16,493)                           1%
Open Solicitation (596,132)                  (596,132)                          21%
Utility Scale (375,759)                  (375,759)                          13%
Wind (1,596,580)               (1,596,580)                       57%


Total 137,325$                  (2,932,843)$              (2,795,518)$                    100%  
 


Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 
o 5%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year January was 5.3%. Last month’s rate was 6%. 








JAN DEC JAN Change from Change from
2008 2007 2007 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 54,077,272 52,994,983 48,269,549 1,082,289 5,807,723
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 12,139,720 12,096,649 6,772,701 43,071 5,367,019
  Receivables 17,967 62,208 37,123 (44,242) (19,156)
  Prepaid Expenses 58,844 77,175 63,037 (18,331) (4,193)
  Advances to Vendors 640,865 922,974 693,708 (282,109) (52,843)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
   Total Current Assets 66,934,669 66,153,990 55,836,118 780,679 11,098,551


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 897,961 885,669 825,164 12,292 72,797
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                       -                       
  Office Equipment and Furniture 41,323 41,323 70,721 -                       (29,398)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,052,626 1,040,334 1,009,227 12,292 43,399
  Less Depreciation (912,026) (905,274) (835,911) (6,753) (76,116)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 140,600 135,061 173,317 5,539 (32,717)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 36,412 -                       (10,412)
  Deferred Compensation Asset 51,397 49,684 25,608 1,713 25,789


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 77,397 75,684 62,020 1,713 15,377


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Assets 67,152,666 66,364,735 56,071,455 787,931 11,081,212


=========== =========== =========== ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 3,405,569 6,236,442 2,588,556 (2,830,873) 817,013
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 300,232 275,553 236,325 24,679 63,907
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue -                 -                 5,000 -                       (5,000)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 3,705,801 6,511,995 2,829,880 (2,806,194) 875,921


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 169,047 171,430 186,911 (2,384) (17,864)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 51,397 49,684 25,608 1,713 25,789
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 12,386 12,386 16,322 -                       (3,936)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 232,830 233,501 228,841 (671) 3,989


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 3,938,631 6,745,496 3,058,721 (2,806,865) 879,910


Net Assets
  Current Yr Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 3,551,725 18,218,854 3,935,995 (14,667,129) (384,270)
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 12,139,720 12,096,649 6,772,701 43,071 5,367,019
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE -                 -                 12,500,000 -                       (12,500,000)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 47,522,590 29,303,736 29,577,351 18,218,854 17,945,239
  Temp Restricted Net Assets-Beg of Year -                 -                 226,686 -                       (226,686)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Net Assets 63,214,035 59,619,239 53,012,733 3,594,796 10,201,302


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 67,152,666 66,364,735 56,071,455 787,931 11,081,212


=========== =========== =========== ============= =============
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET


January 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







 January Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,594,796$     3,594,796$        


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,752             6,752                
Deferred Rent Amortization (2,383)            (2,383)              


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 2,041             2,041                
Other Receivables 42,200           42,200              
Advances to Vendors 282,109          282,109            
Other Assets 16,618           16,618              
A/P - Program Subcontracts 155,879          155,879            
A/P - Incentives (2,935,248)      (2,935,248)        
A/P - Professional Services 10,199           10,199              
A/P - Operations (61,703)          (61,703)             
Payroll and related accruals 26,392           26,392              
Other long-term liabilities -                -                   


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,137,652       1,137,652         


Investing Activites:


Acquisition/(Disposal) of Capital Assets (12,292)          (12,292)             
Cash used in Investing Activities (12,292)          (12,292)             


Cash at beginning of Period 65,091,632     65,091,632        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,125,360       1,125,360         


Cash at end of period 66,216,992$   66,216,992$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actual (Jan08) & Forecasts


Actual


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,508,323        6,964,634        6,532,790        5,989,955        5,110,125        4,892,367        4,695,038        4,905,005        4,948,356        4,776,640        4,803,275        5,522,022        


  Investment Income 224,303           213,491           213,884           211,941           210,363           207,545           203,418           198,423           189,784           179,431           168,710           155,557           


Total cash in 6,732,626        7,178,125        6,746,674        6,201,896        5,320,487        5,099,912        4,898,457        5,103,428        5,138,140        4,956,071        4,971,985        5,677,580        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 1,148,277        1,459,596        2,309,461        1,395,289        1,481,977        2,393,307        1,482,177        1,551,140        2,436,822        1,551,140        1,612,161        2,367,914        


    Incentives 3,718,094        3,508,900        3,435,169        3,967,334        2,494,820        2,555,501        3,201,448        4,378,186        4,663,173        5,220,833        5,663,528        6,623,093        


    Salaries and related expense 379,836           607,093           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           


    Professional services 176,920           94,374            187,119           485,693           485,693           582,310           552,360           556,360           563,643           563,643           567,143           547,482           


    General operating expenses 184,139           28,413            157,827           222,394           214,528           214,312           173,166           166,451           186,793           160,456           155,314           150,117           


Total cash out 5,607,266        5,698,376        6,600,356        6,581,490        5,187,797        6,256,209        5,919,929        7,162,915        8,361,210        8,006,851        8,508,925        10,199,385      


Net cash flow for the month 1,125,360        1,479,749        146,318           (379,594)          132,691           (1,156,297)       (1,021,472)       (2,059,487)       (3,223,070)       (3,050,780)       (3,536,940)       (4,521,806)       


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 65,091,632      66,216,992      67,696,741      67,843,059      67,463,466      67,596,156      66,439,860      65,418,387      63,358,900      60,135,830      57,085,050      53,548,110      


Ending cash & MM 66,216,992      67,696,741      67,843,059      67,463,466      67,596,156      66,439,860      65,418,387      63,358,900      60,135,830      57,085,050      53,548,110      49,026,304      


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 12,096,649      12,139,720      12,056,501      11,904,222      11,689,869      11,573,736      11,435,682      11,191,418      11,075,846      10,991,827      10,768,088      10,668,300      


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding -                     (105,552)          (174,143)          (235,484)          (136,607)          (158,020)          (263,467)          (134,058)          (102,106)          (241,212)          (116,616)          (79,357)           


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 43,071            22,333            21,863            21,132            20,473            19,966            19,203            18,486            18,087            17,474            16,828            16,504            


Ending Escrow Balance1
12,139,720      12,056,501      11,904,222      11,689,869      11,573,736      11,435,682      11,191,418      11,075,846      10,991,827      10,768,088      10,668,300      10,605,447      


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Forecast 2008-F-03 (no 838)







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actual (Jan08) & Forecast


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009


January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,789,173     7,263,202     6,793,352     6,223,872     5,306,950     5,071,778     4,857,697     5,079,021     5,117,686         4,946,804     4,989,512        5,773,646       


144,103       147,366       160,834       171,539       179,969       186,474       190,671       194,848       199,421           200,883       200,185          188,214          


6,933,276     7,410,568     6,954,186     6,395,412     5,486,919     5,258,252     5,048,368     5,273,869     5,317,106         5,147,687     5,189,696        5,961,860       


1,616,463     1,881,117     2,176,944     1,419,594     1,488,853     2,226,698     1,488,853     1,528,910     2,245,990         1,528,910     1,661,003        2,378,082       


8,440,134     2,145,652     2,426,932     2,798,917     2,338,373     2,842,500     2,927,556     2,495,829     2,936,514         4,202,689     4,106,157        11,806,284     


541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604           541,604       541,604          541,604          


548,032       558,982       502,818       502,818       502,818       499,273       492,673       496,673       505,863           505,863       520,413          513,640          


200,765       170,957       160,509       162,489       153,108       148,787       149,988       146,052       162,113           167,886       155,553          155,302          


11,346,998   5,298,313     5,808,807     5,425,422     5,024,756     6,258,863     5,600,675     5,209,069     6,392,084         6,946,953     6,984,730        15,394,912     


(4,413,722)    2,112,255     1,145,379     969,990       462,163       (1,000,611)    (552,307)      64,800         (1,074,978)       (1,799,266)    (1,795,034)       (9,433,052)      


49,026,304   44,612,582   46,724,837   47,870,216   48,840,205   49,302,368   48,301,757   47,749,450   47,814,250       46,739,271   44,940,005      43,144,971     


44,612,582   46,724,837   47,870,216   48,840,205   49,302,368   48,301,757   47,749,450   47,814,250   46,739,271       44,940,005   43,144,971      33,711,919     


10,605,447   10,543,625   10,454,026   10,295,340   10,074,557   9,951,966     9,807,429     9,556,657     9,434,549         9,343,970     9,113,644        9,007,243       


(78,077)        (105,552)      (174,143)      (235,484)      (136,607)      (158,020)      (263,467)      (134,058)      (102,106)          (241,212)      (116,616)         (79,357)          


16,255         15,953         15,458         14,701         14,016         13,483         12,695         11,951         11,526             10,886         10,215            9,864             


10,543,625   10,454,026   10,295,340   10,074,557   9,951,966     9,807,429     9,556,657     9,434,549     9,343,970         9,113,644     9,007,243        8,937,749       


Forecast 2009-F-01 (no 838)







January YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 3,166,462 3,183,916 (17,454) 3,166,462 3,183,916 (17,454)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,971,844 1,993,777 (21,933) 1,971,844 1,993,777 (21,933)


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 1,227,326 1,196,291 31,035 1,227,326 1,196,291 31,035


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 142,691 136,973 5,718 142,691 136,973 5,718


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------
Total Public Purpose Funds 6,508,323 6,510,957 (2,635) 6,508,323 6,510,957 (2,635)


Revenue from Investments 222,262 220,664 1,598 222,262 220,664 1,598
----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 6,730,585 6,731,621 (1,037) 6,730,585 6,731,621 (1,037)
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,628,465 1,736,411 107,946 1,628,465 1,736,411 107,946


Incentives 782,846 3,033,421 2,250,575 782,846 3,033,421 2,250,575


Salaries and Related Expenses 406,228 510,779 104,550 406,228 510,779 104,550


Professional Services 187,119 485,693 298,574 187,119 485,693 298,574


Supplies 3,342 13,575 10,233 3,342 13,575 10,233


Telephone 3,213 4,725 1,512 3,213 4,725 1,512


Postage and Shipping Expenses 4,052 5,396 1,344 4,052 5,396 1,344


Occupancy Expenses 26,406 28,501 2,094 26,406 28,501 2,094


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depreciation 12,205 28,854 16,648 12,205 28,854 16,648


Call Center 12,203 17,736 5,534 12,203 17,736 5,534


Printing and Publications 14,466 16,369 1,902 14,466 16,369 1,902


Travel 9,454 13,971 4,517 9,454 13,971 4,517


Conference, Training & Mtng Expenses 27,866 25,413 (2,454) 27,866 25,413 (2,454)


Insurance 10,841 5,000 (5,841) 10,841 5,000 (5,841)


Miscellaneous Expenses 0 217 217 0 217 217


Dues, Licenses and Fees 7,082 5,247 (1,835) 7,082 5,247 (1,835)


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 3,135,789 5,931,306 2,795,518 3,135,789 5,931,306 2,795,518


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPEN 3,594,796 800,315 2,794,481 3,594,796 800,315 2,794,481
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Month Ending January 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 2,311,711 99,599 2,411,310 -                           2,411,310
Payroll and Related Expenses 99,815 64,400 164,215 89,698 24,528 114,226 278,441
Outsourced Services 70,135 47,021 117,156 10,833 19,026 29,859 147,015
Planning and Evaluation 55,648 12,547 68,195 893 82 975 69,170
Customer Service Management 43,856 2,475 46,331 -                           46,331


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 2,581,165 226,042 2,807,207 101,424 43,636 145,060 2,952,267


Program Support Costs


Supplies 1,263 278 1,541 900 104 1,004 2,545
Postage and Shipping Expenses 270 168 438 290 2,943 3,233 3,671
Telephone 239 309 548 226 37 263 811
Printing and Publications 3,353 164 3,517 209 10,371 10,580 14,097
Occupancy Expenses 6,499 4,050 10,549 5,169 1,517 6,686 17,235
Insurance 2,668 1,663 4,331 2,122 623 2,745 7,076
Equipment 234 937 1,171 186 55 241 1,412
Travel 4,928 781 5,709 969 19 988 6,697
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 5,038 1,205 6,243 11,408 1,609 13,017 19,260
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 0 0
Depreciation & Amortization 254 831 1,085 202 59 261 1,346
Dues, Licenses and Fees 4,755 246 5,001 1,177 904 2,081 7,082
Miscellaneous Expenses 0 0 0
IT Services 70,109 11,574 81,683 14,008 6,599 20,607 102,290


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 99,610 22,206 121,816 36,866 24,840 61,706 183,522


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 2,680,775 248,248 2,929,023 138,290 68,476 206,766 3,135,789


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.0%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Month Ending January 31, 2008







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $2,447,920 $1,514,948 $1,227,326 $142,691 $5,332,885 $718,542 $456,896 $1,175,438 $6,508,323
Revenue from Investments 222,262 222,262


--------------------- --------------------- -------------------- --------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 2,447,920 1,514,948 1,227,326 142,691 5,332,885 718,542 456,896 1,175,438 222,262 6,730,585


--------------------- --------------------- -------------------- --------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 115,878 47,959 63,334 6,490 574 234,235 40,586 23,813 64,399 298,634
  Program Delivery 689,700 376,849 188,169 25,027 2,547 1,282,292 863 575 1,438 1,283,730
  Incentives 276,792 133,399 262,220 11,480 794 684,685 47,136 51,025 98,161 782,846
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 34,835 16,139 16,145 1,390 126 68,634 8,513 4,034 12,547 81,181
  Program Marketing/Outreach 131,698 49,638 52,464 11,574 1,389 246,762 11,933 11,341 23,274 270,036
  Program Legal Services 187 96 180 15 1 480 53 43 96 576
  Program Quality Assurance 1,946 909 4,232 134 0 7,220 0 4,068 4,068 11,288
  Outsourced  Services 6,180 4,657 1,972 181 0 12,990 16,358 3,225 19,583 32,573
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 13,876 6,296 22,657 988 40 43,857 1,045 1,430 2,475 46,332
  IT Services 30,652 14,524 22,808 1,948 177 70,109 7,760 3,814 11,574 81,683
  Other Program Expenses 16,208 7,410 5,342 496 46 29,502 6,273 4,360 10,633 40,135


--------------------- --------------------- -------------------- --------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 1,317,952 657,876 639,522 59,723 5,694 2,680,766 140,519 107,729 248,248 2,929,014


--------------------- --------------------- -------------------- --------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 62,225 31,061 30,194 2,820 269 126,569 6,634 5,086 11,721 138,290
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 25,755 15,939 12,913 1,501 56,109 7,560 4,807 12,367 68,476


--------------------- --------------------- -------------------- --------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
  Total Administrative Costs 87,980 47,000 43,107 4,321 269 182,678 14,194 9,893 24,088 206,765


--------------------- --------------------- -------------------- --------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
  TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXP 1,405,932 704,876 682,629 64,044 5,963 2,863,444 154,713 117,622 272,336 3,135,780


--------------------- --------------------- -------------------- --------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 1,041,988 810,072 544,697 78,647 (5,963) 2,469,441 563,829 339,274 903,102 222,262 3,594,805


=========== =========== ========== ======== ========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ========== ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 15,159,079 (7,429,746) 7,412,993 446,188 189,069 15,777,583 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,237
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


=========== =========== ========== ======== ========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ========== ===========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 17,941,067 (5,459,674) 7,957,690 524,835 183,106 21,147,024 24,661,341 14,237,128 38,898,468 3,168,550 63,214,044


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.


IS-ST-YTD-001-bu


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program / Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Month Ending January 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 190,120 89,165 279,285 413,724 13,115 426,839 706,124 747,777              41,653                
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 328,967 168,919 497,886 149,366 46,220 5,972 201,558 699,444 656,232              (43,212)               
Market Transformation (NEEA) 51,189 38,785 89,974 -                         89,974 102,848              12,874                


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Residential 570,276        296,869        867,145          563,090        59,335    5,972      628,397           1,495,542     1,506,857     11,315          


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 221,316 54,571 275,887 81,524 2,001 83,525 359,412 409,221              49,809                
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 150,049 118,792 268,841 32,634 2,709 35,343 304,184 341,525              37,341                
Market Transformation (NEEA) 73,024 55,330 128,354 -                         128,354 140,586              12,232                


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Commercial 444,389        228,693        673,082          114,158        4,710      -          118,868           791,950        891,332        99,382          


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 341,571 141,660 483,231 5,379 5,379 488,610 495,753              7,143                  
Market Transformation (NEEA) 49,695 37,654 87,349 -                         87,349 95,537                8,188                  


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Industrial 391,266        179,314        570,580          5,379            -          -          5,379               575,959        591,290        15,331          


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 1,405,931     704,876        2,110,807       682,627        64,045    5,972      752,644           2,863,453     2,989,479     126,028        
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 34,567 13,759 48,326 -                         48,326 132,848              84,522                
Open Solicitation 31,719 849 32,568 -                         32,568 49,061                16,493                
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 67,289 91,321 158,610 -                         158,610 754,742              596,132              
Utility Scale Projects 2,933 1,939 4,872 -                         4,872 380,631              375,759              
Wind 18,210 9,750 27,960 -                         27,960 1,624,548           1,596,588           


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 154,718        117,618        272,336          -               -          -          -                   272,336        2,941,830     2,669,494     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 1,560,649     822,494        2,383,143       682,627        64,045    5,972      752,644           3,135,789     5,931,309     2,795,522     


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Month Ending January 31, 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Month and Year to Date Ended January 31, 2008
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


YTD YTD
MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER
ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $9,425 $93,114 $83,689 $9,425 $31,038 $21,613 $19,026 $84,838 $65,812 $19,026 $28,279 $9,253


Legal Services 1,408 10,125 8,717 1,408 3,375 1,967 1,875 1,875 625 625


Salaries and Related Expenses 89,698 315,715 226,017 89,698 105,238 15,540 24,528 91,566 67,038 24,528 30,522 5,994


Supplies 545 1,425 880 545 475 (70) 300 300 100 100


Telephone 100 300 200 100 100


Postage and Shipping Expenses 75 675 600 75 225 150 2,880 4,813 1,933 2,880 1,604 (1,275)


Noncapitalized Equipment 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 300 300 100 100


Printing and Publications 125 125 42 42 10,309 11,063 753 10,309 3,688 (6,622)


Travel 969 11,475 10,506 969 3,825 2,856 19 1,725 1,706 19 575 556


Conference, Training & Mtngs 11,408 31,187 19,780 11,408 10,396 (1,012) 1,609 3,125 1,516 1,609 1,042 (567)


Miscellaneous Expenses 25 25 8 8


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,177 2,679 1,502 1,177 393 (784) 904 1,250 346 904 417 (487)


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 8,583 22,474 13,891 8,583 7,491 (1,092) 2,519 7,906 5,387 2,519 2,635 117


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 14,008 52,249 38,241 14,008 17,467 3,459 6,600 24,619 18,019 6,600 8,230 1,630


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 893 4,736 3,842 893 1,579 686 82 437 354 82 146 63


---------------------- -------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 138,290 547,504 409,214 138,290 182,852 44,563 68,476 233,815 165,339 68,476 77,962 9,487
============ ============== ============= ========== ========== ============ ============ ============== ============= ========== ========== ============


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 1st Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-001







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$1,000


$2,000


$3,000


$4,000


$5,000


$6,000


$7,000


$8,000


January


(i
n 


th
ou


sa
nd


s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2008


$-


$1,000


$2,000


$3,000


$4,000


$5,000


$6,000


$7,000


$8,000


January


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2008


$-


$500


$1,000


$1,500


$2,000


$2,500


$3,000


$3,500


January


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$500


$1,000


$1,500


$2,000


$2,500


$3,000


$3,500


January


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Budget


Actual








R00407 3/10/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 3/10/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 1/31/08 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total:  3,706,294  1,219,273  2,487,022


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  590,736  268,903  321,833


Energy Efficiency Programs


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/10 19,090,000  10,205,955  8,884,045


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. New Homes and Products - 


PMC


1/1/07 12/31/08 6,316,544  7,065,960 -749,417


Science Applications International 


Corporation


NBE - PMC 1/1/06 12/31/07 6,180,047  6,143,186  36,861


Conservations Services Group, Inc. HES PMC Contract 1/1/08 12/31/08 4,688,812  292,255  4,396,557


Science Applications International 


Corporation


2008 NBE PMC 1/1/08 12/31/08 2,650,500  143,931  2,506,569


Lockheed Martin Aspen Systems 


Corporation


BE PMC contract 1/1/08 12/31/10 2,410,128  170,992  2,239,136


Nexus Energy Software Internet Energy Audit 4/27/04 4/26/08 584,000  544,429  39,571


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 520,000  61,856  458,144


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 12/1/07 12/31/10 500,000  82,533  417,467


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 500,000  80,199  419,801


Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process 


Eval


10/11/07 6/30/09 355,000  43,348  311,652


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/08 300,000  150,000  150,000


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 6/30/09 290,000  92,764  197,236


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/08 261,586  100,519  161,067


Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC Lighting Consultant 1/1/08 12/31/08 221,570  14,459  207,111


Research Into Action, Inc. PE Process & Impact 


Evaluation


8/6/07 4/30/08 220,000  157,735  62,265


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 215,000  18,888  196,112


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. 5/25/07 6/28/08 210,000  40,479  169,521


ADM Associates, Inc. BE Impact Evaluation 1/26/06 11/30/07 190,000  159,918  30,082


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 8/15/10 137,500  60,228  77,272


J. Hruska Global HES QA Services 2/21/06 12/31/07 100,000  94,788  5,213


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 90,000  48,997  41,003


J. Hruska Global HES QA services 1/1/08 12/31/08 80,000  7,220  72,780


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


6/20/06 6/30/08 74,000  62,400  11,600


Dethman & Associates Global warming & EE report 1/4/08 4/30/08 58,000  0  58,000


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 9/30/08 57,000  6,136  50,864


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 3/31/08 52,300  27,122  25,178


Blue Ocean Events LLC Better Living Show 2008 11/1/07 12/31/08 50,000  36,000  14,000


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Reg'l Technical Forum Sponsor. 2/28/07 2/27/08 35,000  35,000  0


Catherine Scott Residential contractor 10/8/07 12/31/08 32,000  7,070  24,930


Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 1/31/09 30,000  440  29,560


Entercom Portland, LLC Radio Commercials w/PECI 7/15/07 12/15/07 24,000  16,500  7,500


KEMA Incorporated Change A Light Evaluation 9/1/07 6/30/08 20,000  2,600  17,400


DE Solutions, Inc. Planning Services 11/12/07 10/31/08 20,000  0  20,000


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


4/19/07 6/30/08 17,000  17,000  0


Daily Journal of Commerce Daily Journal advertising 2008 1/25/08 12/31/08 15,400  0  15,400


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2008 Emerging Tech Sponsor 12/12/07 3/31/08 12,000  0  12,000


Lane Community College 2008 Scholarships 1/14/08 12/31/08 11,800  0  11,800


ECONorthwest New Building services 12/1/07 11/30/08 10,000  456  9,544


Earth Advantage, Inc. Program Sponsorship 


agreement


1/2/08 1/1/09 10,000  10,000  0







R00407 3/10/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 3/10/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 1/31/08 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship 3/27/07 3/26/08 5,000  5,000  0


Energy Efficiency Total:  46,644,186  26,006,361  20,637,826


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services 5/1/04 4/30/08 1,435,000  666,874  768,126


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment 2007 8/21/07 3/31/08 93,150  15,826  77,324


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/07 62,000  30,917  31,083


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 56,440  23,401  33,039


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 3/31/08 48,110  11,637  36,473


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/08 42,500  35,425  7,075


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 4/30/08 33,040  33,040  0


Brien Sipe Professional Services 5/1/07 6/30/08 30,000  14,505  15,495


Portland Monthly, Inc. Portland Monthly Ads 2008 1/1/08 12/31/08 24,894  0  24,894


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/08 24,000  7,381  16,619


Community Newspapers Inc. 2008 Advertising Contract 1/1/08 12/31/08 19,440  0  19,440


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 17,550  9,945  7,606


Joint Programs Total:  1,886,124  848,951  1,037,173


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 6/18/07 6/30/28 6,000,000  6,000,000  0


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East 9/20/06 7/1/08 4,500,000  0  4,500,000


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 7/21/26 1,685,088  0  1,685,088


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 2/17/25 475,000  0  475,000


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 3/13/28 362,000  0  362,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 2/21/08 341,266  335,174  6,092


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program 10/1/02 9/30/08 266,529  253,362  13,167


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


9/1/05 9/1/25 186,910  186,910  0


SmartPower, Inc. Market Research Consultant 6/26/07 1/31/08 103,500  103,500  0


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


Professional Services - RE 5/10/07 4/30/08 90,000  52,967  37,033


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/08 87,700  74,261  13,439


Excidian LLC RE CE spreadsheet review 11/21/07 12/31/08 85,150  0  85,150


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/1/26 79,815  37,671  42,144


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 3/31/08 58,000  16,125  41,875


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


(5) PGE PV Demo Projects 9/25/06 12/31/07 55,500  44,400  11,100


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 7/14/08 49,600  20,281  29,319


Clean Power Research, LLC Solar PV software/services 9/1/06 8/31/08 40,500  4,394  36,106


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services 4/27/07 6/30/08 40,200  34,200  6,000


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) 7/1/07 6/30/08 38,391  22,395  15,996


Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 7/31/08 37,000  3,100  33,900


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind System 4/28/05 4/28/25 36,117  0  36,117


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School 12/10/04 12/10/29 35,000  0  35,000


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 5/25/27 32,500  0  32,500


Tualatin Valley Water District Hydro Turbine Study 2/12/08 7/31/08 30,000  0  30,000


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/08 28,200  23,828  4,373


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Anaerobic digester study 10/1/07 11/15/07 25,000  25,000  0


Multnomah Board of County 


Commissioners


Wind Power feasibility study 8/29/07 6/1/08 25,000  0  25,000


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 12/31/22 24,125  0  24,125


Hood River County Hydropower Feasibility Study 1/30/07 2/15/08 22,000  0  22,000


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study 2/15/07 5/1/08 20,000  0  20,000


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/08 19,845  7,355  12,490







R00407 3/10/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 3/10/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 1/31/08 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/08 16,900  5,637  11,263


HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 6/30/08 16,619  6,725  9,894


Oregon Cherry Growers, Inc. bio feasibility study 8/28/07 1/15/08 16,188  0  16,188


Compression Engineering 


Corporation


Geothermal generator study 10/17/07 2/29/08 15,000  0  15,000


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/08 15,000  4,984  10,016


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC Solar services 11/12/07 10/31/08 14,500  683  13,818


David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 5/31/28 13,391  0  13,391


City of Woodburn Woodburn WWTP Feasibility 6/7/07 1/15/08 13,266  7,829  5,437


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/1/20 13,150  1,588  11,562


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/08 13,000  10,753  2,247


Boise White Paper, LLC bio cogen feasibility study 9/12/07 12/31/07 9,540  9,450  90


Stimson Lumber Company bio cogen feasibility study 9/13/07 2/15/08 9,127  0  9,127


Sustainable Industries Journal Advertising 1/1/08 12/31/08 9,100  1,050  8,050


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 5/31/08 8,000  0  8,000


Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 8/31/08 5,600  4,550  1,050


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund 


MOU


10/4/06 10/31/08 5,000  0  5,000


Evergreen Energy Corporation Renewable energy consultant 12/17/07 12/31/08 5,000  4,068  932


China Hollow, LLC China Hollow 9006 grant 4/2/07 12/31/07 4,400  3,960  440


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC RETAA (Solar) 11/12/07 10/31/08 3,500  0  3,500


David W. McClain RETAA 5/11/07 4/30/08 3,125  0  3,125


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 9/30/08 1,590  996  595


Advanced Energy Systems, LLC Community Wind contractor 9/25/07 8/31/08 960  960  0


Renewable Energy Total:  15,091,892  7,308,154  7,783,738


 67,919,233  35,651,641  32,267,592Grand Totals:








 
 
Finance Report 
February 29, 2008 
 
Review February 2008 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 


The most significant change on February’s balance sheet is the increase in cash, which almost 
mirrors the net income for the month. Other changes included 1) a decrease in accounts payable 
reflecting the payment of incentives for some projects completed in January 2008 and 2) a full 
month’s NEEA expense of $278k.  


 
Income Statements 


• Budget to actual variances in this report are based on the budget approved by the Board in 
December 2007 and therefore do not reflect changes scheduled to be incorporated in the 
revised budget to be presented to the Board on April 9th. 


• Public purpose revenues year to date varied only 3% from budgeted amounts.  
• February year to date expenses were approximately 57% of budget.  The major variances are 


described below. 
 
 Revenue 


Public Purpose Revenue 


Public Purpose Revenue Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
PGE


Energy Efficiency 182,633                    -                          182,633$                          4%
Renewable Energy 10,572                      -                          10,572                             1%


PacifiCorp
Energy Efficiency 76,158                      -                          76,158                             2%
Renewable Energy 18,148                      -                          18,148                             2%


NW Natural 55,059                      -                          55,059                             2%
Cascade 27,498                      -                          27,498                             9%
Total 370,068$                  -$                         370,068$                        3%  


 
Interest income tracked closely to budget (1% difference) and is below budget reflecting the 
decline in interest rates experienced in the past few months. The revised budget adjusts for a 
reduction in those rates. 
  


Expenses 
Overall Expenses: below budget by $5.3 million (43% under budget) 


 
Program Management, Delivery & Marketing (4% of expense variance)                


Prog Mgmt, Deliv & Mktng Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
Energy Efficiency


Residential -$                         (170,979)$                 (170,979)$                         (9%)
Commercial -                           (39,910)                    (39,910)                           (4%)
Industrial -                           (23,031)                    (23,031)                           (4%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                           -                          -                                  0%
Open Solicitation -                           (10,000)                    (10,000)                           (100%)
Solar -                           (4,193)                     (4,193)                             (64%)
Utility Scale -                           -                          -                                  0%
Wind -                           (1,562)                     (1,562)                             (52%)


Total -$                         (249,675)$                 (249,675)$                       (7%)  







Finance Report  February 29, 2008 


 2


Incentives (82% of expense variance) 


Incentives Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
Energy Efficiency


Residential 518,142$                  -$                         518,142$                          116%
Commercial 248,452                    -                          248,452                           75%
Industrial -                           (38,780)                    (38,780)                           (11%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                           (185,326)                  (185,326)                          (85%)
Open Solicitation 518                          -                          518                                 100%
Solar -                           (1,131,391)               (1,131,391)                       (87%)
Utility Scale -                           (728,833)                  (728,833)                          (100%)
Wind -                           (3,056,100)               (3,056,100)                       (100%)


Total 767,112$                  (5,140,430)$              (4,373,318)$                    (68%)  
• Residential – There was a big uptake in specialty bulbs in January and February that is reflected in the revised 2008 


budget. Additionally, January and February showed much stronger interest in new homes than was originally 
anticipated. In existing homes, the incentive curve used did not adequately reflect heating season activity for the first 
two months. That has also been adjusted in the revised budget.  


• Commercial – Project completion rates were higher than anticipated in all service territories except for Cascade. A 
large number of foodservice projects were completed particularly in the NW Natural service territory. 


• Solar – Delays in incentives are being experienced due to contractors spending time “selling” rather than installing. 
The selling will continue to be ramped up through mid-year due to the upcoming expiration of the 30% federal tax 
credit.  The program is still forecasted to spend its full incentive budget by year end, but the expenses will be very 
heavily weighted toward the end of the year. 


• Utility Scale – Pacific Power’s GoodNoe Hills wind project has run into delays. As such, incentives will not begin 
until mid-year, with variances increasing between now and June. Payments are expected to be completed by year end. 


• Wind – For community wind, an indefinite delay has occurred on a project for which major payments were 
anticipated in all 3 months of Q1 2008. And two projects have decided not to go forward after all. Small wind 
projects are coming in, but just slower than anticipated. 


 
Professional Services (8% of expense variance) 
Professional Services Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under) % of total
Evaluation & Planning -$                         (138,491)$                 (138,491)$                         32%
Marketing -                           (98,557)                    (98,557)                           23%
Energy Efficiency -                           (93,045)                    (93,045)                           22%
Renewables -                           (77,410)                    (77,410)                           18%
Other -                           (19,747)                    (19,747)                           5%
Total -$                         (427,250)$                 (427,250)$                       100%  
• Evaluation & Planning – Due to the nature of evaluation and planning activities, it is most meaningful to evaluate 


the budget variances on a cumulative basis after several months.  Some projects are accelerating later than expected 
and others are still being considered or refined as circumstances change and needs become more clearly defined. 


• Marketing – The largest variance is related to Media Ads for which the timing cannot be accurately predicted at the 
point the budget is created. Budgeted amounts for the year as a whole are still expected to be on target.  


• Energy Efficiency – The variances are scattered throughout the programs and are due to timing differences. 
• Renewables – The delays in project activity has decreased the current need for some anticipated professional 


services. The precise timing of the individual payments is very difficult to predict, but the work will is still expected by 
to be completed. 


 
By Division -Total Expenses 
By Division Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under) % of total
Energy Efficiency


Electric -$                         (452,651)$                 (452,651)$                         9%
Gas 573,328                    -                          573,328                           (11%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                           (246,492)                  (246,492)                          5%
Open Solicitation -                           (35,057)                    (35,057)                           1%
Solar -                           (1,199,148)               (1,199,148)                       23%
Utility Scale -                           (752,245)                  (752,245)                          14%
Wind -                           (3,191,577)               (3,191,577)                       60%


Total 573,328$                  (5,877,170)$              (5,303,842)$                    100%  
 







Finance Report  February 29, 2008 


 3


Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 
• 4.9%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
• Last year February was 4.9%. Last month’s rate was 5%. 








FEB JAN FEB Change from Change from
2008 2008 2007 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 57,539,119 54,077,272 52,876,134 3,461,846 4,662,985
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 12,172,579 12,139,720 6,795,555 32,859 5,377,024
  Receivables 18,253 17,967 43,401 286 (25,148)
  Prepaid Expenses 50,335 58,844 56,773 (8,509) (6,437)
  Advances to Vendors 362,038 640,865 392,681 (278,827) (30,643)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
   Total Current Assets 70,142,324 66,934,669 60,164,542 3,207,655 9,977,782


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 897,961 897,961 825,164 0 72,797
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                       -                       
  Office Equipment and Furniture 41,323 41,323 70,721 -                       (29,398)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,052,626 1,052,626 1,009,227 0 43,399
  Less Depreciation (918,779) (912,026) (859,010) (6,753) (59,769)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 133,848 140,600 150,217 (6,753) (16,370)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 36,412 -                       (10,412)
  Deferred Compensation Asset 55,535 51,397 26,731 4,138 28,803


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 81,535 77,397 63,143 4,138 18,392


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Assets 70,357,707 67,152,666 60,377,903 3,205,040 9,979,804


=========== =========== =========== ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 2,844,100 3,405,569 2,158,272 (561,469) 685,828
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 307,693 300,232 262,222 7,461 45,471
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue -                 -                 5,000 -                       (5,000)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 3,151,792 3,705,801 2,425,493 (554,009) 726,299


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 166,663 169,047 185,504 (2,384) (18,840)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 55,535 51,397 26,731 4,138 28,803
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 12,386 12,386 13,676 -                       (1,290)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 234,584 232,830 225,911 1,754 8,673


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 3,386,377 3,938,631 2,651,405 (552,255) 734,972


Net Assets
  Current Yr Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 7,276,161 3,551,725 8,649,760 3,724,436 (1,373,599)
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 12,172,579 12,139,720 6,795,555 32,859 5,377,024
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE -                 -                 12,500,000 -                       (12,500,000)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 47,522,590 47,522,590 29,554,497 (0) 17,968,093
  Temp Restricted Net Assets-Beg of Year -                 -                 226,686 -                       (226,686)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Net Assets 66,971,330 63,214,035 57,726,498 3,757,295 9,244,832


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 70,357,707 67,152,666 60,377,903 3,205,041 9,979,804


=========== =========== =========== ============= =============
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
February 29, 2008


(Unaudited)







 January February Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,594,796$                  3,757,295$                  7,352,091$                  


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,752                          6,753                          13,505                         
Deferred Rent Amortization (2,383)                         (2,384)                         (4,767)                         


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 2,041                          4,357                          6,398                          
Other Receivables 42,200                         (4,645)                         37,555                         
Advances to Vendors 282,109                       278,827                       560,936                       
Other Assets 16,618                         4,373                          20,991                         
A/P - Program Subcontracts 155,879                       (184,085)                      (28,206)                       
A/P - Incentives (2,935,248)                   (335,765)                      (3,271,013)                   
A/P - Professional Services 10,199                         2,242                          12,441                         
A/P - Operations (61,703)                       (43,861)                       (105,564)                      
Payroll and related accruals 26,392                         11,599                         37,991                         
Other long-term liabilities -                              -                              -                              


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,137,652                    3,494,706                    4,632,358                    


Investing Activites:


Acquisition/(Disposal) of Capital Assets (12,292)                       -                              (12,292)                       
Cash used in Investing Activities (12,292)                       -                              (12,292)                       


Cash at beginning of Period 65,091,632                  66,216,992                  65,091,632                  


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,125,360                    3,494,706                    4,620,066                    


Cash at end of period 66,216,992$                69,711,698$                69,711,698$                


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals plus Forecasts


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,508,323        7,337,337        6,532,790        5,989,955        5,110,125        4,892,367        4,695,038        4,905,005        4,948,356        4,776,640        4,803,275        5,522,022        


  Investment Income 224,303           209,380           213,884           211,941           210,363           207,545           203,418           198,423           189,784           179,431           168,710           155,557           


Total cash in 6,732,626        7,546,717        6,746,674        6,201,896        5,320,487        5,099,912        4,898,457        5,103,428        5,138,140        4,956,071        4,971,985        5,677,580        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 1,148,277        1,504,786        2,336,682        1,395,289        1,481,977        2,393,307        1,482,177        1,551,140        2,436,822        1,551,140        1,612,161        2,367,914        


    Incentives 3,718,094        1,618,433        3,435,169        3,967,334        2,494,820        2,555,501        3,201,448        4,378,186        4,663,173        5,220,833        5,663,528        6,623,093        


    Salaries and related expense 379,836           430,496           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           


    Professional services 176,920           354,775           187,119           357,017           485,693           582,310           552,360           556,360           563,643           563,643           567,143           547,482           


    General operating expenses 184,139           143,521           114,033           222,394           214,528           214,312           173,166           166,451           186,793           160,456           155,314           150,117           


Total cash out 5,607,266        4,052,011        6,583,782        6,452,814        5,187,797        6,256,209        5,919,929        7,162,915        8,361,210        8,006,851        8,508,925        10,199,385      


Net cash flow for the month 1,125,360        3,494,706        162,892           (250,917)          132,691           (1,156,297)       (1,021,472)       (2,059,487)       (3,223,070)       (3,050,780)       (3,536,940)       (4,521,806)       


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 65,091,632      66,216,992      69,711,698      69,874,590      69,623,673      69,756,363      68,600,067      67,578,594      65,519,107      62,296,037      59,245,257      55,708,317      


Ending cash & MM 66,216,992      69,711,698      69,874,590      69,623,673      69,756,363      68,600,067      67,578,594      65,519,107      62,296,037      59,245,257      55,708,317      51,186,511      


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 12,096,649      12,139,720      12,172,579      12,020,764      11,806,877      11,691,211      11,553,627      11,309,835      11,194,736      11,111,192      10,887,931      10,788,622      


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding -                     -                     (174,143)          (235,484)          (136,607)          (158,020)          (263,467)          (134,058)          (102,106)          (241,212)          (116,616)          (79,357)           


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 43,071            32,859            22,328            21,598            20,941            20,436            19,675            18,959            18,563            17,951            17,307            16,985            


Ending Escrow Balance1
12,139,720      12,172,579      12,020,764      11,806,877      11,691,211      11,553,627      11,309,835      11,194,736      11,111,192      10,887,931      10,788,622      10,726,249      


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual Forecast 2008-F-03 (no 838)







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals plus Forecasts


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009


January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,789,173     7,263,202     6,793,352     6,223,872     5,306,950     5,071,778     4,857,697     5,079,021     5,117,686         4,946,804     4,989,512        5,773,646       


144,103       147,366       160,834       171,539       179,969       186,474       190,671       194,848       199,421           200,883       200,185          188,214          


6,933,276     7,410,568     6,954,186     6,395,412     5,486,919     5,258,252     5,048,368     5,273,869     5,317,106         5,147,687     5,189,696        5,961,860       


1,616,463     1,877,516     2,176,944     1,419,594     1,488,853     2,226,698     1,488,853     1,528,910     2,245,990         1,528,910     1,661,003        2,378,082       


8,440,134     2,145,652     2,426,932     2,798,917     2,338,373     2,842,500     2,927,556     2,495,829     2,936,514         4,202,689     4,106,157        11,806,284     


541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604           541,604       541,604          541,604          


548,032       558,982       502,818       502,818       502,818       499,273       492,673       496,673       505,863           505,863       520,413          513,640          


200,765       170,957       160,509       162,489       153,108       148,787       149,988       146,052       162,113           167,886       155,553          155,302          


11,346,998   5,294,712     5,808,807     5,425,422     5,024,756     6,258,863     5,600,675     5,209,069     6,392,084         6,946,953     6,984,730        15,394,912     


(4,413,722)    2,115,856     1,145,379     969,990       462,163       (1,000,611)    (552,307)      64,800         (1,074,978)       (1,799,266)    (1,795,034)       (9,433,052)      


51,186,511   46,772,789   48,888,645   50,034,024   51,004,013   51,466,176   50,465,564   49,913,258   49,978,057       48,903,079   47,103,813      45,308,779     


46,772,789   48,888,645   50,034,024   51,004,013   51,466,176   50,465,564   49,913,258   49,978,057   48,903,079       47,103,813   45,308,779      35,875,727     


10,726,249   10,664,910   10,575,796   10,417,597   10,197,302   10,075,202   9,931,158     9,680,880     9,559,269         9,469,188     9,239,363        9,133,464       


(78,077)        (105,552)      (174,143)      (235,484)      (136,607)      (158,020)      (263,467)      (134,058)      (102,106)          (241,212)      (116,616)         (79,357)          


16,738         16,438         15,945         15,190         14,507         13,976         13,189         12,447         12,025             11,387         10,717            10,368           


10,664,910   10,575,796   10,417,597   10,197,302   10,075,202   9,931,158     9,680,880     9,559,269     9,469,188         9,239,363     9,133,464        9,064,475       


Forecast 2009-F-01 (no 838)







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Two Months Ending February 29, 2008
(Unaudited)


February YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 3,526,306 3,315,647 210,659 6,692,768 6,499,563 193,205


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 2,119,931 2,003,692 116,239 4,091,775 3,997,469 94,306


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 1,516,049 1,492,025 24,024 2,743,375 2,688,316 55,059


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 175,050 153,271 21,780 317,742 290,244 27,498


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
Total Public Purpose Funds 7,337,337 6,964,634 372,702 13,845,659 13,475,592 370,068


Revenue from Investments 205,023 213,491 (8,467) 427,285 434,155 (6,870)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 7,542,360 7,178,125 364,235 14,272,945 13,909,746 363,198
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,594,883 1,736,611 141,728 3,223,348 3,473,023 249,675


Incentives 1,282,668 3,405,410 2,122,742 2,065,513 6,438,831 4,373,317


Salaries and Related Expenses 442,095 510,779 68,683 848,323 1,021,557 173,234


Professional Services 357,017 485,693 128,676 544,136 971,387 427,250


Supplies 3,166 4,075 910 6,507 17,650 11,143


Telephone 4,147 4,725 578 7,360 9,450 2,090


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,510 5,396 3,886 5,562 10,792 5,230


Occupancy Expenses 24,454 28,501 4,047 50,860 57,002 6,141


Noncapitalized Equip & Depreciation 20,711 27,154 6,443 32,916 56,007 23,092


Call Center 12,801 17,330 4,529 25,004 35,066 10,063


Printing and Publications 11,422 16,369 4,947 25,888 32,738 6,849


Travel 9,228 13,971 4,743 18,682 27,941 9,259


Conference, Training & Mtng Expenses 5,337 25,413 20,076 33,203 50,825 17,622


Insurance (219) 5,000 5,219 10,622 10,000 (622)


Miscellaneous Expenses 935 217 (718) 935 433 (502)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 14,911 6,747 (8,164) 21,993 11,994 (9,999)


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 3,785,065 6,293,389 2,508,324 6,920,854 12,224,696 5,303,842


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSE 3,757,295 884,736 2,872,559 7,352,091 1,685,051 5,667,040
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


IS-Acct-YTD-001







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 5,085,420 203,441 5,288,861 -                           5,288,861
Payroll and Related Expenses 205,713 131,391 337,104 191,288 51,332 242,620 579,724
Outsourced Services 312,288 71,256 383,544 39,299 49,561 88,860 472,404
Planning and Evaluation 117,310 26,451 143,761 1,883 174 2,057 145,818
Customer Service Management 87,706 4,887 92,593 -                           92,593


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 5,808,437 437,426 6,245,863 232,470 101,067 333,537 6,579,400


Program Support Costs


Supplies 2,156 719 2,875 1,476 289 1,765 4,640
Postage and Shipping Expenses 543 420 963 805 3,013 3,818 4,781
Telephone 680 540 1,220 492 80 572 1,792
Printing and Publications 10,308 1,200 11,508 440 12,511 12,951 24,459
Occupancy Expenses 12,476 7,585 20,061 9,822 3,060 12,882 32,943
Insurance 2,606 1,584 4,190 2,051 639 2,690 6,880
Equipment 684 1,999 2,683 539 168 707 3,390
Travel 8,216 3,799 12,015 2,092 19 2,111 14,126
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 4,545 2,162 6,707 13,229 1,609 14,838 21,545
Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           
Depreciation & Amortization 507 1,654 2,161 399 124 523 2,684
Dues, Licenses and Fees 19,117 476 19,593 1,417 983 2,400 21,993
Miscellaneous Expenses 935 935 0 935
IT Services 137,958 22,775 160,733 27,565 12,988 40,553 201,286


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 200,731 44,913 245,644 60,327 35,483 95,810 341,454


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 6,009,168 482,339 6,491,507 292,797 136,550 429,347 6,920,854


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 4.9%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Month Ending February 29, 2008







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $5,176,200 $3,147,384 $2,743,375 $317,742 -$              $11,384,701 $1,516,568 $944,391 $2,460,958 -$              $13,845,659
Revenue from Investments 427,285 427,285


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 5,176,200 3,147,384 2,743,375 317,742 11,384,701 1,516,568 944,391 2,460,958 427,285 14,272,945


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 222,778 102,589 131,900 13,291 1,245 471,803 88,907 42,484 131,391 603,194
  Program Delivery 1,345,537 750,954 381,433 53,230 5,255 2,536,409 1,916 1,912 3,828 2,540,237
  Incentives 639,552 432,261 756,796 33,211 4,081 1,865,901 127,746 71,868 199,614 2,065,515
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 124,587 65,961 108,468 6,056 296 305,368 18,772 7,679 26,451 331,819
  Program Marketing/Outreach 260,238 99,870 105,573 21,143 2,468 489,291 14,555 14,044 28,599 517,890
  Program Legal Services 186 94 183 16 2 480 53 43 96 576
  Program Quality Assurance 3,958 2,095 7,864 309 -                14,226 -                4,068 4,068 18,294
  Outsourced  Services 17,873 10,194 7,968 1,197 21 37,254 30,586 7,907 38,493 75,747
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 27,714 13,951 43,794 2,161 86 87,706 2,863 2,024 4,887 92,593
  IT Services 57,974 28,876 46,769 3,937 403 137,957 16,078 6,697 22,775 160,732
  Other Program Expenses 29,365 16,229 15,927 1,149 104 62,773 14,212 7,925 22,137 84,910


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 2,729,762 1,523,073 1,606,674 135,699 13,960 6,009,168 315,689 166,650 482,339 6,491,507


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 123,130 68,701 72,472 6,121 630 271,054 14,226 7,517 21,743 292,797
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 51,049 31,040 27,056 3,134 112,279 14,957 9,314 24,271 136,550


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
  Total Administrative Costs 174,179 99,741 99,528 9,255 630 383,333 29,183 16,831 46,014 429,347


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
  TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 2,903,941 1,622,814 1,706,202 144,954 14,590 6,392,501 344,872 183,481 528,353 6,920,854


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 2,272,259 1,524,570 1,037,173 172,788 (14,590) 4,992,200 1,171,696 760,910 1,932,605 427,285 7,352,091


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 (Note 5) 15,159,079 (7,429,746) 7,412,993 446,188 189,069 15,777,583 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,237
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000) -                


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 19,171,338 (4,745,176) 8,450,166 618,976 174,479 23,669,783 25,269,208 14,658,764 39,927,971 3,373,573 66,971,330


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-bu


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc


(Unaudited)
For the Two Months Ending February 29, 2008


Year to Date by Program / Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 487,009 258,181 745,190 965,978 38,151 1,004,129 1,749,319 1,545,842           (203,477)             
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 665,858 355,272 1,021,130 342,808 94,524 14,590 451,922 1,473,052 1,365,030           (108,022)             
Market Transformation (NEEA) 77,370 58,459 135,829 -                         135,829 205,100              69,271                


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Residential 1,230,237     671,912        1,902,149       1,308,786     132,675  14,590    1,456,051        3,358,200     3,115,972     (242,228)      


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 445,817 123,907 569,724 226,143 5,036 231,179 800,903 878,153              77,250                
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 414,034 219,483 633,517 159,468 7,243 166,711 800,228 728,418              (71,810)               
Market Transformation (NEEA) 157,204 118,779 275,983 -                         275,983 280,357              4,374                  


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Commercial 1,017,055     462,169        1,479,224       385,611        12,279    -          397,890           1,877,114     1,886,928     9,814            


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 546,128 405,225 951,353 11,805 11,805 963,158 1,078,400           115,242              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 110,521 83,508 194,029 -                         194,029 190,524              (3,505)                 


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Industrial 656,649        488,733        1,145,382       11,805          -          -          11,805             1,157,187     1,268,924     111,737        


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 2,903,941     1,622,814     4,526,755       1,706,202     144,954  14,590    1,865,746        6,392,501     6,271,824     (120,677)      
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 65,849 25,225 91,074 -                         91,074 337,566              246,492              
Open Solicitation 57,882 5,139 63,021 -                         63,021 98,078                35,057                
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 180,514 128,613 309,127 -                         309,127 1,508,275           1,199,148           
Utility Scale Projects 5,045 3,389 8,434 -                         8,434 760,679              752,245              
Wind 35,582 21,115 56,697 -                         56,697 3,248,274           3,191,577           


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 344,872        183,481        528,353          -               -          -          -                   528,353        5,952,872     5,424,519     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 3,248,813     1,806,295     5,055,108       1,706,202     144,954  14,590    1,865,746        6,920,854     12,224,696   5,303,842     


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Month Ending February 29, 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended February 29, 2008
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


YTD YTD
QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER


ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


Outsourced Services $32,521 $93,114 $60,593 $32,521 $62,076 $29,555 $49,561 $84,838 $35,276 $49,561 $56,558 $6,997


Legal Services 6,778 10,125 3,347 6,778 6,750 (28) 1,875 1,875 1,250 1,250


Salaries and Related Expenses 191,288 315,715 124,427 191,288 210,477 19,188 51,332 91,566 40,234 51,332 61,044 9,712


Supplies 545 1,425 880 545 950 405 300 300 200 200


Telephone 237 300 63 237 200 (37)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 377 675 298 377 450 73 2,880 4,813 1,933 2,880 3,208 329


Noncapitalized Equipment 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 300 300 200 200


Printing and Publications 45 125 80 45 83 38 12,389 11,063 (1,326) 12,389 7,375 (5,014)


Travel 2,092 11,475 9,383 2,092 7,650 5,558 19 1,725 1,706 19 1,150 1,131


Conference, Training & Mtngs 13,229 31,187 17,959 13,229 20,792 7,563 1,609 3,125 1,516 1,609 2,083 475


Miscellaneous Expenses 25 25 17 17


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,417 2,679 1,262 1,417 2,286 869 983 1,250 267 983 833 (150)


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 14,820 22,474 7,655 14,820 14,983 163 4,616 7,906 3,290 4,616 5,271 654


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 27,565 52,249 24,684 27,565 34,759 7,194 12,988 24,619 11,631 12,988 16,378 3,390


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 1,883 4,736 2,852 1,883 3,156 1,273 174 437 263 174 291 117
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 292,797 547,504 254,707 292,797 365,828 73,031 136,550 233,815 97,265 136,550 155,842 19,292
================================= ================================= ================================= =================================


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-002







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$2


$4


$6


$8


$10


$12


$14


$16


January February


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2008


$-


$1


$2


$3


$4


$5


$6


$7


$8


January February


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2008


$-


$1


$1


$2


$2


$3


$3


$4


$4


January February


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$1


$2


$3


$4


$5


$6


$7


January February


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual








R00407 3/24/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 3/24/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 2/29/08 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total:  3,568,349  1,212,232  2,356,117


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  791,784  393,482  398,301


Energy Efficiency Programs


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/2010 19,090,000  10,484,782  8,605,218


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. New Homes and Products - 


PMC


1/1/07 12/31/2008 6,316,544  7,526,514 -1,209,971


Conservations Services Group, Inc. HES PMC Contract 1/1/08 12/31/2008 4,688,812  594,528  4,094,284


Science Applications International 


Corporation


2008 NBE PMC 1/1/08 12/31/2008 2,650,500  341,679  2,308,821


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. BE PMC contract 1/1/08 12/31/2010 2,410,128  285,564  2,124,564


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008 520,000  119,223  400,777


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 12/1/07 12/31/2010 500,000  130,697  369,303


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008 500,000  147,853  352,147


Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process 


Eval


10/11/07 06/30/2009 355,000  58,924  296,076


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/2008 300,000  150,000  150,000


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 06/30/2009 290,000  92,764  197,236


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/2008 261,586  100,732  160,854


Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC Lighting Consultant 1/1/08 12/31/2008 221,570  27,963  193,607


Research Into Action, Inc. PE Process & Impact 


Evaluation


8/6/07 04/30/2008 220,000  190,786  29,214


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008 215,000  34,230  180,770


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. 5/25/07 06/28/2008 210,000  156,477  53,523


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 08/15/2010 137,500  60,228  77,272


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit provider 5/1/08 04/30/2009 123,000  0  123,000


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/2008 90,000  48,997  41,003


J. Hruska Global HES QA services 1/1/08 12/31/2008 80,000  14,226  65,774


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


6/20/06 06/30/2008 74,000  62,400  11,600


Dethman & Associates Global warming & EE report 1/4/08 04/30/2008 58,000  0  58,000


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 09/30/2008 57,000  7,797  49,203


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 03/31/2008 52,300  29,585  22,715


Blue Ocean Events LLC Better Living Show 2008 11/1/07 12/31/2008 50,000  36,000  14,000


New Buildings Institute Oregon Core Performance Prjct 2/26/08 09/30/2008 48,400  0  48,400


Catherine Scott Residential contractor 10/8/07 12/31/2008 32,000  9,345  22,655


Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 01/31/2009 30,000  440  29,560


KEMA Incorporated Change A Light Evaluation 9/1/07 06/30/2008 20,000  2,600  17,400


DE Solutions, Inc. Planning Services 11/12/07 10/31/2008 20,000  0  20,000


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


4/19/07 06/30/2008 17,000  17,000  0


Daily Journal of Commerce Daily Journal advertising 2008 1/25/08 12/31/2008 15,400  2,055  13,345


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2008 Emerging Tech Sponsor 12/12/07 03/31/2008 12,000  0  12,000


Lane Community College 2008 Scholarships 1/14/08 12/31/2008 11,800  0  11,800


Stellar Processes, Inc. Dimmable LED kitchen cans 3/1/08 01/30/2009 10,000  0  10,000


ECONorthwest New Building services 12/1/07 11/30/2008 10,000  4,576  5,424


Earth Advantage, Inc. Program Sponsorship 


agreement


1/2/08 01/01/2009 10,000  10,000  0


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship 3/27/07 03/26/2008 5,000  5,000  0


Energy Efficiency Total:  39,712,540  20,752,966  18,959,574


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services 5/1/04 04/30/2008 1,435,000  679,675  755,325







R00407 3/24/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 3/24/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 2/29/08 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/2008 111,000  30,917  80,083


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment 2007 8/21/07 03/31/2008 93,150  20,886  72,264


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/2008 56,440  24,866  31,574


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 03/31/2009 48,110  11,637  36,473


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/2008 42,500  35,425  7,075


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 04/30/2008 33,040  33,040  0


Brien Sipe Professional Services 5/1/07 06/30/2008 30,000  16,243  13,758


Portland Monthly, Inc. Portland Monthly Ads 2008 1/1/08 12/31/2008 24,894  0  24,894


ECONorthwest Economic Impact Analysis 2007 2/15/08 05/31/2008 24,000  0  24,000


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/2008 24,000  12,121  11,879


Community Newspapers Inc. 2008 Advertising Contract 1/1/08 12/31/2008 19,440  3,240  16,200


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/2008 17,550  9,945  7,606


Joint Programs Total:  1,959,124  877,994  1,081,130


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 6/18/07 06/30/2028 6,000,000  6,000,000  0


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East 9/20/06 07/01/2008 4,500,000  0  4,500,000


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 07/21/2026 1,685,088  0  1,685,088


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 02/17/2025 475,000  0  475,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 02/21/2009 386,266  335,174  51,092


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 03/13/2028 362,000  0  362,000


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program 10/1/02 09/30/2008 266,529  253,362  13,167


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


9/1/05 09/01/2025 186,910  186,910  0


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


Professional Services - RE 5/10/07 04/30/2008 90,000  59,226  30,774


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/2008 87,700  74,261  13,439


Excidian LLC RE CE spreadsheet review 11/21/07 12/31/2008 85,150  8,000  77,150


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/01/2026 79,815  37,671  42,144


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 03/31/2009 65,500  16,125  49,375


Oregon Assoc. of Clean Water 


Agencies


WWTP efficiency studies 1/28/08 06/30/2008 50,000  0  50,000


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 07/14/2008 49,600  20,281  29,319


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services 4/27/07 06/30/2008 45,900  34,200  11,700


Clean Power Research, LLC Solar PV software/services 9/1/06 08/31/2008 40,500  5,858  34,642


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) 7/1/07 06/30/2008 38,391  25,594  12,797


Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 07/31/2008 37,000  4,850  32,150


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind System 4/28/05 04/28/2025 36,117  0  36,117


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School 12/10/04 12/10/2029 35,000  0  35,000


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 05/25/2027 32,500  0  32,500


Tualatin Valley Water District Hydro Turbine Study 2/12/08 07/31/2008 30,000  0  30,000


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/2008 28,200  23,828  4,373


Multnomah Board of County 


Commissioners


Wind Power feasibility study 8/29/07 06/01/2008 25,000  0  25,000


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 12/31/2022 24,125  0  24,125


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/2008 22,845  7,355  15,490


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study 2/15/07 05/01/2008 20,000  0  20,000


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/2008 16,900  7,085  9,815


HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 06/30/2008 16,619  6,725  9,894


Compression Engineering 


Corporation


Geothermal generator study 10/17/07 02/29/2008 15,000  0  15,000


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/2008 15,000  4,984  10,016


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC Solar services 11/12/07 10/31/2008 14,500  735  13,765


David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 05/31/2028 13,391  0  13,391


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/01/2020 13,150  1,588  11,562







R00407 3/24/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 3/24/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 2/29/08 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/2008 13,000  10,753  2,247


Sustainable Industries Journal Advertising 1/1/08 12/31/2008 9,100  2,450  6,650


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 05/31/2008 8,000  0  8,000


Evergreen Energy Corporation Renewable energy consultant 12/17/07 12/31/2008 7,000  4,068  2,932


Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 08/31/2008 5,600  4,550  1,050


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund 


MOU


10/4/06 10/31/2008 5,000  0  5,000


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC RETAA (Solar) 11/12/07 10/31/2008 3,500  0  3,500


David W. McClain RETAA 5/11/07 04/30/2008 3,125  0  3,125


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 09/30/2008 1,590  996  595


Advanced Energy Systems, LLC Community Wind contractor 9/25/07 08/31/2008 960  960  0


Renewable Energy Total:  14,946,571  7,137,589  7,808,983


 60,978,368  30,374,263  30,604,105Grand Totals:








 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated February 11, 2008 
 
Administrative Costs 


• Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 
and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


4 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 


to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 
Indirect Costs 


• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 
charges to programs.  


• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


5 


IT Support Services  
• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 


contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer maintenance and 


general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-


specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 


etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 
Program Marketing/Outreach 


• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 
communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 


• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


6 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well 
as current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and 
provide a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such 
as websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program 
delivery, Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, Travel, 
Business meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 
 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
• Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


7 


• Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric measure 
savings.  


 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 
True Up 


• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 
energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 1


 
 


Evaluation Committee Report 
March 26, 2008 
 
Evaluation Committee Notes 
 


The Evaluation Committee met on February 22, 2007, with Debbie Kitchin, chair; Alan Meyer, 
board member; Philipp Degens, evaluation manager; Fred Gordon, director of planning and 
evaluation; Brien Sipe ; contractor; Elaine Prause; senior industrial sector manager, Marjorie 
McCrae, contractor; Tricia McGuire, industrial technical manager; Tom Eckman, Northwest 
Power and Conservation Council; Ken Keating, evaluation expert. The meeting began at 12:00 
PM with an overview of the meeting’s agenda.  
 
Phil Degens presented preliminary draft 2006 Production Efficiency Process and Impact 
Evaluation results. Major initial findings were:  


• 101.6% realization rate 
• 8% weighted free rider rate 
• 93% net savings rate 
• Less variance in the expected and estimated savings  
• Program need for additional ATACs 
• Inconsistent reporting of program achievements 


 
Major recommendations were: 


• Increase pool of ATACs  
• Integrate ATACs more fully into program and resolve perceived conflicts of interest 
• Increase training opportunities for ATACs PDCs and trade allies 
• Improve communications and develop collateral that clearly describes program services, 


eligibility, reservation system, and BETC 
• Improve data collection procedures and develop consistent reporting procedures 
• Develop uniform procedures and standards for ATAC studies 
• Review incentive levels and cost-effectiveness criteria  


 
Discussion about the study included: 


• Free rider estimation methods 
• Issues surrounding increasing ATAC  
• Need to review industrial energy savings potential 
• Standards and guidelines for ATAC studies  


 
The Evaluation Committee meeting concluded at 1:30 PM. 
 
The next Evaluation Committee is scheduled for April 4, 2008 from 11:00-1:00. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 








 
 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
Mar. 18, 2008, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, John Reynolds (by telephone), Margie Harris, Fred Gordon, Steve 
Lacey, Peter West, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaeffer and John Volkman 
 
1. Status report on 2008 budget revision. Margie gave the committee a briefing on the 
current status of a revised budget, reflecting additional Pacific Power (being collected) and PGE 
(anticipated) revenues of $13-plus million. The presentation showed the additional revenues and 
how we propose to change expenditures and savings in light of them. Significant increases are 
proposed in the existing homes (including for near-low-income participants), new home 
products, existing buildings, new buildings and production efficiency (in facilities using less than 
one megawatt) programs. The Northwest Alliance is ramping down expenditures this year and 
next, and corresponding Energy Trust expenditures also decrease. When the presentation is 
made to the board, it will address percentages of expenditures and revenues by sector. 
 
2. Managing risk in renewable projects. In response to the board’s request at its last 
meeting, Peter is preparing a matrix for the next meeting showing areas of risk in renewable 
energy projects and how we approach each area, including: (1) development risk (pre-
construction expenses such as studies, land, permitting); (2) opportunity cost (foregone 
projects); (3) construction; (4) changes in actual project cost; and (5) performance risk (the 
completed project does not perform to expectations). Energy Trust assumes risk in the first, 
second and fifth areas, but not in the third and fourth. The matrix will show how we manage 
risk in the three areas where we assume it.  
 
3. Jason noted that he has heard from a policy group that seems to take the view that 
Oregon energy tax credits and the public purpose charges that fund Energy Trust transfer 
resources from low-income to wealthy populations. Energy Trust will be serving near low-
income residents and has a history of working with Habitat for Humanity and Housing 
Authorities. We also coordinate with the State Department of Housing and Community 
Services. It was mentioned some may not know that a portion of the public purpose funds are 
dedicated for low income weatherization and low income housing. 
 
4. Expansion issues. 
 (a) NW Natural in Washington. If the Washington Utilities and Transportation 
Commission approves a decoupling proposal being submitted by NW Natural, the utility would 
like Energy Trust to provide efficiency services to its residential and commercial customers in 
Washington. This is a relatively small and compact population (65,000 customers, primarily in 
Clark County), too small for NW Natural to serve cost-effectively, and in an area that abuts 
Energy Trust’s Portland service area. The prospect is a much less complex, more manageable 
one than the Cascade proposal. Staff has discussed the idea with NW Natural, the OPUC and 
others, and proposes a two-stage evaluation: if the board approves the idea in April, staff will do 
a high-level, preliminary assessment of the opportunity under a relatively small contract with 
NW Natural. Provided the WUTC approves decoupling, Energy Trust will conduct a detailed 
study and implementation plan under a larger contract.  
 







Policy Committee notes  March 18, 2008 


2 


 (b) BPA. We have been talking to BPA for some time about serving restaurants and 
other commercial customers in Oregon, under a direct contract. If this materializes, it will likely 
be in 2009. A number of administrative and contracting issues are involved. 
 
5. Three-year policy reviews (see attached) 
 


(a) Lost opportunity policy: Given a growing budget, the current policy has little effect 
and no change is recommended. The situation could change by the time the next three-year 
review occurs. The committee concurred. 


 
(b) Balanced competition: It is possible that Energy Trust will want to contract with 


utilities to carry out marketing activities for programs pursuant to the supplemental energy 
efficiency funding authorized by the 2007 Renewable Energy Act. An amendment to section #3 
of the policy would recognize this contingency. The committee discussed whether the policy is 
still needed at all and decided that it should be continued with this proposed modification. Steve 
Lacey will alert the CAC at its March 19 meeting. 


 
(c) Preview of policies for review at the next policy committee meeting: The policies on 


risk versus reliability and the program approval process are due for three-year review at the 
next meeting. The risk policy will take some thought. Staff will review the program approval 
process policy further to see if it needs change, but staff’s initial impression is that it is working 
well. 
 
6. PGE supplemental rate filing: PGE has eliminated its cost-recovery proposal from this 
year’s supplemental efficiency rate filing, but the issue will arise again for 2009 and beyond. The 
committee generally discussed the implications for Energy Trust. Jason said that he has not yet 
seen evidence that such mechanisms are warranted in Oregon. The group discussed whether 
this may be true several years out, when efficiency programs may reduce utility loads more than 
they do now.  
 
7. Updates:  
 (a) Strategic planning. Staff is discussing issues internally and would like to begin to 
engage them with the Strategic Planning Committee in anticipation of the June board retreat. 
The Committee is being reconstituted in light of the departures of Tom Foley and Bill Nesmith. 
Because the Committee’s membership will likely overlap so much with the Policy Committee, 
Strategic Planning Committee meetings will be scheduled back-to-back with Policy Committee 
meetings. 
 (b) Funding biofuel projects as gas efficiency. Steve has been discussing with the CAC 
the idea of funding projects that use biofuels to reduce natural gas consumption. NW Natural 
supports the idea. Steve expects to approve this type of funding with a variety of caveats. 
 (c) Identity theft. Staff is implementing internal administrative systems to ensure that 
confidential participant information, especially Social Security numbers, are well protected. 
 







Policy Committee notes  March 18, 2008 


3 


TEXT OF POLICIES: 
Lost opportunities: 


•      The Energy Trust should favor acquisition of Lost Opportunities and focus some of its 
budget and program design efforts in that direction. 


•    However, this should be considered a “decision-tipper” in setting priorities, considered 
in the context of other issues and values. 


•    The Energy Trust should encourage comprehensive treatment of an end-use where this 
is practical to avoid creating lost opportunities by doing half the job. 


•     Financial resources should also be reserved for retrofit programs, especially where 
these are low cost or serve customers who would not otherwise be served. 


•     Work with partners who have special resources to efficiently capture lost 
opportunities.  E.G., Northwest Alliance, Consortium for Energy Efficiency, Oregon 
Office of Energy. 


  
Balanced competition policy: 


1.   Arrangements for regulated utility information and referrals. The Energy Trust will 
arrange directly with regulated utilities for information and referrals that help the 
Energy Trust reach the public, and come as a byproduct of the regulated role. The 
Energy Trust and utilities will work together to determine what activities and 
information will be made available with or without fee. Examples: 


•      Coordination of 1-800 response for household and business efficiency 
inquiries 


•      Qualification of leads coming from utility/customer relationships and 
referral to programs 


•      Access to historic energy usage data as requested by utility customers 
•      Access to utility-generated consumer demographic information for 


evaluation and/or marketing purposes 
•      Utility customer representative role in marketing  


Thus, these capabilities will not influence selection of program management 
contractors. 
Rationale 


These are services that stem from the natural monopoly role of the utility. They are 
unique and real assets, but not appropriate for the competitive bid. 


2.   Limitation on number of program management contracts awarded to a single contractor. 
No single firm, including other companies under the same ownership and affiliates, 
will be a contractor (prime or subcontractor) for more than two concurrent 
program management contracts. This limitation does not apply to subcontracts for 
installation or technical work (studies, commissioning, etc.) that are awarded to 
multiple contractors as part of implementation of a single program. 
Rationale 


Energy Trust needs to maintain a competitive market for program management. If one 
competitor wins all slots, others will not develop the skills, nor are they likely to bid in 
the future. 


3.   Limitations on participation of regulated personnel in competitions for program 
management contracts. With the exception of utility work for which Energy Trust 
contracts in connection with supplemental energy efficiency activities pursuant to 
the 2007 Renewable Energy Act, Aan individual within a regulated utility cannot 
perform work under an Energy Trust contract for program management and 
perform work as part of the regulated utility (i.e., functions billed to ratepayers) in 
Oregon.  







Policy Committee notes  March 18, 2008 


4 


Rationale 
•    Regulated utilities have their own objectives, which in some cases include 


maintaining and building load. It would be difficult to manage employees who also 
report to a regulated utility and its objectives as “first boss.”  


•    To have ratepayers pay for part of the cost of an FTE that was used for 
competitive Energy Trust work would make it difficult for others to compete.  


 4.  No review of work of related companies. Neither a program management contractor to 
the Energy Trust nor organizations under the same ownership or affiliates may 
perform work under separate contract that would be submitted to the program 
management contractor for review on behalf of the Energy Trust. This type of work 
includes recommendation of efficiency measure brands, models or performance, 
technical analysis of savings, or equipment installation or commissioning. 
Rationale 


Avoids having program management contractors review their own work. Reduces 
consumer confusion about roles. 








 
 
 


Board Decision  
Amending the Board Policy on Balanced 
Competition 
April 9, 2008 
 
Purpose 
 


Energy Trust will want to contract with utilities to carry out marketing activities for programs 
pursuant to the supplemental energy efficiency funding authorized by the 2007 Renewable 
Energy Act. An amendment to section three of the Balanced Competition Policy would 
recognize this contingency.  
 
Background 
 


• Energy Trust’s Balanced Competition Policy is meant to ensure that there is fair 
competition for Energy Trust program management contracts.  


 
• Section 3 of the policy (see below) provides that individuals in regulated utilities 


cannot perform work under an Energy Trust program management contract and 
perform work as part of the utility.  


 
• In 2007, the Oregon Renewable Energy Act authorized electric utilities to supplement 


energy efficiency funding. Energy Trust, PacifiCorp and PGE either have or are 
negotiating agreements for Energy Trust to provide services with these additional 
funds. In both cases, the utilities will be doing additional marketing work in 
coordination with Energy Trust.  


 
• In some cases, the best way to coordinate marketing will involve utility personnel 


work under contract with Energy Trust. 
 
Recommendation 
 


Amend the Energy Trust Balanced Competition Policy to make clear that the policy anticipates 
that Energy Trust may contract with regulated utilities to perform work in connection with 
the 2007 Renewable Energy Act supplemental energy efficiency activities. 
 


RESOLUTION #470 
AMENDING THE ENERGY TRUST BALANCED COMPETITION POLICY 


 
WHEREAS:  
 
1. Energy Trust’s Balanced Competition Policy is meant to 


ensure that there is fair competition for Energy Trust 
program management contracts. 







Resolution Amending Balanced Competition Policy                         April 9, 2008 


 2


 
2. Section 3 of the policy provides that individuals in regulated 


utilities cannot perform work under an Energy Trust 
program management contract and perform work as part of 
the utility. 


 
3. In 2007, the Oregon Renewable Energy Act authorized 


electric utilities to supplement energy efficiency funds. Energy 
Trust and these utilities are negotiating agreements for Energy Trust 
to provide services using these additional funds, and in some cases the 
best way to coordinate Energy Trust and utility work will involve 
utility personnel working under contract with Energy Trust. 


 
 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
Board of Directors amends the balanced competition policy as 
follows: 
 
1.    Arrangements for regulated utility information and referrals. The Energy Trust will 


arrange directly with regulated utilities for information and referrals that help the 
Energy Trust reach the public, and come as a byproduct of the regulated role. The 
Energy Trust and utilities will work together to determine what activities and 
information will be made available with or without fee. Examples: 


•      Coordination of 1-800 response for household and business efficiency 
inquiries 


•      Qualification of leads coming from utility/customer relationships and 
referral to programs 


•      Access to historic energy usage data as requested by utility customers 
•      Access to utility-generated consumer demographic information for 


evaluation and/or marketing purposes 
•      Utility customer representative role in marketing  


Thus, these capabilities will not influence selection of program management 
contractors. 
 
Rationale 


These are services that stem from the natural monopoly role of the utility. They are 
unique and real assets, but not appropriate for the competitive bid. 
 


2.   Limitation on number of program management contracts awarded to a single contractor. 
No single firm, including other companies under the same ownership and affiliates, 
will be a contractor (prime or subcontractor) for more than two concurrent 
program management contracts. This limitation does not apply to subcontracts 
for installation or technical work (studies, commissioning, etc.) that are awarded 
to multiple contractors as part of implementation of a single program. 
 
Rationale 


Energy Trust needs to maintain a competitive market for program management. If 
one competitor wins all slots, others will not develop the skills, nor are they likely to 
bid in the future. 
 







Resolution Amending Balanced Competition Policy                         April 9, 2008 


 3


3.   Limitations on participation of regulated personnel in competitions for program 
management contracts. With the exception of utility work for which Energy Trust 
contracts in connection with supplemental energy efficiency activities pursuant to 
the 2007 Renewable Energy Act, Aan individual within a regulated utility cannot 
perform work under an Energy Trust contract for program management and 
perform work as part of the regulated utility (i.e., functions billed to ratepayers) in 
Oregon.  
 
Rationale 


•     Regulated utilities have their own objectives, which in some cases include 
maintaining and building load. It would be difficult to manage employees who 
also report to a regulated utility and its objectives as “first boss.”  


•     To have ratepayers pay for part of the cost of an FTE that was used for 
competitive Energy Trust work would make it difficult for others to compete.  


 
4.   No review of work of related companies. Neither a program management contractor 


to the Energy Trust nor organizations under the same ownership or affiliates may 
perform work under separate contract that would be submitted to the program 
management contractor for review on behalf of the Energy Trust. This type of 
work includes recommendation of efficiency measure brands, models or 
performance, technical analysis of savings, or equipment installation or 
commissioning. 


 
Rationale 


Avoids having program management contractors review their own work. Reduces 
consumer confusion about roles. 
 
 


 Moved by: _____________ Seconded by: _______________ 
 


 Vote: _____ in favor _____ opposed _____ abstained 
 


 Adopted on (date) _______ by Energy Trust of  Oregon, Inc., 
 Board of Directors. 


 
 








 
  
April 1, 2008 
 
TO:  Energy Trust Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Susan Hermenet, Interim Executive Director 
 
SUBJECT: Strategic Planning Outreach – OVERVIEW 
 
 
 
The Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance is embarking on a strategic planning process 
starting April 2nd. We are committed to conducting an open, inclusive and iterative 
planning process to ensure broad regional representation.   
 
Throughout the coming months, we are planning multiple avenues for stakeholders to 
provide input and engage in meaningful exchange.   
 
Starting on April 2, we will launch a web portal.  This will be an avenue for any 
stakeholder to use at any time during the planning process to provide feedback and input, 
as well as participate in a discussion forum.  We will send a broadcast email to 
stakeholders across the region announcing this launch, inviting them to provide input and 
feedback throughout the entire process online.   
 
In addition to the web portal, we have seven regional workshops planned throughout the 
region that will be open to the public. Finally, we are outreaching through one-on-one 
meetings, association meetings, and other regional meetings. Attached is a copy of the 
timeline for the process, as well as a copy of the list of some initial issues that NEEA is 
considering.   
 
At your April 9 Board meeting we have some time on the agenda to discuss the process 
and I’m open to your feedback.  I’d like to encourage you to visit the web portal after 
April 2 at http://www.nwalliance.org/participate for further information.  I look forward 
to our discussion on April 9.  
 
Attachments 
 
 
cc:  
Margie Harris 


 



http://www.nwalliance.org/participate





 







NEEA Strategic Planning Timeline 2008
April May June July August Sept October


Stage 1 Outreach/Input: 
Situation Assessment, NEEA 
mission, scope, guiding principles & 
key strategies


Web Input Launch:  
4/2


Discussion 
Forum: 5/1


1-on-1 meetings


Participation in 
Organization Meetings


Stakeholder Workshops


Expert Committees


Synthesis/Core 
Competencies


Stage 2 Outreach/Input: 
Draft Strategic Plan


Draft 1: 
7/15


Draft 2:
9/18


Feedback


Web Input


Expert Committees


Finalize Strategic Plan











Page 1 of 4 


NEEA Strategic Issues DRAFT  
 


 Issue Examples of Potential NEEA Efforts Pro Con 
1. Increase scope to include natural gas 


MT:  Should NEEA’s scope be expanded 
to include market transformation efforts 
for products and services that directly 
affect natural gas use?  If so, should 
NEEA pursue supplemental funding from 
natural gas utilities to fund these efforts? 
 
. 
 


• An MT effort targeted at increasing market 
share for high-efficiency residential water 
heaters for both gas and electric equipment. 


• A focused effort to increase availability and 
reduce incremental price of high AFUE furnaces 
in the new residential construction market. 


• An early commercialization project targeted at 
bringing condensing efficiency heaters to the 
packaged roof-top equipment market 


• Boiler operator efficiency optimization training 
for industrial plant operators 


• More equitable funding of multi-fuel 
markets (e.g. new construction, 
industrial) 


• Better market interaction with 
manufacturers and retailers for multi-fuel 
markets (e.g. HVAC, water heaters) 


• Opens new opportunities for MT to be 
deployed in gas specific equipment (e.g. 
furnaces, industrial process equipment, 
etc.) 


• Key foundation block for distributed 
generation and (less so) for demand 
response. 


• A separate gas MT entity of coordinated 
initiative is a real possibility if NEEA 
doesn’t work with gas, and would be less 
effective and disruptive to NEEA’s 
efforts. 


• Perceived threat of competition from core 
electric only funders (BPA and large 
publics) 


• Difficulty in getting full participation by all 
gas serving utilities 


• Additional resources required for 
additional focus on gas MT; impacts on 
admin and infrastructure 


2. Increase scope to include demand 
response goals:  Should NEEA’s scope 
be expanded to include market 
transformation efforts with specific goals 
to build the market for products and 
services that will increase the ability of 
NW consumers and utilities to reduce 
peak energy demand? 


• An MT effort to increase market share of “Smart 
Grid ” compatible appliances 


• Work with NW building operations service 
companies to develop and offer appropriate 
demand response offerings to end customers 
integrated with their other existing service 
offerings. 


•  


• Potential additional value from EE 
measures when coordinated with DR 


• Intervention structures on market side 
probably similar to EE (e.g. market 
barriers analysis, channel management, 
etc.) 


• Fits well with both current DEI efforts as 
well as target markets efforts for 
commercial and industrial customers 
where demand is a real energy related 
cost issue  


• Potential conflict (some DR measures 
actually increase energy use) and 
probable distraction from core business of 
EE MT 


• Difficult, complex market issue bridging 
end-use customers and utility operations; 
requires high-level technical expertise as 
well as regulatory knowledge 


• May require changes in pricing/metering 
before MT can work. 


• May require different funders, at least in 
Oregon, where utilities are responsible for 
demand management (as opposed to 
ETO) 


• Lost revenues an issue 







Page 2 of 4 


 Issue x Pro Con E amples of Potential NEEA Efforts 
3. Increase Scope to include On-site 


Renewables:  Should NEEA’s scope be 
expanded to include on-site renewables 
including specific goals and objectives to 
identify and address market barriers to 
broader use of these systems? 


• Coordinating  “net-zero” buildings efforts across 
the NW including assessing market barriers, 
identifying market opportunities, developing a 
regional “roadmap”, and working with California, 


• High level of interest from leading edge 
builders and designers of buildings as 
well as end consumers desiring 
sustainable buildings. 


• NEEA involvement can facilitate rational 
development as part of integrated design 
process as opposed to highly capital 
intensive renewables-focused solutions.  


• Facilitates NEEA involvement in “net-
zero” energy efforts. 


• Can consume large amounts of capital 
with little real energy return but lots of 
“splash” – potentially large risk – 
unless/until prices drop significantly. 


• Lost revenues an issue 


4. Increase Scope to Include Distributed 
Generation:  Should NEEA’s scope be 
expanded to include specific MT goals 
and objectives around the market for 
distributed generation? 


• NEEA could work with architects and engineers 
to maximize combined heat and power (CHP) 
applications in integrated design of new 
commercial buildings. 


• NEEA could assess new market opportunities in 
CHP for residential applications (Scope for 
natural gas would probably be a prerequisite). 


• Complements EE solutions as part of 
comprehensive approach to large end-
consumer markets with large thermal 
loads (pulp and paper, hospitals, etc) 


• Puts NEEA in forward looking position 
with respect to future consumer 
initiatives with CHP 


• Like renewables, capital intensive and 
splashy; can steal resources away from 
more effective EE solutions 


• Value of NEEA role unclear 


5. Coordinated Regional Program 
Development and Implementation:   
Should NEEA’s role expand to include 
coordination of regional planning and 
implementation of programs to extend or 
accelerate the market share of EE where 
the MT objectives have already been met 
but where a regional effort could provide 
savings due to economies of scale or 
leveraging of extra regional resources? 


• Continued CFL manufacturer buy-downs in 
select product categories, channels or markets 
in order to continue acceleration of market 
share growth for CFLs. 


• Coordinated regional incentive program for 
commercial refrigeration equipment (walk-in 
coolers, refrigerated display cases, etc). 


• Coordinated small compressed-air system 
efficiency program for medium to small 
industrial customers. 


• Brings additional value to the region by 
coordinating efforts that would otherwise 
be duplicative at best or confusing to the 
market at worst.   


• More seamless integration of regional & 
local programs. 


• Potential for perception as competition 
with local utility programs 


• Significant local utility interaction; resource 
intensive 


• Potential to take focus away from longer-
term MT and emerging tech goals. 


6. Continue Developing Business Unit 
Focused on Electric Utility Distribution 
System Efficiency:  NEEA has just 
completed Phase I of a multi-year project 
targeted at improving the efficiency of 
distribution system operations, primarily 
focused on proving the benefits of better 
voltage control and creating tools to 
capture efficiency on both sides of the 
end-customer meter.  Should NEEA 
continue to develop this business 
opportunity into the full commercialization 
phase? 


• NEEA could work with regional utilities to pilot 
test the tools developed in the first phase and 
develop a revised set of tools that would be 
ready for full implementation by both utilities 
and service providers. 


• NEEA could work to develop an enhanced set 
of tools establishing the appropriate parameters 
to capture benefits of improved voltage 
regulation in commercial and industrial 
customer applications. 


• NEEA could develop a parallel set of business 
practice tools to work on organizational 
structural issues to facilitate implementation of 
improved voltage regulation practices. 


• Direct bottom line benefits to Utility 
funders through their core business 
operations 


• Major energy and non-energy benefits 
on both sides of the meter. 


• Regional energy savings potential 
estimated between 100 and 230 aMW at 
very low cost. 


• Highly complex, technical and business 
sensitive operation; needs to be resourced 
accordingly or risk damaging relations with 
funder utilities. 


• May be overtaken by AMI initiatives that 
will likely compete for available capital and 
management resources. 







Page 3 of 4 


 Issue x Pro Con E amples of Potential NEEA Efforts 
7. Western Regional/National 


Coordination:  Should NEEA continue to 
play a lead role in representing the NW 
states and utility customers in western 
regional and/or national forums? 


• Work with California to coordinate NW 
interconnection with the CPUC “Big Bold 
Energy Efficiency Initiatives” effort. 


• Participate on the Western Cooling Efficiency 
Center 


• Regional representation to CEE, ENERGY 
STAR, ASHRAE, USGBC etc. 


• Potentially huge benefits through 
aggregation of large, multi-state markets 
that can garner attention from 
manufacturers and retailers 


• High leverage of funding resources with 
others; especially for high-risk emerging 
tech ventures 


• Possible increased harmonization of 
energy codes across states resulting in 
increased compliance  


• Large amount of “coordination” time with 
high risk of no attributable energy savings 


8. NEEA role in regional market research:  
Should NEEA have a continued role in 
providing regionally coordinated and 
funded market assessment and 
evaluation? 


• NEEA could continue to fund and deploy the 
regional statistical surveys of EE characteristics 
of new and existing residential and commercial 
buildings. 


• NEEA could continue to conduct targeted 
market assessment in new and emerging 
market opportunities such as ductless heat 
pumps, high-efficiency windows, and enhanced 
building operations and maintenance services. 


• Additional value to the region through 
leveraged participation by multiple 
parties 


• Pooling resources allows for more 
detailed/significant market 
research/assessment work 


• Central responsibility provides 
opportunity for continuity of 
measurement across sequential fieldings 
of surveys and assessments (compare 
previous surveys with current and future 
results to measure change) 


• NEEA can get pulled into many directions 
to satisfy local program evaluation needs 


• Regional assessments are big-ticket items 
that do not directly contribute energy 
savings; big target for criticism and 
possible funding cuts 


9. Supporting and building EE program 
delivery infrastructure:  Should NEEA 
continue to support training and general 
educational efforts targeted at increasing 
the number of capable individuals to work 
in both the EE utility program and EE 
service provider workforce?  
  
(Note:  This is differentiated from near 
term professional development efforts 
such as training for practicing architects 
and engineers that are provided as part of 
either current MT efforts or future 
coordinated delivery efforts.  The primary 
point of differentiation is the long-term 
nature of the investment and hence 
difficulty in measurement of direct impacts 
in NW energy consumption.) 


• NEEA could re-invigorate training programs 
previously funded such as Northwest Energy 
Education Institute at Lane Community College  


• NEEA could re-institute support for intern 
programs such as the Industrial Assessment 
Center program at Oregon State University. 


• NEEA could work with the schools of 
Architecture (UW, U of O, U of I, MSU) to 
include specific curriculum on integrated design, 
daylighting, passive ventilation, etc. 


• NEEA could help regional dialogue on 
how to increase pool of delivery 
resources; already working with 
universities and hosts training and 
certification programs ala BOC 


• NEEA is charged with long-run view; 
more likely to be able to keep continuity 
of program 


• Large funding requirements to seriously 
address the problem with long-term results 


• No guarantees that trained resources stay 
in the region; NW becomes training 
ground for California... 







Page 4 of 4 


 Issue Examples of Potential NEEA Efforts Pro Con 
10. Portfolio Alignment:  Where should 


NEEA’s emphasis be in terms of resource 
allocation and desired outcomes (e.g., 
goals & objectives) 


a. short-term vs. long-term aMW 
savings 


b. stage of commercial availability: 
pre-commercial, emerging, 
increased penetration. 


c. advancement of codes and 
standards 


d. investments resulting in direct 
aMW savings vs. ee infrastructure 
investments 


NEEA must align its allocation of resources with its 
strategic plan goals & objectives.  Some examples: 


• An emphasis on short-term savings would 
encourage projects that increase market 
adoption of commercially-available 
products. An emphasis on long-term 
savings would encourage resource 
allocation toward pre-commercial and/or 
emerging technologies with higher 
risk/reward that would also ensure 
continuous pipeline of energy efficient 
opportunities. 


• “Infrastructure” investments such as 
information resources that have no direct 
savings 


• Effective portfolio management requires 
a clear set of criteria 


• Clarity on the relative value of competing 
priorities will increase NEEA’s ability to 
allocate its resources to deliver high 
performance to the region 


• Clarity on resource priorities will allow for 
a more comprehensive assessment of 
NEEA performance. 


 
 


• Given the wide range of demands for 
NEEA regional services it may not be 
possible to effectively quantitatively 
balance the portfolio hence creating false 
sense of satisfaction 


 


11. Emphasis on “Net” aMW for Energy 
Savings Measurement:  Should NEEA 
continue to focus on measurement of 
“net” energy savings as the primary metric 
of success for delivery of energy savings?
 
Note:  “Net” energy savings are counted 
as the residual EE savings from market 
changes after accounting for projected 
“baseline” and “local EE program” 
savings. They are accounted as the “net” 
market effects resulting from utility and 
NEEA funded efforts 


Emphasis on “net” market creates incentives that 
focuses NEEA efforts on areas where there are no 
local utility program efforts such as the following: 
• Markets where the per unit savings are too 


small for local program rebate administration 
e.g. 80 Plus Efficient Power Supplies for PCs 


• Markets where traditional utility programs have 
not historically played a significant role e.g. 
codes and standards 


• “soft” efficiency measures such as O&M 
optimization where utility programs have not 
traditionally counted savings 


 


• Highly valuable; funders can count 
toward goals 


• Reduced perception of competition with 
utility local programs 


 


• Verification of savings from business 
practice change that comprises bundles of 
non-prescriptive measures is difficult and 
costly 


• “Net” aMW calculations require 
increasingly costly accounting efforts as 
NEEA and funders increase partnership; 
ultimate partnership results in zero net 
aMW 


• Potentially skews portfolio decisions 
toward projects with verifiable aMW and 
with less partnership 


• Focuses measurement on attribution 
questions rather than total market change 
and reduced energy use. 


 
12. Diversity of Funding Sources:  


Historically virtually all of NEEA's funding 
has come from the primary NW utility 
funders; should NEEA deliberately pursue 
a strategy of fundraising from non-NW 
and/or non-utility funding sources? 


• NEEA could pursue grants from foundations 
such as the Energy Foundation 


• NEEA could pursue neighboring extra-regional 
funding sources such as BC Hydro or Rocky 
Mountain Power 


• Diversifies NEEA funding potentially 
increasing stability 


• Loss of control for primary NW funders 


 





		Memo for ETO brd

		Strategic Planning Timeline

		NEEA Strategic Planning Timeline 2008

		Slide Number 2



		Strategic Issues Matrix






 


 
 
 
Staff Report 
April 9, 2008 


This report from Margie Harris is on behalf of all staff and spans the period January 28, through 
March 21, 2008. Items not otherwise addressed in this board packet are described here. 


General 
• Research linking energy efficiency and messages about global warming is being 


completed by Linda Dethman Associates, with input from Jane Peters of Research Into 
Action. Preliminary finds of related campaigns and future options were presented to 
representatives from BPA, Portland Energy Conservation, Inc., the NW Power Planning 
and Conservation Council and Energy Trust.  


• Margie participated in a third utility CEO meeting convened by BPA Administrator Steve 
Wright to discuss Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) and focus on an update 
of the Alliance's strategic plan. 


• Margie participated in interviews for the new Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance 
executive director. As part of the early May NEEA board meeting, finalists will meet 
staff and stakeholders and the board hiring decision is expected to be made. 


• John Reynolds, Steve Lacey and Margie joined CEO, Mark Dodson, Vice President, 
Public Affairs & Communications, Gregg Kantor and Director, Environmental Policy and 
Sustainability, Bill Edmonds at a joint strategy session with NW Natural. The discussion 
was very positive and key opportunities were identified, including the prospect of 
serving Washington NW Natural customers. 


• Margie attended a lively dinner and discussion of carbon issues hosted by PGE CEO 
Peggy Fowler and featuring Ralph Cavanagh from the Natural Resources Defense 
Council and David Owens of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. 


• Margie delivered a speech about Energy Trust opportunities to the Portland Executive 
Alliance, addressing a large gathering of local commercial business CEO's. 


• Biofuel efficiency projects whereby commercial and industrial gas or electric fueled 
heating systems are being supplanted by organic fuels will be treated on a pilot basis by 
Energy Trust Business Energy Solutions programs.  This measure went through four 
airings with the Conservation Advisory Committee. In the end, with the exception of 
one abstention, the council supported staff recommendations. They include the 
following premises: 


 Biopower CHP should be explored before thermal-only consideration 
 Project sites should be required to contribute to public purpose funding  
 Projects will be commercial and industrial applications 
 Participants must agree to initiate a site-wide efficiency program as a condition 


to undertaking biofuel projects 
 Only renewable waste fuel source projects will be accepted 
 Standard program cost-effectiveness screening and incentive process will be 


followed 
 Assurance that the incentive investment is realized for projects with fossil fuel 


backup will be required 
 All emission regulatory permits are required per program requirements 


This will be initiated as a pilot program, accepting up to 10 projects over two years. An 
evaluation will be performed to measure efficacy and report results back to the CAC 
before a decision to expand the program is made. 







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 2 of 10 


Program Planning and Evaluation 


General 
• The annual true up for 2008 was completed, incorporating the Tracking Estimate 


Correction and True Up of 2002 – 2007 reported savings. This resulted in a 1.8 % 
increase in electric savings and a 2.8 % increase in gas savings over previous estimates. 
Changes were driven by results of the recent Industrial and Commercial evaluations. A 
detailed final report will be available Q2 2008. 


• New avoided costs incorporated into all program and measure benefit/cost analysis 
models. 


• Summaries of possible west coast collaboration activities to achieve zero net energy 
commercial buildings by 2030 and to accelerate appliance efficiency were provided to 
the OPUC, describing the benefits associated with a joint effort in these areas among 
Oregon, Washington and California. Significant coordination would be required if 
activities were agreed upon and undertaken, including additional resources to achieve 
more results collectively than any one state could achieve on their own. 


• Fred Gordon, intern Lakin Garth and Power Planning and Conservation Council staff 
submitted a draft paper for the American Consortium for an Energy Efficient Economy 
(ACEEE) summer study on how supply curves for efficiency change over time. 


Residential 
Cost-effectiveness analyses were completed for: 


• ENERGY STAR new refrigerators. Because efficiency specifications have increased, this 
measure is now cost-effective and will be part of 2008 program offerings.  


• A pilot program to replace old refrigerators for limited income customers in Southern 
Oregon was also found to be cost-effective. 


Commercial and Industrial 
Cost-effectiveness analyses were completed for: 


• Hotel room occupancy sensors and commercial dishwashers. These two measures are 
cost-effective and will augment our restaurant and hospitality initiatives.  


NW Alliance Evaluations 
Market progress evaluation reports were completed for the following programs in the last 3 
months and are available on the NW Alliance website (www.nwalliance.org): 


• Analysis of window energy savings in commercial buildings in the Pacific Northwest 
(E08-182) 


• BetterBricks Grocery Initiative (E08-183) 







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 3 of 10 


Efficiency Programs 


General 


• Staff attended a BPA sponsored workshop to discuss energy efficiency options in the 
northwest region post-2011. This information meeting was held to assemble 
stakeholders and identify issues for discussion. Coordination opportunities were 
discussed after a presentation of the NW Power and Conservation Council 6th Power 
Plan, delivered by Tom Eckman. One outcome is that BPA will require their customers 
to submit 10-year conservation plans and corresponding program delivery needs. 


• Staff has been working with the Portland Development Commission to design a pilot 
initiative that addresses low income multifamily new construction projects. These 
buildings are unique in construction and could be more adequately addressed through 
greater collaboration of Energy Trust programs or funding with that of state agencies. 


• Staff has been actively helping to frame the Portland High Performance Green Building 
Committee’s recommendation to the city council for greenhouse gas reduction policy. 
Council action is expected this fall. 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® New Homes 
• Working with the EPA on their new “designed to earn” label for architectural plans that 


when built as specified and certified, will meet ENERGY STAR requirements. 
• Conducted a focus group where participants stated that economic and cost issues are 


very important to them and that they have little knowledge of the ENERGY STAR brand 
for new homes. 


• Staffed the annual Oregon Manufactured Home Show which had a great turn out and 
provided good exposure for the program to industry and the public alike. 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® Products 
• Received the EPA’s 2008 ENERGY STAR Program Delivery Award for our Change a 


Light, Change the World fundraiser initiative.  
• Collaborated with Energy Trust’s internal Web Forms Team to kick-off the creation of 


the first web form for the clothes washer program. 
• Paid incentives for over 255,000 specialty CFLs during the first two months of the year, 


resulting from a significant uptake in the BPA specialty bulb promotion. 


Home Energy Solutions—Existing Homes 
• The program completed 569 Home Energy Reviews, achieving a new program record. 
• Home Performance with ENERGY STAR incentives paid were 12-fold over the same 


time last year. 


Business Energy Solutions—New Buildings  
• The program hosted “Form Meets Function” a gathering of architect and engineering 


firms to network and generate leads. 
• Outreach and marketing efforts are expanding to bring in more projects and penetrate 


the “design-build” market through a trade ally driven approach. 
• Efforts are underway to expand the trade ally network and gain more traction with 


small- and medium-size projects in the new construction market.  







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 4 of 10 


Business Energy Solutions—Existing Buildings 
• On April 1, 2008, the program will receive an award from the US Environmental 


Protection Agency and US Department of Energy for Excellence in ENERGY STAR 
Promotion for our commercial foodservice initiative. 


• Staff delivered a presentation titled “Moving the Foodservice Market in Oregon” at the 
Association of Energy Service Professionals National Energy Services Conference in 
Clearwater Beach, Florida. 


• Continued close collaboration with BPA on activities in the lodging and foodservice 
markets. 


• Initiated a close working relationship with Travel Portland (formerly the Portland, 
Oregon Visitors Association, POVA), a destination marketing organization for the 
Portland metro area as a channel into the lodging sector. 


• Collaborated with BetterBricks on the Office Energy Showdown contest where 
commercial office buildings in the Portland area compete against each other using the 
ENERGY STAR Portfolio Manager tool. 


Business Energy Solutions—Production Efficiency 
• Officially launched the small industrial initiative compressed air incentive calculation tool 


with seven new compressed air trade allies. 
• Walt Mintkeski has joined the team as a contractor working part-time to assist with 


water and wastewater treatment facility audits and training. 
• Updated the Production Efficiency web pages to reflect multiple program initiatives, 


including small industrial, agriculture, water and wastewater, and large industrial. 
• Participated in the Northwest Food Processors annual show in Portland. 
• Held a “Power Lunch” town hall style meeting as part of the Corvallis Energy Challenge 


creating an opportunity for industrial facilities in Corvallis to learn about the program. 


Renewable Energy 


Open Solicitation 
• Made a presentation to the Oregon Association of Nurseries state conference. 
• Provided assistance to the Oregon Institute of Technology in Klamath Falls, helping to 


develop their plan for a 1 MW geothermal electric project on campus. 
• Received completed feasibility studies for hydropower in Hood River County and 


geothermal for the town of Lakeview. 
• Launched a program offering municipalities in the PGE service territory the opportunity 


to share the cost of hiring a consultant to write an application to the state's Renewable 
Energy Feasibility Fund for a hydro feasibility study. 


• Presented the results of a hydropower scoping study to the Sheridan City Council. 


Utility Scale 
• The GoodNoe Hills 94 MW wind project for Pacific Power remains on-track for a June, 


2008 completion. 


Wind 
• Approved the first small wind project application, a 10kW system to be installed on a 


farm near McMinnville, Oregon. 
• Presented at the Oregon Dairy Farmers Association annual meeting on small wind. 
• Started planning for two upcoming small wind seminars for communities in windy areas. 







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 5 of 10 


• Contracted with installer for three new tall tower wind resource assessments. One 
anemometer is a cost share with a USDA Value-added Production Grant (Umatilla 
County); one is a cost share with an Oregon Economic Community Development 
Depart feasibility grant (Hood River County); and one is a cost share with a land owner 
(Hood River County) 


• Attended a Hood River School District meeting where the school board unanimously 
approved the High School’s Science Club proposal to install a wind turbine at the 
school’s football field as a demonstration project with Energy Trust.  


Biopower 
• Presented on dairy digesters at the Oregon Dairy Farmers Association annual meeting. 
• Provided letter of support and committed matching funds for USDA VAPG applications 


for 2 dairy digester projects in Tillamook County. 
• Provided letter of support and committed matching funds for USDA VAPG application 


for an anaerobic digester project at a chicken ranch in Junction City. 
• Completed 3 feasibility studies: Hood River County Biomass Potential, Stimson Lumber 


(wood waste and forest thinnings) and Pacific Natural Foods (food waste and manure 
biogas). 


Solar 
• In response to high solar project demand for non-taxable entities, lowered incentives 


and instituted more stringent reservation requirements to ensure reserved funding is 
redirected, if necessary, to projects with highest probability of completion in 2008. 


• Worked with Portland General Electric, League of Oregon Cities, Renewable 
Northwest Project, and Oregon Department of Energy on solar and green tags on a 
March 5th workshop for local governments, attracting 150 people. 


• Provided comments to City of Portland on draft guidelines for building permits for 
residential and commercial solar installations. 


• Contracted with Solar Oregon for delivery of solar seminars and staff at public events 
• Collaborated with ODOE, Solar Oregon and City of Portland Office of Sustainable 


Development to develop a statewide outreach campaign called Solar Now! 
• Coordinated installation of solar electric and water heating systems on Good Energy 


house at the Energy Trust Better Living Show. 
• Implemented PowerClerk, an online project management, tracking and reporting system 


for solar electric projects. 


Communication, Marketing and Outreach 
Center/Customer Service 


• Released RFP for call center services and reviewed proposals; decision will be 
announced on March 24. 


• Planned for customer tracking of Better Living Show responses. 







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 6 of 10 


500


1000


1500


2000


2500


3000


3500


4000


Calls 1484 1979 1434 1489 2077 1931 1745 3839 1718 2259 1476 1485 2260 3267 3729 2189 2597 2118


Sep 
06


Oct 
06


Nov 
06


Dec 
06


Jan 
07


Feb 
07


Mar 
07


Apr 
07


May 
07


Jun 
07 Jul 07 Aug 


07
Sep 
07


Oct 
07


Nov 
07


Dec 
07


Jan 
08


Feb 
08


Call Volume


 
Call Volume through February 2008 
In February, we received 479 fewer calls than in January, consistent with our normal seasonal 
trend. Overall received 187 more calls in February 2008 than February 2007, resulting in a 
higher volume of inquiries than last year. 
 
 
 
  
  
  


 
  
 
 


 
 
 
 
Website 


• Posted new Renewable Energy Feasibility Fund grant pages. 
• Developed new website for Corvallis Energy Challenge.  
• Implemented customized trade ally search list for small wind.  
• Posted new sector-specific Production Efficiency web pages.  
• Posted new pages for Home Energy Monitor promotion.  
• Coordinated and participated in WebTrends analytics training for Energy Trust and 


Program Management Contractor marketing staff.  
• Posted clarifying language on Home Energy Solutions pages about program offerings for 


homeowners that heat with oil. 
 







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 7 of 10 


0


20000


40000


60000


80000


100000


120000


140000


160000


Visits 47761 56098 55013 54050 73795 75952 66131 73259 82837 78527 68417 84039 71316
WebTrends 10194 13554 93384


Feb 
07 Mar 07 Apr 07 May 


07 Jun 07 Jul 07 Aug 
07


Sep 
07 Oct 07 Nov 07 Dec 


07 Jan 08 Feb 
08


Web Site Visits


Website Visits through February 2008 
Web site visits decreased in February, and remained significantly higher than in the same period 
of 2007. WebTrends (shown in red) reported the same trend as our older tool, Webalizer 
(shown in blue). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Trade Ally Initiative  


• Coordinated with call center and Conservation Services Group to complete trade ally 
renewal. 


• Attended Home Energy Savings trade ally training sessions.  
• Held first quarter trade ally roundtables in Portland and Grants Pass.  
• Implemented updated regional training calendar for trade allies. 
• Began renewal process for New Buildings trade allies. 
• Met with BPA’s new trade ally coordinator to discuss collaboration. 
• Attended NW Trade Ally Network (BPA) training for trade allies. 
 


Community Energy 
• Launched Corvallis Energy Challenge: during kick-off week March 3-8 City Council 


adopted a resolution supporting the Challenge, 70 Sustainability Coalition leaders had 
Home Energy Reviews, 5 local businesses participated in walk-through efficiency + solar 
assessments, solar assessments were started on six City of Corvallis facilities, and area 
industrial manufacturers had the opportunity to attend a Power Lunch describing the 
Production Efficiency program. 


• Garnered front page above-the-fold picture and story in the Corvallis Gazette-Times 
and a front-page story in the OSU Daily Barometer. 


• Scheduled 121 additional Home Energy Reviews and 5 additional business walkthroughs 
by March 21. 


• Made plans to secure more Home Energy Review signups at the Sustainability 
Coalition’s Town Hall event March 31, a Solar Seminar April 12 and an Earth Day 
festival April 19.  


• Launched www.CorvallisEnergyChallenge.org.  







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 8 of 10 


Events, Speaking Engagements and Sponsorships 
• Met with Lincoln City Community Sustainability Committee to discuss support of 


residential programs. 
• Spoke at Corbett Issues Forum in support of Energy Trust programs. 
• Recognized as a sponsor and placed materials at 2008 NW Energy Summit at Oregon 


Convention Center. 
• Participated in Metro Multifamily Housing Maintenance Fair. 
• Sponsored five solar workshops. 
• Hosted solar workshop for municipalities and special districts. 
• Provided trainings on Check me!, duct sealing, Home Performance with ENERGY STAR 


marketing, Home Check software, basics of air sealing, LEED for existing buildings. 


Creative Products 
• Developed a suite of materials for the Energy Trust Better Living show.  
• Developed a new suite of materials for the Corvallis Energy Challenge launch. 
• Created 13 new and resized advertisements: 6 commercial, 4 residential, 3 renewables.  
• Produced and released 3 newsletters: Synergy (general, monthly), Insider (for trade 


allies, bimonthly) and Pit Stop (internal, monthly).  
• Created 1 new fact sheet on the Production Efficiency program. 
• Created 1 new 3-panel general display representing all programs.  
• Produced a one-page fact sheet for Klamath Basin irrigators about Energy Trust 


programs that will accompany a letter from Pacific Power announcing a rate increase. 
• Created a Dairy Industry Fact Sheet for distribution at the Oregon Dairy Farmers 


Association convention in Sunriver. 


News Releases and Media Events 
• Distributed a press release announcing Energy Trust’s two awards for Excellence in 


ENERGY STAR promotion. 
• Arranged for KGW Channel 8 story on home energy efficiency at the home of 


executive director Margie Harris.  
• Developed plans for extensive media coverage of Energy Trust Better Living show. 
• Continued to build a pipeline of stories and press releases for 2008.  
• Continued to garner news coverage about and mentions of Energy Trust programs in 


local newspapers around the state, including Portland Business Journal, Green Data, 
Green Growth, The Sunday Oregonian, Corvallis Gazette-Times, Energy Audits Start 
Challenge Year and more. 


• Wrote and submitted two "Energy Corner" articles for the Main Ingredient, the Oregon 
Restaurant Association's monthly magazine. 


• Wrote and submitted an "Energy Corner article for Lodging News, the Oregon Lodging 
Association's quarterly publication. 


 
Utility Co-promotions 


• Cascade Natural Gas: Created a February bill insert on high-efficiency water heaters; 
provided a March Warm Neighbor News newsletter story on ENERGY STAR clothes 
washers.  


• NW Natural: Provided Energy Trust Better Living Show Comfort Zone newsletter story 
for February and ENERGY STAR clothes washer story for March newsletter.  


• Pacific Power: Provided March bill insert on ENERGY STAR clothes washers and Voices 
newsletter story on ENERGY STAR appliance incentives.  







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 9 of 10 


• Portland General Electric: Provided March Home Connections e-newsletter story on 
Home Energy Monitor pilot project.  


Operations, Contracts, Human Resources, Finance and 
Information Technology 


Finance 
• Closed the financial ‘books’ for 2007 and prepared all supporting analyses. 
• Analyzed 2007 PMC contract goals and performance compensation payouts.  
• Managed the 1099 issuance process for calendar year 2007.  
• Completed annual financial statement audit, including documentation, analyses, 


explanations and report preparation. 
• Coordinated the re-budgeting process (Round 3) to accommodate Renewable Energy 


Act (SB 838) funding; completed budget and presentation materials. 
• Initiated the contract accounting process-improvement project, part of the accounting 


system evaluation. 
• Evaluated and purchased a journal entry automation tool to speed-up month end 


closing.  
• Research and evaluated several web-based time-keeping solutions.  
• Completed financial reports for January and February 2008 and prepared all supporting 


analyses.  
• Hosted and attended a teleconference training for staff regarding how to use economic 


forecasts in business. 
• Filed anemometer property tax reports with applicable Oregon county assessment 


offices. 
• Prepared 2007 Q4 Board report and OPUC packet.  
• Redesigned and simplified Master Schedule reporting. 
• Created 2008 templates for monthly-closing process. 
• Revised PMC invoice coversheets for 2008.  
• Cross trained other department personnel to add departmental depth. 
• Completed Annual Services Report Survey.  
• Completed 2007 Q4 FastTrack audit. 
• Evaluated Call Center RFP responses. 
• Began addressing 2007 project document retention. 
• Continued contracting process with third party insurance certificate tracking entity. 
• Completed 2008 work plans for all staff.  
• Continued identity theft protection discussions with staff regarding current procedures.  
• Drafted flowchart for current stale-dated check procedures and processed stale-dated 


checks for reissuance.  
• Began testing 2008 Form 1099 recipient listing. 
• Researched and provided demonstration for accounts payable online assistance.  
• Developed and managed tighter controls on W9 processes.  
• Worked with Gold Mine systems analyst to maintain Great Plains and Gold Mine 


information.  
• Processed between 500 and 850 incentive checks weekly.  
• Assisted PMC’s with incentive reversal and correction processing.  


  







Staff Report April 9, 2008 


Page 10 of 10 


Human Resources 
• Hired Jed Jorgensen as Renewable Energy Project Manager. Jed’s last position was Marketing 


& Communications Manager at The Climate Trust. 
• Hired Hannah Hacker as Communications and Marketing Coordinator. Hannah is a recent 


graduate of Drake University where she majored in Environmental Science and 
Journalism/Communications. She recently completed a temporary assignment at the Oregon 
Department of Energy.  


• Brien Sipe joined the evaluation department as an Evaluation Analyst. Brien recently 
completed a Masters in Economics at PSU. Brien has been working for the department as an 
intern and contractor during the past two years and is replacing Philip Kelsven, who has 
accepted a position with Conservation Services Group. 


• Sarah Castor has also joined the department in the capacity as the Market Research and 
Evaluation Analyst. A graduate of U of O with a B.S. in economics and math and of U-C 
Davis with an MA in economics, Sarah's prior experience includes work at the Federal 
Reserve Bank. 


• Hired Matt Blomgren as a half-time Network Technician in the IT department.  Matt was 
currently a consultant and has held positions at PSU and Microsoft.  


• Accepted the resignation of Danielle Gidding, Planner/ Analyst, in the Planning & Evaluation 
Department. Danielle accepted a position at Idaho Power in their efficiency program. 


• Recruiting in Planning & Evaluation for a Planning Engineer and Planner/Analyst. 
• Recruiting for a Renewable Energy Program Manager.  
• Recruiting in IT for a Database Administrator.  
• Distributed annual Employee Survey to all staff for completion by March 31.  Results will be 


compiled and presented at a future staff meeting.  
• Held employee orientation for new staff.  
• Accepted the resignation of Linda Rudawitz, IT Manager. 
• Debbie Blanchard, contractor, is serving at interim IT manager while a replacement is being 


recruited. 


Legal and Contracts 
• Updates incorporated elsewhere in this report. 


Information Technology 
• Completed processing and posting of 2008 energy savings True-up. 
• Published draft IT Strategic Plan for final review. 
• Established project team for implementation of prototype FastTrack web form for appliance 


rebates and held initial project meeting. 
• Released FastTrack enhanced version which supports automatic e-mail notification as 


project tasks are assigned to staff. 
• Incorporated a new FastTrack feature to permit measure definitions to directly access 


external data sources, such as the EnergyStar web site, to obtain authorized values for 
measure attributes (i.e. qualified washing machine models and efficiency factors). This will 
greatly reduce the maintenance required for many of the high volume product measures 
while also improving the timeliness of the data. 


• Processed over 500 service tickets using the new Track-it Help Desk software. 
• Established automatic logging of service tickets via e-mail to help@energytrust.org. 
• Established types and categories to permit Track-it to handle the wide variety of tracking 


issues that were previously contained in several separate databases. 
• Loaded FastTrack and Help Desk ticket history into Track-it and developed initial Track-it 


summary reports. 








Theodore R. Kulongoski, Governor 


625 Marion St. NE
Salem, OR 97301-3737
Phone: (503) 378-4040


Toll Free: 1-800-221-8035
FAX: (503) 373-7806


www.Oregon.gov/ENERGY


 
 
 
 
 
 
March 26, 2008 
 
 
Margie Harris, Executive Director 
Energy Trust of Oregon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, OR  97204     via e-mail 
 
 
Dear Margie: 
 
I have appointed Betty Merrill, who is our Assistant Director for Energy Conservation, to represent 
the Department of Energy as the Special Advisor at Energy Trust Board meetings.  Betty has 
extensive experience working on energy efficiency in numerous types of buildings and 
technologies.  She has also worked with the Energy Trust in a number of areas.  I know you will 
enjoy working with Betty in her new capacity. 
 
Sincerely, 


 
Michael W. Grainey 
Director 
 
 

















   
 
 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting Feb. 20, 2008 


 
Attending from the Council:           
Steve Bicker, NW Natural 
Jeff Bissonnette, Fair & Clean Energy Coalition 
Christine Kautzman, Cascade Natural Gas  
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Joe Esmonde, IBEW  
Andrea Jacobs, Office of Sustainable Development  
Don Jones, Jr. Pacific Power 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Karen Meadows, BPA  
Mathew Northway, EWEB 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
   
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Fred Gordon 
Debbie Kitchin, Board of Directors 
Steve Lacey 
Spencer Moersfelder 
John Reynolds, Board of Directors  
Jan Schaeffer 
Greg Stiles 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Paul Berkowitz, CSG 
Verlea Briggs, PGE 
Nathan Pollard, GCS 
Lisa Espinosa, Cascade Natural Gas 
Liesl Karasaki, Lockheed Martin 
Kathy Barnard, Cascade Natural Gas   
Anna Larson, SAIC 
Greg Nelson, PGE 
Nick Parsons, Lockheed Martin 
Jason Ping, Pacific Lamp Wholesale 
Anne Wagner, SAIC 
Paul Warila, Cascade Energy Engineering 
 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions. He introduced the agenda.  
 
2.  Administrative Logistics 
Steve provided an update on Council membership. He contacted the three members who did not attend 
last year. Both Gary Curtis and Jeff Bissonnette would like to continue and plan to attend 1-2 meetings 
this year. Julie Brandis no longer works for AOI. Steve contacted AOI asking if they wished to replace 
Julie. He hopes to hear back by next meeting.  
 
3. Major Renovations vs Retrofit – under which program should they fall? 







CAC Notes – Feb. 20, 2008     


 2


Greg Stiles filled in for Spencer Moersfelder, who has laryngitis.  
 
He explained this question is coming up now to be cleared up in time for rebidding the New Buildings 
NB) program in the summer of 2008. He said historically major renovations have been addressed by the 
NB program. He said there has been confusion about which project goes where. Existing Buildings (EB) 
works more with trade allies, although this is growing with NB and Production Efficiency (PE). The PE 
program works with Program Delivery Contractors. Architect/engineering teams work mostly with the 
NB program, and sometimes the EB program.  
 
The issue for Energy Trust is how we identify the savings. On the NB side, the baseline is Oregon non-
residential code. However, some replacement projects done under EB don’t use code as a baseline; we 
can usually claim more savings in these cases if the project is treated as an upgraded piece of equipment, 
in which case we claim the difference between energy use of the old and replacement equipment.  (An 
exception is lighting projects where the lumen output of the existing lighting system is so low that it 
doesn’t meet the occupant’s needs and the Lighting Power Density for the existing lighting system is well 
below code.  Under these circumstances it is reasonable to use code to define the baseline. 
 
He proposed new language for EB retrofits: 1 system where more than 50% of one system is being 
replaced and less than 50% of the other systems in the project are being replaced. For NB renovation: 
major renovation of 2 or more systems of which 50% or more of 2 systems are being replaced and 
structural modifications are occurring. PE is a retrofit and replacement program for existing industrial 
equipment. If a new manufacturing facility is being built, this involves a marriage between the PE and NB 
program; same is true for major renovations of an existing manufacturing facility.  
 
What is retrofit? This involves changing out equipment before the end of its useful life. Replacement 
occurs when the equipment is at the end of its useful life, with the baseline established by common 
practice or code. A proposed definition for “end of useful life” is when 80% of the useful life of the 
equipment has expired. Incentive offers for replacement measures are based on the incremental cost of 
the high efficiency option. Should retrofit incentives be greater? 
 
He tackled the definition of major renovation. Previous definition: 2or more systems are being replaced. 
Issue is that in major retrofit projects such as large lighting projects and downsizing HVAC are desirable 
but will move projects to NB and a different incentive structure. Staff is considering this definition: 2+ 
systems of which 50% or more of 2 systems are being replaced and structural modifications are being 
made to the facility.  
 
He presented “options for 2009,”including: 
 


1. Maintain status quo represented in updated rules 
2. Rearrange offerings so that: 


 
• EB addresses all existing structures 
• NB deals exclusively with commercial new construction 
• PE addresses all measures for industrial facilities, including new construction shell and 


process or NB handles new construction shell measures and PE handles process-related 
measures. 


 
Participants discussed the fact that many renovations occur when a building’s occupancy changes. 
Further discussion centered on difficulties for trade allies to work with multiple programs. Jason Ping 
thinks status quo is great. He can work it out with Roger Spring or Anne Wagner. 







CAC Notes – Feb. 20, 2008     


 3


 
Greg reviewed staff’s thoughts about pros and cons. Nathan Pollard commented on the difference 
between level of knowledge on codes within the NB team compared to EB.  
 
Don Jones said Pacific Power has had dealt with this issue several times over the years. They struggled. 
They came up with a definition for major renovation: when existing systems in an existing building do 
not meet the owner’s current or projected needs, principally as a result in change of use. Major 
renovations are treated the same as new construction. The group discussed this further.  
 
John Reynolds asked if we promote re-use of inefficient equipment that has not reached end of life.  
Steve said no. Jason Ping said clients auction old lighting equipment on Ebay. Don Jones said most old 
equipment is cut up and disposed of.  
 
Greg Nelson commented on the need for incentive offerings across programs to make sense. Jason said 
some contractors aren’t as smart as others. If smart ones see higher incentives in one program vs 
another, they will go for the larger package, yielding greater savings for his client, along with other 
benefits such as cleaner indoor air quality. He thinks lighting contractors should be trained on the 
different programs, which would result in identifying more measures.  
 
Elaine Prause said her program delivery contractors (PDCs) think their strength is building relationships 
with larger customers over time, providing the potential to do multiple projects over years.  
 
Anne Wagner said SAIC tries hard to get participants into the right programs. She said historically she 
hasn’t worked closely with the PE program. She went on a joint visit to a site. The PDC and she agreed 
to keep the PDC as the primary rep to the customer; Anne will work through the PDC to serve lighting 
and shell needs.  
 
Anna Larson thinks the programs work well together. She recognizes the need for clearer boundaries 
between the programs. She thinks the new definitions are a good start. Don Jones suggested 
distinguishing according to whether there is an energy code requirement. 
 
Steve Lacey said one of staff’s purposes is to assure efficient delivery of services, make operations 
customer friendly, and streamline our offerings.  
 
Verlea Briggs said she and Greg have this conversation a lot. She thinks the piece about structural 
modifications is helpful.  
 
Aaron Wines said he is very comfortable with the status quo and collaboration among programs. Nick 
Parsons said he thinks more clearly defined project tracks are a step in the right direction.  
 
Steve said we will bring back recommendations looking at occupancy/change of use, equipment age, ease 
of participant services access, and incentive uniformity across programs.  
 
 
2. Existing Homes program changes 2008  
Paul Berkowitz reviewed what’s new in the EH program for 2008. He noted: 
 


• Collaboration with manufacturers, distributors, retailers on promotional activities 
• Cross-marketing with the Products team (refrigerator replacements and recycle old ones) 
• Remote area Home Energy Reviews with weatherization agencies (Pendleton, Grants Pass) 







CAC Notes – Feb. 20, 2008     


 4


• Integrate existing home program training with Earth Advantage real estate professional green 
certification; create Energy Trust Real Estate Professional Trade Ally designation 


• Low income solar initiative 
• Energy performance certificate and carbon footprint calculator 
• Deliver home solar energy assessments to participants 
• Sales and marketing training for Energy Advisors; increase number of HER measure installations 
• Spanish language HERs and bilingual contact center 


 
2008 Home Performance Initiatives 


• Goal of 1000 completed home performance jobs in ’08 (560 in ’07) 
• Streamline home performance procedures 
• Develop subcontractor network for Home Performance contractors 
• Minimum 2 Home Performance trainings in ‘08 
• Recruit home inspectors for BPI training and designation as Home Performance contractors 
• Explore new loan options 
• Develop Assisted Home Performance program component for lower income participants (60-


80% median) 
 
New multifamily program initiatives 


• CSG assumes all multifamily program tasks from OSD in 2008 – outreach, administrative, BETC 
processing 


• Multifamily building assessments 
• Expand focus on lighting and clothes washers; target Laundromats 
• Improve job depth with more measure savings captured 
• Increase geographic diversity of projects 


 
Energy Performance Certificate 


• 2008 pilot “buildings approach to carbon mitigation” with couple of Portland neighborhoods – 
create program model, test efficacy, define tools, for use and market providers of service  


 
Increased market involvement by leveraging market activities of: 


• Manufacturers of EE equipment and products 
• Equipment distributors 
• Large retailers – Lowes, Home Depot, Sears Home Services, etc. 
• Community-based organizations 
• Corporate outreach (Nike, HP, Intel) 
• Trade associations HBA, ACCA, NARI, WISE  


 
Additional Pilot Initiatives 


• Power Cost monitor 
• 200 mini split heat pumps 
• Refrigerator monitoring, replacement and recycling 
• Heat pump early retirement program 
• Low-income-focused refrigerator replacement 


 
Special promotional efforts 


• High efficiency water heater promotion in cooperation with PGE, Marathon and RotoRooter; 
$75 Energy Trust coupon and $100 RotoRooter incentive.  







CAC Notes – Feb. 20, 2008     


 5


• High efficiency heat pumps -- $50 coupon 
• Solar Home Energy assessments 


 
Karen Meadows asked if we were going to evaluated results. Fred said there are many evaluations and 
other studies underway.  
 
John Reynolds asked whether the team will push water heating or electric heaters. Paul said they would 
be handled evenly.  
 
 
3. Biofuel efficiency projects 
Steve explained he is picking up the discussion from last meeting about how to treat projects in which 
renewable fuels offset fossil fuels (which constitutes conservation, as opposed to generating electricity 
from a renewable fuel). Steve explained staff’s suggestion that Energy Trust consider transport costs of 
biofuels to the site as part of cost effectiveness calculations. Regarding emissions, he proposes adhering 
to DEQ permits. Staff suggests not differentiating among biofuel sources on the basis of social, economic 
and ecosystem impacts, but to apply environmental and economic criteria to specific projects.  
 
Members discussed additionality issues, and social impacts of diverting food stuffs to fuel production. 
Steve Bicker suggested a resource assessment of fuel types.  
 
Steve discussed “rules of engagement,” including these recommendations:  
 


• CHP option should be explored before thermal-only 
• New buildings should not be ruled out 
• New construction projects must subsequently pay into the public purpose fund (excepting self 


directors, which can get 50% incentives) 
• Energy Trust should require proof of biofuel supply through the incentive payback term (3 


years); this aligns with the policy on incentives for self directors 
• Energy Trust should use a verification provision to determine that, over XX years, the user is 


verified not to exceed a certain fossil fuel allowance; if so, the user compensates Energy Trust 
 
He reviewed an example of a project path involving a participant proposing to replace current fuel 
electric or gas) with biofuel. We would perform a technical and economic feasibility assessment of the 
existing system and a high performance biofuel system. This would establish current fuel consumption, 
and determine high efficiency options in order to derive the incentive offering, and perform a societal 
cost-effectiveness screening using avoided fossil fuel as savings and project cost. We would offer the 
standard PE or EB program upgrade incentive toward the cost of the proposed biofuel system, if it 
passes societal cost effectiveness.  
 
Steve Bicker said we wouldn’t support lower quality mixed fuels, but only 100% biofuel. Steve agreed.  
 
Christine Kautzman described a project proposed in Cascade service territory that doesn’t make sense 
to her. It would require a $175,000+ upgrade to the gas system but anticipates running on gas only as a 
backup. If they don’t use gas, then they violate the pay-to-play requirement. Following further discussion, 
Steve summarized there aren’t going to be many, if any, of these projects that qualify for Energy Trust 
funds.  
 
Steve Lacey outlined further considerations regarding site-wide efficiency assessments, whether the 
project could go forward without Energy Trust incentives, and that Energy Trust would not offer 







CAC Notes – Feb. 20, 2008     


 6


equipment incentives where the participant moves to a transport rate and stops paying into the public 
purpose fund. The group concurred that the incentive should be restricted to commercial and industrial 
projects.  
 
Steve asked if there are any glaring problems with staff’s recommended course of action. Steve Bicker 
said no, other than those earlier noted. Mat Northway is concerned about draining millions of dollars 
out of the efficiency pool and ends up not creating efficiency but, rather, changing fuels. Fred thinks our 
contribution might be so small as to not influence the investment. Steve thinks our greatest contribution 
might be to conduct the study, rather than incent the equipment.  
 
Steve Bicker repeated his suggestion from last meeting that this be approached as a pilot. He noted also 
that the approach will need to be restructured when cap and trade is established.  
 
Lori asked how we estimate the cost of the biofuel. Fred said we draw upon analyses done by our 
renewables team. 
 
Steve asked if the group supports going forward with this with the caveats. He would like to inform the 
board at the April meeting.  
 
Christine Kautzman, with support from Kathy Bernard, said she can live with the caveats.  
 
Steve Bicker would like to see a nice tight description with the caveats incorporated into it before 
proclaiming his support.  
 
Lisa Espinosa agrees with Steve B. 
 
Lori would like to check further into using waste materials to create the biofuels versus diverting 
foodstocks or land that could be used to grow foodstocks. She also thinks there should be minimum 
efficiency requirements.  
 
Mat thinks the definition of energy efficiency talks about the reduction of electric or gas consumption, 
and a biofuel displacing a fossil fuel does not reduce the amount of fuel needed. Others said the amount 
of fossil fuel would be reduced.  
 
Karen thinks there’s a lot of complexity to this. If it isn’t going to satisfy any goals, it might not be worth 
doing. If we put a lot of restrictions on it, we might not get any projects.  
 
Joe thinks it would be worthwhile with all the caveats and characterized as a pilot this is worth doing.  
 
Steve Lacey concluded we will come back at the next meeting with a process that includes all the 
caveats and take it to the board or not in April.  
 
 
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:20 pm.  
 








   
 
 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting Mar. 19, 2008 
 
Attending from the Council:  
Steve Bicker, NW Natural  
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Bruce Dobbs, BOMA 
Joe Esmonde, IBEW  
Charlie Grist, NWPCC 
Andrea Jacobs, Office of Sustainable Development  
Don Jones, Jr. Pacific Power 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Mat Northway, EWEB 
Paul Olson, Oregon Remodelers Association 
Lauren Shapton, PGE  
Lisa Espinosa, Cascade Natural Gas 
 
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Matt Braman 
Pete Catching 
Fred Gordon 
Steve Lacey 
Spencer Moersfelder 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Elaine Prause 
John Reynolds, Board of Directors  
Jan Schaeffer 
Greg Stiles 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Verlea Biggs, PGE 
Steve Hathaway, Siemens Building Technologies 
Liesl Karasaki, Lockheed Martin 
Nick Parsons, Lockheed Martin 
Dick Parr, Reitmeier Mechanical 
Jason Ping, Pacific Lamp Wholesale 
Nathan Pollard, GCS 
Sam Sirkin, Jaco Environmental 
Anne Wagner, SAIC 
Paul Warila, Cascade Energy Engineering 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







CAC Notes – Mar. 19, 2008     


 2


 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. 2008 budget amendment 


 Steve reviewed changes to the budget reflecting added funding from Pacific Power and, we expect, 
from PGE in response to SB 838. He said the amended budget goes to the board April 9. The 
budget reflects $13.4 million in increased resources, $11.3 million in increased expenses, a 7.9 aMW 
increase in best-case electric savings goal and a 97,000 increase in annual therms best case savings 
goal. The added funds allow diving deeper into existing markets, placing a greater emphasis on 
existing small businesses and new commercial construction, adding near-low-income residential and 
new residential technologies, expanding the refrigerator replacement pilot, secure more savings 
from small industrial customers, expanding Corvallis Energy Challenge activities, pursuing net-zero 
residential and commercial building designs, and exploring time-of-sale upgrades.  


 
 He reviewed spending by program over time. He noted the programs show increases across the 


board in 2008 and 2009, except for existing residential. For that program, the 2008 budget includes 
a number of pilot efforts; at this juncture we don’t reflect their continuation in 2009, although, 
depending on experience, we may incorporate funding to extend them in the 2009 budget. He 
noted “lumpiness” in the Production Efficiency budget over the years but resulting in a historic level 
of more money allocated to Production Efficiency. The net result shows proportionally more 
funding allocated to the commercial and residential sectors via 838.  


 
He reviewed changes in resources and spending/savings by program. Paul Olson asked what portion of 
the total efficiency carryover was represented by the $3.2 million in carryover being added to the 
budget. Lori asked why the 2008 revised budget with the increase in supplemental funding didn’t sum up 
when compared to the 2007 year-end expenses. Steve said that same question came up in a 
presentation to the Energy Trust Policy Committee. Sue Meyer Sample said the difference is mainly in 
how carryover is treated where 2007 expenses do not address carryover and the 2008 budget has it 
included. Lori asked how to justify the increase in Production Efficiency funding when SB 838 funds do 
not come from large industrial customers. Steve explained the increases are earmarked to support 
greater activity with smaller industrial users.  
 
He reviewed budget changes by utility and revised projections for 2009. Andrea Jacobs asked 
whether a $.2 million reduction in renewables spending was related to any one program. Steve 
explained the reduction reflects reallocated administrative costs and is not tied to any particular 
program. Paul Olson asked if administrative costs increased. Sue Meyer Sample said they went up 
$140,000, although by percentage admin costs went down.  
 
Lori asked if reduced savings in 2009 reflects absence of a megaproject or is the low hanging fruit 
getting sucked up in the industrial sector. Steve said this represents the lumpiness of that sector. He 
said we don’t think all the low-hanging fruit has been picked, particularly in the high-tech field.  
 
Steve asked if there were any concerns members of the advisory council wished him to carry 
forward to the board. Charlie Grist thinks the budget is right on track with previous council 
discussions about refocusing efforts in certain areas. John Reynolds asked if the CFLs in the home 
were regular CFLs. Steve said they are specialty bulbs such as vanity globes or flood bulbs that go in 
recessed cans. Steve said there are dimmable CFL products but they aren’t reliable and don’t have a 







CAC Notes – Mar. 19, 2008     


 3


full dimming range. We hope that over the next several years LED technology will come in; which 
are readily dimmable.  
 
Steve concluded the CAC recommends taking the revised budget to the board with no significant 
concerns. 
 
3. Collaboration between Oregon, Washington and California 
Fred Gordon reported that California has committed to get to zero-net-energy new residences by 
2020 and zero-net-energy commercial buildings by 2030. The decision process to make this 
commitment has been top down, rather than built up in the traditional way. Energy Trust is 
considering whether there are opportunities where Northwest states should coordinate with 
California to radically accelerate efficiency and on-site renewables through multiyear, higher risk, 
higher bang effort. Status of the work is that Oregon and Washington commissioners suggested 
revisions before a summary proposal could be sent to the lead California PUC commissioner for 
efficiency. Fred expects to have a revised draft for John Savage by the end of the week.  
 
We are looking at approaching California with a proposal to coordinate on zero-net-energy 
commercial buildings and on efforts to influence federal appliance standards. We view zero-net-
energy homes to be a big challenge. We would suggest less-formal coordination on new LED 
products could be fairly effective 
 
If we decide to pursue coordination, Fred said it isn’t clear who would do the work. NEEA is 4-state 
entity so taking the lead may not be appropriate for NEEA. It’s not clear what Washington 
regulators and utilities would think about having ET in the lead.  
 
Don Jones said regional coordination is good. The planning process seems a good place to 
coordinate a multi-state effort. John Reynolds asked how plug-in hybrid cars will play into the zero-
net-energy home. Fred thinks they have the potential to increase loads in a house. John thinks 
powering local travel with 100% wind power is an attractive option. Steve Bicker said zero-net-
energy may not make as much sense as focus on Energy Trust’s core business.  
 
Lori Koho defended John Savage’s request in light of the great effort underway in California that 
would represent an opportunity to Oregon and Washington with a relatively small investment. Paul 
Olson suggested Energy Trust could recruit someone in the Department of Energy or OPUC to 
take the lead. Fred said the efforts would require multi-agency coordination. Suzanne Dillard said 
ODOE has spent time in the past on national or regional efforts but is stretched too thin now to 
take such an effort on.  
 
Bruce Dobbs noted that an ASHRAE Committee is well down the road to defining a technical 
approach to zero-net-energy buildings. Germany is ahead of anybody in the US right now. Joe 
Esmonde asked if anything exists in writing to further describe these efforts. Fred said he would 
send him a paper currently circulating among some of the utilities.  
 
Steve said we’ll bring this topic back to the group in a couple of months.  
 
4. Business Energy Solutions project sorting rules  
Spencer Moersfelder presented this subject, which deals with confusion about where retrofits, 
replacements and renovations fit in to Energy Trust programs. He said staff recommends changes be 
implemented July 1. Staff proposes: 
 







CAC Notes – Mar. 19, 2008     


 4


• Existing Buildings will continue to address retrofits 
• New Buildings will continue to address major renovations and new construction 
• Production Efficiency will serve as lead for all existing industrial facilities 
• New Buildings will work as lead for new industrial construction projects 
 -PE will provide incremental process and production equipment support related to process or 
 products, not human comfort 
• Retrofit, replacement and major renovation incentive offers will all be aligned; i.e., lighting 


incentive is 30% of project cost capped at $0.15/kWh, and mechanical incentive is 35% of 
project cost capped at $0.20/kWh and $1/Therm.  


  
Spencer discussed commercial sector project sorting. Existing Buildings will continue to address 
retrofits and replacements. For retrofits, baseline for incentive calculation is existing equipment. For 
replacement at end of useful life, baseline is common practice or code. If equipment needs to be 
rebuilt, then it is considered a replacement.  
 
Nick Parsons thinks that if a chiller needs to be replaced, commonly it would be rebuilt to be no 
more efficient. If the incentive is based on savings above code, it would be too small to move 
owners to install new, efficient equipment. Steve said the incentive should be based on the efficiency 
of the new equipment compared to common practice, which would be rebuilding the chiller.  
 
More discussion ensued attempting to draw distinctions between rebuild, retrofit and replacement. 
 
Spencer introduced two possible commercial project sorting scenarios addressing the two-or-more 
systems rule. Much discussion ensued. It was noted that the structure of the New Buildings program 
rewards every additional increment of savings, while Existing Buildings caps incentives at 30% 
(custom) or 50% (standard) for lighting measures.  
 
Regarding changing rules July 1, Jason Ping asked if we had considered how the change would affect 
trade allies with hundreds of projects that have been bid but not approved. Steve said we all deal 
with that every time a program change is made. Dick Parr noted program changes typically are made 
at the turn of the new year. He pointed out that currently major renovations, included in the New 
Buildings program, have no cap. Imposing a 30% project cap would effectively cut the incentive in 
half.  
 
Jason asked if Spencer had contacted any of the trade allies to ask about the impacts of this change. 
Steve said not outside the CAC but pointed out we took his comments into account after the last 
meeting. We will consider the comments received today, including Jason’s concerns about needing 
more time to sign up projects for which he has submitted bids under the existing rules.  
 
Steve asked members of the Council whether they would support another round of discussion on 
this topic. Don Jones suggested working with trade allies to provide real-world examples of how 
representative projects would be affected under the different scenarios. Joe Esmonde supports the 
staff’s recommendation, other CAC members support bringing the topic back. Steve said he would 
do this, and consult trade allies in the interim.  
 
5. Biofuel efficiency projects 
Steve Lacey said this is the fourth discussion of the topic, which considers whether Energy Trust 
efficiency programs should fund projects that use renewable biofuels to supplant thermal load 
supplied by natural gas or electricity.  







CAC Notes – Mar. 19, 2008     


 5


 
Steve listed what we heard in prior discussions: 
• Limit incentive offers to commercial and industrial sectors 
• Concern about promoting use of renewable fuel sources diverted from fuel crops 
• Concern that the multitude of provisions would deter participation 
• Concern about using limited efficiency dollars for fuel conversion projects that aren’t necessarily 


energy efficient 
• Concern that a limited incentive offering based on incremental equipment upgrade would be 


relatively small compared to project cost 
• Suggestion to offer this as a pilot with limited number of projects to define a future standard 


offer and project eligibility rules 
 
He reported an analysis run on two scenarios, one involving retrofit of an existing gas boiler; and 
the next replacing a new or end-of-life existing gas boiler with a biomass boiler. The outcome 
showed relatively little incentive difference but when accounting for total project cost in the retrofit 
case versus an incremental scenario of new construction, the societal benefit/cost ratio varied 
significantly. The utility benefit/cost ratio remained quite high.  
 
He then reported staff conclusions: 
• Consistent with solar thermal, thermal biofuel projects are high conservation value worthy of 


support 
• Biopower CHP should be explored before thermal-only consideration 
• Project sites should be required to contribute to public purpose funding after project is 


complete 
• Limit projects to commercial and industrial applications 
• Participant must agree to initiate site-wide efficiency program as condition to undertaking 


biofuel project 
• Allow only renewable waste fuel source projects 
• Offer standard program incentives based on deferred energy load 
• ET should have assurance that the incentive investment is realized for projects with fossil fuel 


backup 
• Requires all emission regulatory permits per Biopower program requirements 
• Operate this on a pilot basis by reactively accepting up to 10 projects over two years; then 


perform an evaluation to measure efficacy and report back to CAC results before expanding the 
effort.  


 
Steve Bicker asked if back-up gas meters would be required. Matt thinks it prudent to put a gas 
burner in the boiler in case biomass supply were interrupted. He reviewed the process for project 
consideration.  
 
CAC supported the pilot, with the considerations listed, with the exception of Lori, who abstained.  
 
Meeting adjourned at 4:10 pm.  
 
 








 1


 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on January 23, 2008 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Robert Grott, Northwest Environmental 
Business Council 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Frank Vingola, UOSRML 
Jeff King, NWPCC 
Jon Miller, OSEIA 
Suzanne Leta Liou, RNP 
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Lizzie Giles 
Peter West 
Kacia Brockman 
Pete Catching 
Betsy Kauffman 
Adam Serchuk 
Brian Thornton 
Pati Presnail 
John Volkman 
 


Attending from the Board: 
John Reynolds, University of Oregon 
Alan Meyer, Weyerhaeuser 
 
Others attending: 
Dave Tooze, City of Portland 
Steve Johnson, Central Oregon Irrigation 
District 
Rob Delmar, ODOE 
Bruce Barney, PGE 
Joe Esmonde, IBEW #48


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Peter convened the meeting at 9:40 am. The November notes were adopted without change. 
Peter introduced new RAC members Suzanne Leta Liou from RNP and Robert Grott from the 
Northwest Environmental Business Council.  Troy Gagliano will likely return to the RAC 
representing EnXco, his new employer.  


Jon Miller announced he will be leaving his position as executive director of OSEIA at the end of 
the month for a new position at EnXco.  


Thor Hinckley announced that PGE is looking at solar as a business opportunity and considering 
how best to promote solar more than they historically have. They are at the beginning of this 
process, but the RAC can expect to hear more as plans develop. 


2. Open Solicitation Project: Central Irrigation District 


Betsy presented the Central Oregon Irrigation District (COID) project proposal to build and 
operate a 3.27 MW hydro project in Bend, Oregon. The project is expected to be on line in 
2010. A project summary is available on the Energy Trust web site for RAC meetings.   


Central Oregon Irrigation District’s Pilot Butte Canal is an open canal runs for 22 miles from 
Bend north to the Terrebonne area. As part of this project, COID is piping approximately 2.25 
miles of the canal. COID is proposing to install a 3.27 megawatt (MW) hydroelectric project at 
the terminus of the pipe seven miles north of Bend.  







RAC notes – 1/23/2008 


 2


 
The project, scheduled for completion in April of 2010, is expected to generate 13,435 
megawatt hours (MWh) of electricity per year, which will be sold to Pacific Power under a 
standard QF contract. 
 
The project site is owned by the Oregon Parks Department, but the department has agreed to 
sell the site to COID. The project will run for 180 days during the irrigation season from mid-
April to mid-October. 
 
The total project cost is $22,305,593. Because the piping portion of the project carries 
watershed benefits beyond the ability to generate hydropower, COID has $7 million in grants 
either pending or secured in support of the project from sources including the city of Bend and 
the Oregon Watershed Enhancement Board.  
 
Energy Trust’s incentive of $1,000,000 will cover 73.8% of the above-market costs of the 
project. The incentive will be paid upon project commissioning. Energy Trust will take title to 
the first 75% of the tags for the project over 20 years. 
 
Alan Meyer asked what the incremental cost was of adding the generation facility to the system. 
Steve replied that is was approximately $8 million of the $22 million cost. However, without the 
pipe, there would be no hydro. Betsy added that some of the best opportunities for hydro 
power are at existing diversions for irrigation projects. It is also another example of a way to do 
hydro in a fish-friendly fashion that carries a great deal of community benefit.  
 
John asked when the project will operate, and if the flow is constant during the irrigation season. 
Steve that operation is April to October, the standard irrigation season. There is some ebb and 
flow with the river, but basically it is constant throughout the day.  Frank asked if the green tags 
were being sold to the benefit of the project. Steve said that they are, to minimal gain, and are 
incorporated into the financials.  
 
 
Steve said that there will be future opportunities for expanding upstream, where more head 
could be captured, and downstream, as additional piping is added. This location was chosen 
because of elevation and the distance of pipe needed to capture the drop. Rob asked what the 
flow was, and Steve replied 325 cfs over 107 feet of drop. Jeff asked if the draw was constant 
through the irrigation season, and Steve replied that it was.  
 
Suzanne asked what other, similar hydro opportunities are on the horizon for Energy Trust. 
Betsy replied that there is a possibility with the Talent Irrigation District, as well as expansion at 
COID. Municipal hydro, within water systems, is also an opportunity for the future. The State of 
Oregon also received an application from Southern Oregon for an irrigation project.  
 
Thor asked if there is a way to monetize the water savings to the benefit of the project. Steve 
said that there is, and that is part of the $7,000,000 in grants.  
 
Frank asked why the project needed to receive funding from Energy Trust. If 25% of the Energy 
Trust incentive was equivalent to 25% of the green tags, then they could use 100% of the tags to 
fund 100% of the costs. Peter responded that Energy Trust’s funding is more than the real 
market value of the tags and provides value to the project as capital up front.  
 







RAC notes – 1/23/2008 


 3


Dave asked Steve if there are any issues with adjacent landowners. Steve said that the City of 
Bend owns the land, and there is no existing development. They are not anticipating any conflict, 
and they have authority with their right of way.  
 
All RAC members said they were in favor of funding the project. The next steps will be to go to 
the board with the recommendation on February 13th.  


3. Green Tag Referent Prices 


Peter summarized research that attempted to define and forecast a set of prices for renewable 
energy credits (green tags).  The final report done by Think Energy is available on the Energy 
Trust web site for RAC meetings. The purpose of this analysis was to define prices for 
Renewable Energy Credits (REC) by technologies Energy Trust would fund. Energy Trust 
wanted to know this for compliance markets, as opposed to voluntary markets, over the near 
and long terms. 


 
The motivation for this analysis was to provide market-based referent prices for a measure of 
market clarity. The programs need to understand more to be able to flex quickly in a rapidly 
changing set of possibilities. Staff wanted to determine if a systematic approach to updating these 
prices could be developed, reducing some of the contentiousness around this issue. And, 
ultimately, staff could incorporate this knowledge as part of the revised green-tag policy. 
 
Staff needs to be able to compare Energy Trust’s offers to firm market prices to ensure 
competitiveness and provide clarity to reduce contention with project owners. This will also 
allow Energy Trust to adjust a project offer or share of owned tags to meet market prices and 
provide an upside. 
 
The result of the survey was regionally and nationally inconclusive. They had a generally poor 
response rate due to confidentiality concerns and the fact that we were asking an impossible 
question. Currently, this is a short-term market with no long term. Additionally, there is limited 
regional and national experience in compliance markets. 
 
Despite being unable to answer the question about the long-term value of tags, Think did 
acquire a limited set of prices from the few respondents, which secondary information confirms 
these set of prices, including a national expert, leading broker (confidential), and PGE. 
 
The impact of an RPS on REC prices is unknown. The regional market lacks experience and 
settled rules and national comparison is limited, at best, and more likely meaningless because the 
rules for RPS in other states highly varied. In response, banks discount the price of green tags 
three years out because the rules are so volatile. The experiences are shallow, in-state delivery 
requirements push up prices, and it is an untested end-game.  
 
The study’s conclusions provided a range of credible near term prices, from $2.50 to 5.00/MWh 
for <20 MW projects. However, they found that you can’t forecast long term prices because the 
markets are new and volatile, particularly in the Northwest. 
 
The upward price pressure will be modest, and near-term compliance in Oregon and 
Washington is easy. PGE is over 4% to its 5% requirement by 2015. PaicficCorp is at 3.8%. The 
demand for RECs without power delivery is limited (to 20%), and the geographic scope is large 
(WEC). The ability to bank RECs makes it easier and smoother for meeting the 2015 goal. 
 







RAC notes – 1/23/2008 


 4


California is a wild card for the Pacific Northwest, and it all depends on allowing RECs 
independent of generation. Currently, you must deliver power and, within the year, deliver an 
associated REC. The future may see allowances for delivering RECs without power.  
 
For staff, this all means increases somewhat greater than inflation rate. Prices will not solidify 
until the market becomes more experienced so projects know what to expect, with the 
California rule in particular being settled.  
 
The next steps will be to work with the utilities to regularly update prices, and try not to 
overreact to California and do more research on their current offers. There is $20 to 
$25/MWh premium for power delivered with REC, but what is the net after transmission, 
scheduling and losses? 
 
We will need to start with a new Energy Trust discount rate (5.2%) as an increase. A $5 REC in 
2008 would be worth $11.83 in 2025, and quoted prices for 2010 have annual increases of 4.7% 
– 7.7%. The market appears to have a speculative component and the reality of actual demand 
by utilities not well known. We will need to use bi-lateral negotiation to help inform and adjust. 
 
Energy Trust must engage other venders for price quotes. As a last resort, Energy Trust would 
use the buy/sell market if utilities are precluded by confidentiality issues. 
 
Alan said that this market is completely arbitrary, subject to legislation, and it would be 
impossible to look long term. Using the price per tag on a project provides a frame of reference 
that is useful. It is difficult to apply the  
 
Frank said that the premise that Energy Trust should be determining what is pays on the REC 
value should be questioned. As the REC market emerges, Energy Trust shouldn’t put itself in the 
place of competing for the projects, it should be seeking for projects that need the upfront 
funding or the power outstrips the value of the tags.  
 
Peter replied that it is the nature of the dual objectives of the renewables programs (making 
renewable projects happen and acquiring RECs for the benefit of the ratepayer) to muddle this 
issue.  
 
Jon said that he believes that Energy Trust should compare its contributions to the market rate 
as a reality check.  
 
Suzanne said that banking in the RPS means that, unless there is significant change in California, 
there will be no real activity until 2015.  
 
Robert said that there is no need to compete in the market on price alone. It is the value of 
Energy Trust’s package (money up front, brokering services, etc.) that should be compared. The 
value of the tag for a small project that demands the kinds of services the Trust provides will be 
much less than the market standard. 
 
Thor said that PGE has had a lot of opportunity to watch the tag activity in the last six years 
they have been in the market. This report seems very solid. There is increased volatility, but it 
appears to be in an upward trend, and the discount rate seems to take that into consideration. 
Over the next seven years, northwestern RPS will play a significant role in driving the price.  
 
Frank said that Energy Trust has limited itself to above-market cost, but if it opened the door to 
at-market projects, there would be a lot more opportunity. Energy Trust needs to keep thinking 







RAC notes – 1/23/2008 


 5


about the real end goal. Peter replied that the dual goals are contradictory, and they always have 
been. 
 
Alan said that carbon credits will also be another topic to discuss. With Oregon legislation 
possible that is much more restrictive than the green energy policy, then projects will have to 
evaluate and decide whether to sell the carbon credits or green tags. 
 
Suzanne agreed with Alan, and said that the volatility of solar RECs should also be explored. 
Peter said that Think Energy didn’t specifically focus on solar. If you are in a compliance market 
that does not have a carve-out for solar, this isn’t as much of an issue. 
 
Jeff said that he believes Energy Trust is in the right place for the short to mid-term. In the long 
term, particularly if we get serious about climate change, this will change.  


4. Opal Creek Hydro-Solar Project 


Bruce Barney of PGE reviewed the recent work he led to develop a renewable energy system 
for the Opal Creek educational and retreat center that provides all electrical needs. 
 
Opal Creek is an off-grid site that was an old mining community. It has a non-profit educational 
center featuring the old growth forest.  The site was powered by a 20kW water turbine and a 
propane fired generator that kicked in low-flow times in the summer. The site has propane for 
water heating, which was not addressed by their project.  
 
The project was conceived jointly with Opal Creek and several other entities around the 
redevelopment of an old commissary. PGE said that they could contribute funds from the Clean 
Wind Development Fund to get a smaller hydro system (900 watts) that would take advantage 
of lower stream flows and a 4 kW PV system up and running. 
 
The goal was to have no fossil fuel use for electricity year round, and have extra power in the 
summer to power electric vehicles. So far, they have achieved the first goal and are nearly to the 
point of attaining the second.  
 


5. Public Comment 


Suzanne asked what PGE’s ability is to fund projects like this, and if Pacific Power has something 
similar. Thor said that they do have appetite for projects from this fund.  


Peter adjourned the meeting at 11:35am.  


 





